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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized
companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for
the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Merdeka Financial Group Limited (the
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

FTRE|SE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Merdeka Financial Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2022. During the year, the Group is principally engaged
in (i) financial services business including securities brokerage services,
provision of corporate finance advisory services, asset management
business and money lending services; (i) corporate consulting business
including company secretarial services, accounting and financial
reporting services and management consulting services; and (iii) digital
platform business including Blockchain-as-a-Service that provides tailor
made services and advice to businesses allowing them to use
cloud-based solutions to manage and develop their applications and
smart contracts without needing to develop and maintain their own
blockchain environments.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Loss for the vyear attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$27.8 million (2021: approximately HK$31.1 million).
Basic and diluted loss per share for continuing operations was
approximately HK$0.057 (2021: approximately HK$0.084). The net loss
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$27.8 million (2021: approximately HK$30.8 million).
The decrease in net loss was mainly attributable to the net off effect
of (i) the absence of loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries of
approximately HK$4.1 million; and (ii) the increase in imputed interest
on convertible bonds of HK$1.6 million.

Financial services business

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the financial services
business recorded a turnover and segment profit of approximately
HK$11.9 million and HK$2.3 million respectively (2021: turnover and
segment profit of approximately HK$15.4 million and HK$8.5 million
respectively).

The corporate financial advisory services and assets management
services generated revenue of approximately HK$5.2 million and
HK$5.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 respectively
(2021: HK$8.1 million and HK$4.9 million respectively), represented
approximately 28.6% and 29.7% of the total revenue of the Group
respectively. Both businesses of corporate financial advisory services
and assets management services continuously enhanced the income
stream of the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement
FRH|RSE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had loans receivable with gross
principal amount of approximately HK$4.7 million (2021: HK$5.4
million). The Group recorded interest income from loans receivable of
approximately HK$0.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: HK$1.4 million). The Group has adopted a credit policy to
manage its money lending business which includes compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations, credit assessment on potential
borrower and his/its assets, the credibility of the potential borrower,
the necessity in obtaining collaterals and determination of suitable
interest rate to reflect the risk level of the provision of loan.

Corporate consulting business

The corporate consulting business recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$4.7 million (2021: approximately HK$5.8 million)
and a segment profit of approximately HK$1.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$0.2 million) during the year ended 31 December
2022. Corporate governance is vital importance to the public
companies for meeting international standard and market expectations
nowadays. The Group expects the demand for governance related
services will have remarkable increase in the coming future.

Digital platform business

Upon the completion of the acquisition of NOIZChain Limited
(“NOIZ") on 4 July 2022, the Group has diversified its business into
digital platform including Blockchain-as-a-Service that provides tailor
made services and advice to businesses allowing them to use
cloud-based solutions to manage and develop their applications and
smart contracts without needing to develop and maintain their own
blockchain environments. The revenue and the segment loss for the
year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately HK$1.6 million and
HK$2.5 million respectively.

PROSPECTS

Beside the Group’s financial services business and corporate
consulting business, the Company has been seeking suitable
investment and business opportunities in light of the market
conditions to create value for the Company and its shareholders in a
long term and sustainable manner. In light of the growth and
potential of the Web 3.0 market in recent years, the Company has
dipped into the digital platform business.
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Chairman’s Statement
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NOIZ is in collaboration with, amongst others, Mapxus to co-create
the world’s first indoor location-based move-to-earn metaverse on
NOIZ's environment friendly blockchain that converges art, culture and
community, namely Honio (the “Honio Metaverse"”). Honio Metaverse
is being developed as a mobile app and app users will be rewarded
with free tokens and art element drops according to the time they
spend in physical stores, and these tokens can be used not only for
non-fungible token trading in the Honio Metaverse but also for
redeeming real-life commodities and experiences. Powered by NOIZ's
blockchain technology, the Honio Metaverse will be able to record all
customer transactions. As a result, Honio Metaverse is expected to
boost foot traffic in shopping malls by increasing user retention time
in physical stores while enhancing marketing analytics to enable more
comprehensive data reports. It is anticipated that Honio Metaverse
will first focus mainly on the Japanese market with a target to cover
around 2,000 landmarks by 2023 and 5,000 buildings by 2024, and
is expected to dip into other Asia Pacific markets in future.

The Group also stepped into entertainment industry in the first
quarter of 2023 through its wholly-owned subsidiary, NOIZ
Entertainment Limited, to capture the potential rebound of the
entertainment market as the COVID-19 pandemic reaches its end.
NOIZ Entertainment Limited has invested in its first project — “Punch
Live 2023", a concert which was successfully held in March 2023 in
AsiaWorld-Expo, Hong Kong. It is anticipated that NOIZ Entertainment
Limited will participate in various entertainment events in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area.

With the Group’s engagement in both digital platform and
entertainment business segments, the Company will leverage the
blockchain technology expertise and experience possessed by NOIZ,
aims to digitalise the Group’s entertainment segment by creating
diversified and innovative ways for audiences to experience the power
of virtual entertainment and to enjoy immersive experiences. At the
same time, the Company will also utilise the transparency,
authenticity and secured nature of the blockchain technology to
enhance the interests of both creators and content owners.
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Chairman’s Statement
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APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude
to our management team and all staff for their hard work in the
execution of the Group's strategies and operations during the past
year. Last but not the least, | wish to thank all our valued
shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners, bankers for their
continuous support and encouragement to the Group.

Wong Hin Shek
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
22 March 2023

&

Ri& AANERREZCGAEERABNRERETH
BE-FRPTAEERBLEBEETENTE
THREBUAME - &&  AATZHRARFMZEN
2RER TP HER EBBHEIRTR—E
MRHEAEEN RSB RENE

FTIERITHARE
EHE

B
2023435228

ANNUAL REPORT 3§ » 2022



Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group is principally
engaged in (i) financial services business including securities brokerage
services, provision of corporate finance advisory services, asset
management business and money lending services; (ii) corporate
consulting business including company secretarial services, accounting
and financial reporting services and management consulting services;
and (iii) digital platform business including Blockchain-as-a-Service that
provides tailor made services and advice to businesses allowing them
to use cloud-based solutions to manage and develop their
applications and smart contracts without needing to develop and
maintain their own blockchain environments. Since the performance
of the trading business was unsatisfactory for the past years, on 23
September 2022, the Group disposed of the trading business to an
independent third party. Upon the disposal, the Group ceased to have
any interest in the trading business. The disposal allowed the Group
to reallocate more resources on the remaining businesses.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group continuing
operations recorded revenue of approximately HK$18.2 million (2021:
approximately HK$21.2 million). Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately HK$27.8 million (2021:
approximately HK$31.1 million). Basic and diluted loss per share for
continuing operations was approximately HK$0.057 (2021:
approximately HK$0.084). The decrease in net loss was mainly
attributable to the net off effect of (i) the absence of loss on
deconsolidation of subsidiaries of approximately HK$4.1 million; and
(i) the increase in imputed interest on convertible bonds of HK$1.6
million.

Financial services business

The revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 of the financial
services business was approximately HK$11.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$15.4 million) and a segment profit of approximately
HK$2.3 million (2021: approximately HK$8.5 million). The decrease in
segment profit was mainly due to reduction in the involvement in
share placement activities caused by adverse market condition in
2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the corporate financial
advisory services and assets management services generated revenue
of approximately HK$5.2 million and HK$5.4 million respectively
(2021: HK$8.1 million and HK$4.9 million respectively), represented
approximately 28.6% and 29.7% of the total revenue of the Group
respectively. Both businesses of corporate financial advisory services
and assets management services continuously enhanced the income
stream of the Group.
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In the course of preparing the financial statements for the vyear
ended 31 December 2022, the Company had engaged an
independent qualified valuer to determine the recoverable amount of
the trading right of the business carrying on the regulated activities of
Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type
9 (asset management) as defined under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The recoverable
amount of the trading right has been determined by the higher of fair
value less cost of disposal, which is primarily making reference to the
recent sales of similar transactions in the market, and value-in-use
which is calculated using cash flow projections based on the latest
financial budgets approved by the management. During the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no impairment loss on the
trading right was recognised.

The Group’s money lending business was conducted through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Merdeka Credit Limited, to grant loans to
individuals and enterprises. The Group strived to adhere to a set of
comprehensive policy and procedural manual in respect of loan
approval, loan renewal, loan recovery, loan compliance, monitoring
and anti-money laundering.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had loans receivable with gross
principal amount of approximately HK$4.7 million (2021: HK$5.4
million). The Group recorded interest income from loans receivable of
approximately HK$0.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: HK$1.4 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group granted
2 loans to individuals, all of them are independent third parties. As at
31 December 2022, 4 loans were outstanding, with terms ranging
from 12 months to 29 months, interest rate ranging from 8% to
12% per annum. The loans receivable are with no collaterals. As at
31 December 2022, the aggregated principal amount outstanding
from the three largest borrowers of the Group amounted to HK$4.7
million (representing 100% to the total loans receivable of the Group)
while the principal amount outstanding from the largest borrower
amounted to HK$2.0 million (representing approximately 42.6% to
the total loans receivable of the Group).

As at 31 December 2022, the management had engaged an
independent qualified valuer to determine the expected credit losses
of the Group’s loans receivable (the “loans receivable ECL"). In
assessing the loans receivable ECL of the Group, a credit rating
analysis of the underlying debtors was adopted by reviewing the
historical accounting information to estimate the default risk. The
Group applied different expected loss rates to different classes of
receivables according to their respective risk characteristics. In
determining the default risk, factors including but not limited to, the
ageing analysis of the receivables, the Group's internal assessment of
the debtors’ credit worthiness, historical and forecast occurrence of
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event of default, existence and valuation of the collaterals, the
relevant regulatory framework and government policies in Hong Kong
and global economic outlook in general and the specific economic
condition of Hong Kong would be considered. The rate of loans
receivable ECL ranged from 13.81% to 55.13% depending on the
nature, probability of default and loss given default of the loans
receivable.

The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage its money lending
business which includes compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations, credit assessment on potential borrower and his/its assets,
the credibility of the potential borrower, the necessity in obtaining
collaterals and determination of suitable interest rate to reflect the
risk level of the provision of loan.

The Group has performed background and credit risk assessment on
the potential borrowers before granting the loans by (a) global
searching on their identity and background; (b) reviewing and
assessing their financial information; and (c) performing an assessment
on their creditability.

The Group also assesses and decides the necessity and the value of
security/collateral for granting of each loan, whether to an individual
or enterprise, on a case by case basis considering factors, including
but not limited to, the repayment history, results of public search
towards the borrower, the value and location of the assets owned by
the borrower and the financial condition of the borrower.

In order to monitor the risks associated with loans receivable,
subsequent repayment record of each loan receivable will be closely
monitored and periodic reviews on loan portfolio will be conducted by
the Group. In the event of failure to repay interest or principal
amount by the due date, the Group will issue overdue payment
reminders to the relevant borrower, instruct its legal advisers to issue
demand letters for loans overdue for a longer period of time,
negotiate with the borrower for the repayment or settlement of the
loan and/or commences legal actions against the borrower.

Corporate consulting business

The performance of corporate consulting business remained stable
that it recorded a revenue of approximately HK$4.7 million (2021:
approximately HK$5.8 million) and recorded a segment profit of
approximately HK$1.9 million (2021: approximately HK$0.2 million)
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Digital platform business
Upon the completion of the acquisition of NOIZ on 4 July 2022, the

Group has diversified its business into digital platform. NOIZ is a
Blockchain-as-a-Service Company that provides tailor made services
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and advice to businesses allowing them to use cloud-based solutions
to manage and develop their applications and smart contracts without
needing to develop and maintain their own blockchain environments.
NOIZ aims to make blockchain technology widely available for every
business and to drive blockchain into mass adoption and
commercialisation. NOIZ is also committed to empower enterprises to
embrace Web 3.0 environmentally.

The revenue and the segment loss for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately HK$1.6 million and HK$2.5 million
respectively.

In the course of preparing the financial statements, the Company had
engaged an independent qualified valuer to determine the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit of the digital platform business
(the "Digital Platform Business CGU"). In assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit of the digital platform business as
at 31 December 2022, value-in-use calculation has been adopted that
the estimated future cash flows were discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflected current market
assessment of time value of money and the risk specific to the digital
platform business. The calculation used in cash flow projections was
based on latest financial budgets covering a period of 5 years with
compound average annual growth rate of revenue of approximately
38.6%, which was determined with reference to historical revenue in
the current year and the 5-year forecasted revenue taking into
account of the expected number of sale contracts, and at a pre-tax
discount rate of 20.82% which was determined with reference to
weighted average cost of capital reflecting the specific risk of the
digital platform business. The cash flow projections beyond the 5-year
period are extrapolated using a perpetual growth rate of 3%. The
management of digital platform business reviewed the assumptions
taking into account of (i) the general economic environment; (i)
industry dynamics; (iii) past performance; and (iv) on-going business
development of the digital platform business in preparing the cash
flow projections. As the recoverable amount of the Digital Platform
Business CGU is higher than its carrying amount, no impairment loss
was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 December 2022, the Group managed a listed security
investment with fair value of approximately HK$0.3 million (2021:
approximately HK$0.3 million). In view of the fluctuations in the
global and local financial markets, the Board is always cautious of the
prospects of the trading performance of the Group’s portfolio of
listed securities investments.
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Details of the listed security investment as at 31 December 2022 and EWEHFRER2022F M2021F12A31B LEHE
2021 and (losses)/gains for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 20224 K20214F12 A31H It FE M (F18), Uk 25

2021 are as below: RIFFIBIAT -
Losses for the year ended 31 December 2022 BE2022F12A31MB L FEZEE
Realised Unrealised Dividend
Name of listed securities Stock code losses losses received
FHESFAHE & 19 1 55% BEREE RERER BUAR B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
Evergrande Property Services Group Limited 6666 — (298) —
BAMEEEER QA
Differ Group Auto Limited 6878 (130) — —
REREEARAR
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at R2022F12A31HZRATFEEFABRZN S
31 December 2022 BE
Approximate
Percentage to
total assets
Name of listed Stock Brief description of Number of Proportion of Investment Market value of the
securities code the business shares held  shares held cost value Group
BAREE
EEHE
EmESEEE BRip s EBE FrEsiR 8B FTHEAR (D tL Bl REMR mE BHBas
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Evergrande Property 6666 Integrated commercial 113,000 0.001% 995 — —
Services Group properties service
Limited business
EAMESEER REmENEREER
NS
ICO Group Limited 1460 Integrated IT service 1,600,000 0.18% 312 312 0.4%
business
BREBERRQA e AN RBEER
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Gains/(losses) for the year ended 31 December 2021 BZ2021F12A318 L EEz2 Wi (EiE)
Realised Unrealised Dividend
Name of listed securities Stock code gains losses received
B AE [ 1 1 5% BRI s RERERE BUAR S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Evergrande Property Services Group Limited 6666 — (712) —
BAYMEEEBRAR
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at R2021F12A31MB 2R A FEETFTABEN SR
31 December 2021 BE
Approximate
Percentage to
total assets
Name of listed Stock Brief description of Number of Proportion of Investment Market value of the
securities code the business shares held  shares held cost value Group
HAREE
BERE
FhESRE BRORE EHER PrFsiRD 8B P AR LL I REKAR miE BB
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Evergrande Property 6666 Integrated commercial 113,000 0.001% 995 298 0.3%
Services Group properties service
Limited business
BEAMELREER REmEMEREER
NS
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OUTLOOK

The Group has been seeking suitable investment and business
opportunities in light of the market conditions to create value for its
shareholders in a long term and sustainable manner. In light of the
growth and potential of the Web 3.0 market in recent years, the
Company has completed the acquisition of NOIZ in the second half of
2022.

Digital platform business

NOIZ is in collaboration with, amongst others, Mapxus to co-create
the world’s first indoor location-based move-to-earn metaverse on
NOIZ’s environment friendly blockchain that converges art, culture and
community, the Honio Metaverse.

Mapxus is a comprehensive indoor Geographic Information System
(GIS) platform that provides global indoor mapping and navigation
services, aiming to make indoor mapping smart and simple, and to
create a barrier-free and inclusive city experience for everyone.
Mapxus innovative indoor map data infrastructure is designed to
empower people and businesses, improving daily experiences and
work efficiency. Mapxus has partnered with, amongst others, NOIZ to
build spatial digital twins of real-life shopping malls and landmarks in
the Honio Metaverse, using indoor maps and positioning technology.
Honio Metaverse is being developed as a mobile app that will enable
easy access for everyone. Honio Metaverse app users will be rewarded
with free tokens and art element drops according to the time they
spend in physical stores, and these tokens can be used not only for
non-fungible token trading in the Honio Metaverse but also for
redeeming real-life commodities and experiences. Powered by NOIZ's
blockchain technology, the Honio Metaverse will be able to record all
customer transactions. As a result, Honio Metaverse is expected to
boost foot traffic in shopping malls by increasing user retention time
in physical stores while enhancing marketing analytics to enable more
comprehensive data reports. It is anticipated that Honio Metaverse
will first focus mainly on the Japanese market with a target to cover
around 2,000 landmarks by 2023 and 5,000 buildings by 2024, and
is expected to dip into other Asia Pacific markets in future.
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Entertainment business

Apart from the digital platform business, the Company has stepped
into the entertainment industry in the 1st quarter of 2023 through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, NOIZ Entertainment Limited, aiming to
capture the potential rebound of the entertainment market as the
COVID-19 pandemic reaches its end. NOIZ Entertainment Limited has
invested in its first project — “Punch Live 2023", a concert which was
successfully held in March 2023 in AsiaWorld-Expo, Hong Kong. It is
anticipated that NOIZ Entertainment Limited will continue participating
in various entertainment events in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area.

The Company, using the blockchain technology expertise and
experience possessed by NOIZ, aims to digitalise the Group's
entertainment segment by creating diversified and innovative ways for
audiences to experience the power of virtual entertainment and to
enjoy immersive experiences. At the same time, the Company will also
utilise the transparency, authenticity and secured nature of the
blockchain technology to enhance the interests of both creators and
content owners.

Financial services business

The Group will continue to expand the clients base and establish a
strong track record in order to strengthen the businesses of corporate
financial advisory services, asset management services and money
lending services in the coming future.

Corporate consulting business

Given the worldwide awareness of corporate governance, the Group
anticipates the demand from Hong Kong listed issuers requesting for
professional services in relation to corporate governance matters and
compliance with the appropriate local rules governing the listed
companies in Hong Kong and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements will persist.

IR

BEIEFEAERKIN RARE2023FEFEBEE
Ff B A BINOIZ Entertainment Limited s @ 1R 4% 3
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS
2008 Convertible Bonds

On 10 January 2020, the Company and the holders of the 2008 CBs
(the “CB Holders”) of the convertible bonds as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of forest concessions in Papua,
Indonesia issued by the Company on 12 August 2008 (“2008 CBs")
entered into the fourth supplemental deed, pursuant to which the
Company and the CB Holders conditionally agreed to amend certain
terms of the 2008 CBs such that (a) the maturity date of the 2008
CBs be extended for a further term of three years from 13 August
2020 to 12 August 2023; and (b) the conversion price of the 2008
CBs be revised from HK$0.95 per conversion share to HK$0.110 per
conversion share with effect from 13 August 2020 (subject to
adjustments). Save for the above amendments, all other terms of the
2008 CBs shall remain unchanged and valid. The amendments on
2008 CBs took effect on 18 May 2020.

On 29 June 2020, the Company made a partial redemption in the
principal amount of HK$55,000,000 on part of the 2008 CBs.

On 17 June 2021, upon the effective of the share consolidation (the
"Share Consolidation”) on the basis that every ten issued and
unissued shares (the “Shares”) of par value of HK$0.01 each in the
share capital of the Company be consolidated into one consolidated
share of par value of HK$0.10 each, the conversion price of 2008
CBs adjusted to HK$1.10 per conversion share.

On 22 July 2021, the Company completed a rights issue (the “2021
Rights Issue”) and allotted and issued 346,310,897 Shares, on the
basis of five (5) rights share for every two (2) Shares held on 28 June
2021 at the subscription price of HK$0.15 per rights share. Upon the
completion of the 2021 Rights Issue, the conversion price of 2008
CBs was adjusted to HK$0.90 per conversion share.

On 28 December 2022, upon the completion of the subscription and
issue of 2022 CBs (as defined below), the principal amount of
HK$55,000,000 of 2008 CBs was offset and settled with the
subscription price of 2022 CBs (as defined below).

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had 2008 CBs with principal
amount of HK$14.1 million conferring rights to convert into a total of
15,631,111 Shares with the conversion price of HK$0.90 per
conversion share.
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Team Sunny Convertible Bonds

On 10 January 2020, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement (as supplemented by the supplemental agreement dated
20 March 2020) with Team Sunny International Holdings Limited
("Team Sunny”), pursuant to which Team Sunny conditionally agreed
to subscribe and the Company conditionally agreed to issue the
convertible bonds (the “Team Sunny CB”) in the principal amount of
HK$39,805,651 (which are convertible into conversion shares at the
conversion price of HK$0.110 per conversion share (subject to
adjustments)) for the settlement of the outstanding debt due from the
Company to Mr. Wong Hin Shek of HK$39,805,651. The subscription
amount payable by Team Sunny under the subscription agreement
shall be satisfied by way of offsetting (i) the principal amount of
HK$8,000,000 under the 2019 PN and payable by the Company to
Mr. Wong, an executive Director, the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company (which will be assigned to Team
Sunny by Mr. Wong at the completion of the subscription to facilitate
the set-off); and (ii) the outstanding principal amount and part of the
accrued interest in an aggregate amount of HK$31,805,651 under
Mr. Wong's facilities payable by the Company to Mr. Wong (which
will be assigned to Team Sunny by Mr. Wong at the completion of
the subscription to facilitate the set-off).

On 21 May 2020, the subscription took place and the Team Sunny
CB in the principal amount of HK$39,805,651 were issued to Team
Sunny.

On 17 June 2021, upon the effective of the share consolidation on
the basis that every ten issued and unissued Shares of par value of
HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company be consolidated
into one consolidated share of par value of HK$0.1 each, the
conversion price of Team Sunny CB adjusted to HK$1.10 per
conversion share.

On 22 July 2021, the Company completed the 2021 Rights Issue and
allotted and issued 346,310,897 Shares, on the basis of five (5) rights
shares for every two (2) Shares held on 28 June 2021 at the
subscription price of HK$0.15 per rights share. Upon the completion
of the 2021 Rights Issue, the conversion price of Team Sunny CB was
adjusted to HK$0.903 per conversion share.

On 6 July 2022, 15 November 2022, 29 November 2022 and
13 December 2022, the Company made a partial redemption in the
aggregated principal amount of HK$3,805,651 on part of the Team
Sunny CB. On 28 December 2022, upon the completion of the
subscription and issue of 2022 CB (as defined below), all the principal
amount of Team Sunny CB was offset and settled with the
subscription price of 2022 CBs (as defined below).
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2022 Convertible Bonds

On 14 November 2022, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Team Sunny, pursuant to which Team Sunny
conditionally agreed to subscribe and the Company conditionally
agreed to issue the convertible bonds (the “2022 CBs”) in the
principal amount of HK$91,000,000 for the settlement of the
outstanding debts due from the Company to Team Sunny in
aggregate of HK$91,000,000. The subscription amount payable by
Team Sunny under the subscription agreement shall be satisfied by
way of offsetting (i) the principal amount of HK$55,000,000 under
the 2008 CBs and payable by the Company to Team Sunny; and (ii)
the outstanding principal amount of HK$36,000,000 under Team
Sunny CB and payable by the Company to Team Sunny.

The conversion price per conversion share for HK$55,000,000 of the
principal amount of the 2022 CBs for the period from the date of
issue of the 2022 CBs up to and including 12 August 2023 shall be
HK$0.90 per conversion share and for the period from 13 August
2023 up to and including the maturity date shall be HK$0.186 per
conversion share; and the conversion price per conversion share for
HK$36,000,000 of the principal amount of the 2022 CBs for the
period from the date of issue of the 2022 CBs up to and including
21 May 2023 shall be HK$0.903 per conversion share and for the
period from 22 May 2023 up to and including the maturity date shall
be HK$0.186 per conversion share.

On 28 December 2022, the subscription took place and the 2022
CBs in the principal amount of HK$91,000,000 were issued to Team
Sunny.

On 31 December 2022, the Company had 2022 CBs with principal
amount of HK$91.0 million, of which the principal amount of
HK$55.0 million conferring rights to convert into 61,111,111 Shares
with the conversion price of HK$0.90 per conversion share and the
principal amount of HK$36.0 million conferring rights to convert into
39,867,109 Shares with the conversion price of HK$0.903 per
conversion share.

DIVIDENDS

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND GEARING

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded cash and bank
balances (including trust accounts) amounting to approximately
HK$34.8 million (2021: approximately HK$47.7 million) and the net
current assets value was approximately HK$10.3 million (2021:
approximately HK$38.9 million).

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately 1.08 (2021: approximately 0.96), being a ratio of total
interest-bearing debts, including convertible bonds of approximately
HK$85.1 million (2021: approximately HK$85.6 million) to the total
assets of approximately HK$79.1 million (2021: approximately
HK$88.9 million).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SHARE SUBSCRIPTION

The Company completed a share subscription on 7 July 2022,
pursuant to which the Company has issued and allotted 15,000,000
Shares at a subscription price of HK$0.21 per subscription share. The
gross proceeds from the share subscription was HK$3.15 million and
the net proceeds after deducting relevant expenses was approximately
HK$3.0 million. The net subscription price per subscription share
based on the net proceeds is HK$0.20.

As at 31 December 2022, the intended and actual use of the net
proceeds from the share subscription is stated as below:

Amount
&%
HK$ million Intended use
BEET HEAR

MBER - MBEENRENGELR

M2022%F12A31H A5 EHHERE RIRITEH
(B HEEEERF) #34,800,000/8 7T (20214 : 4
47,700,000/ 7T) Mt Eh & EFE4710,300,0007% 7T
(20214F : #938,900,000/8 ) °

1R2022F12A8318 - x*EEcEXRBELEL1.08
(20214 : #90.96) - BNFI EEH B (BIEATBR
f& % #785,100,0007% 7T) (20214 : #J85,600,000%5
JC) 18 ¥ 7 48 & EE 4979,100,00078 JT (20214F = 49
88,900,000/ 7T) Z th & o

AR sR B PRI RIAA &

AAFR2022F7 7B R BRMHRE - HIL - AR
RIERESRABERMD021B T REE T R %
15,000,000/ gt - R REER IS RIBBEAR
3,150,000 7T - HBRHFE & & M PT1S RIBFREL
7%3,000,0007 7T © IRIBEFTISHIBFRE - BRABER
FREEE R0.208 T -

R2022912 A318 - RIDRBBEFAEHREFROEE
RERBEEIIMT -

Actual use

BERAR

3.0 General working capital of NOIZ

NOIZK) — REEE S

The remaining net proceeds of approximately
HK$800,000 is expected to be utilised as
intended within 2 months.

T8 BA#A T BT 1S SRIEE FE 49800,00078 7T & HA M
ERRBERESA -
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM 2021 RIGHTS ISSUE

The Company completed the 2021 Rights Issue on 22 July 2021,
pursuant to which the Company has issued 346,310,897 Shares as
rights shares at HK$0.15 per rights share on the basis of five (5)
rights shares for every two (2) Shares held on 28 June 2021. The net
proceeds from the 2021 Rights Issue (after deducting the expenses
were approximately HK$49.79 million. The net subscription price per
rights share after deducting the related expenses of the 2021 Rights

Issue was approximately HK$0.144.

As at 31 December 2022, the intended and actual use of the net
proceeds from the 2021 Rights Issue is stated as below:

Amount
ok}
HKS$ million Intended use

HEBT BWEAR

2021 F HARPRIS IR E

ANATH2021F7 A22H K 2021 FHM - itk
ER2021F6 A28 A EEMQRKRMNHEZR(G)K
AR R E%E - ANARE 377346,310,897 iR ik 15
ERERR I - TR G EE0.158 T - 2021
FHENASREFBE(NEBRAIR)OAE
49,790,000/ 7t © 20214 (A% 1) & IR AR A% 15 F 3R
BEGIREEAXR) A AB0.144ET -

R2022F12831H » 2021 FHREATERIBEFEN
BERERBSBEINOT

Actual use

BERAR

28.89 Repayment of the promissory notes issued by Fully utilised as intended

the Company on 21 April 2015

BEARNRNR015F4A2NARTHNARLEER ZRETAEREHHH

7.93 Repayment of the loan indebted to Mr. Lau Fully utilised as intended

Chung Yan by the Company
BB A QA4 K Lau Chung Yanft £ M E &

BEREREERSA

12.97 General working capital and future investment  Fully utilised as intended

—REEEEMAREKE

49.79

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no pledged assets (2021:

Nil).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 4 July 2022, the Company allotted and issued 66,666,663 Shares
in respect of the acquisition of NOIZ pursuant to the sale and
purchase agreement dated 13 June 2022.

On 7 July 2022, the Company allotted and issued 15,000,000 Shares
pursuant to the subscription agreement dated 17 June 2022.

Save as disclosed, the Company had no changes in capital structure
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

INVESTMENT POSITION AND PLANNING
Investment in SPAC projects

On 22 February 2022, the Group acquired 43.75% of the issued
share capital of a private company, with the aim of involving in the
investment in special purpose acquisition company (“SPAC") projects
with 2.88% effective equity interest, at a consideration of
US$350,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2.7 million). The
investment was recognised as financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income. The acquisition was classified as a
non-discloseable transaction under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Acquisition of 100% interest of NOIZ

On 4 July 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire
issued share capital of NOIZ, a business of digital platform, at a
consideration of HK$15,133,000. The consideration was satisfied by
the Company by the allotment and issue of an aggregate of
66,666,663 consideration shares to the vendors at the issue price of
approximately HK$0.227 per consideration share.

Details were set out in the Company’s announcements dated 13 June
2022 and 4 July 2022.

Disposal of Trading Business

On 23 September 2022, the Company as the vendor entered into the
sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party, to
dispose the entire issued share capital of End User Investments
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary, at a consideration of HK$1. The
disposal was completed on 23 September 2022.

Details were set out in the Company’'s announcement dated
23 September 2022.

SRRIB

K2022F7 548 - REBEFIRIEHER2022F6 A
138 ) B = 1735 W BENOIZ M A 3% K2 %%1766,666,663
R -

1R2022F7 /878 « RARIREAER2022F6 17
A #5288 15 5% B 3% & %97 15,000,000 8 f2 {5 ©

BRETIEBESN - BE2022F12A3MBLFE - AR
AIMEARERREED -

REHRIR K5t El
RERHKENKBARER

2022924228 + AEE AR E350,000%F 7T (18
B #)2,700,0007%8 7T ) W iE — @A A R FIHY43.75%
DBITHRA  LAHI2H2 88% BB MR A &
WEAR ([HHREMNKEBAT])BEBERE - ZLAE

REUNAFEBEFAEMZARS SREE -
WIESEBREGIM E RS+ NEW S EAIEE
FTHREONRS -

W EENOIZZ SpfE 2%

M2022%7 A48 - AEETAWENOIZH 2SI 2%
TRA ZAa B HEBEBEeLE REA
15,133,000/ 7T o AR Al@BRE F R ERETE
66,666,663 B M R FZNRE  BITELD
BERRERKH0.227FT

HBEHRARARHEA2022F6 A13H N20224F7
A4HB R -

EESXH

202269 H23A0 - ARAI(ERER)H—BE T
FE=FRIVEEHZ  UMREITBTHEEREZER
B2 RJEnd User Investment Limited #2282 277 /%
Ao ZHEBEMN202269 8238 %K °

=

FIBER ARG BEA2022F9H23HM AL -
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, save for the litigation, the Group had no
other significant contingent liabilities (2021: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2021: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s business is principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
As certain bank deposits denominated in Renminbi, therefore, the
Group is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk. No currency
hedging arrangement had been made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022. The Directors have positive attitude to
regular monitor the exposure to foreign exchange so as to reduce the
foreign exchange rate risk to minimal.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 29 staffs (2021: 38).
The Group’s remuneration policy is based on principle of equality,
motivating, performance-oriented and market-competitiveness.
Remuneration packages are normally reviewed on an annual basis.
Apart from salary payments, other staff benefits included provident
fund contributions, medical insurance coverage and performance
related bonuses. A share option scheme is also established to reward
and motivate the employees of the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors

SSEASHREERBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Hin Shek, aged 53, was appointed as an executive
Director, the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, an authorised
representative under Rule 5.24 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Authorised Representative”) and an authorised representative for
accepting service of any process and notices in Hong Kong under Part
16 of the Companies Ordinance (the “Process Agent”) on 1
September 2020. He is also a substantial shareholder of the Company
and a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong
holds a Master of Science (Financial Management) degree from
University of London in United Kingdom and a Bachelor of Commerce
degree from University of Toronto in Canada. Besides having over 28
years of experience in the investment banking industry, Mr. Wong has
been involved in the management, business development and
strategic investment of listed companies in Hong Kong, having
operations in finance, information technology, hotel, manufacturing
and environmental protection industries. Mr. Wong is currently a non-
executive director of Sino Golf Holdings Limited (stock code: 361), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an
independent non-executive director of Fresh Express Delivery Holdings
Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1175) from January 2022 to August
2022 and the chairman and an executive director of DeTai New
Energy Group Limited (stock code: 559) from July 2009 to May
2021, both companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson, aged 51, was appointed on 24
August 2012, is currently an executive Director. He was the
Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the compliance officer of the
Company (the “Compliance Officer”), an Authorised Representative,
an Process Agent and a member of each of the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) from 24 August 2012 to 1 September 2020. He holds
a Master of Science Degree in Financial Engineering from City
University of Hong Kong and Bachelor Degrees in Arts and
Administrative Studies from York University, Canada. Mr. Cheung is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Cheung has
over 22 vyears of experience in the field of audit, business
development, corporate finance and financial management.

and Senior Management

HMITES
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENERERBERE

Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping, aged 44, was appointed as an executive
Director on 1 April 2019, the Compliance Officer on 1 September
2020 and the company secretary of the Company, the Authorised
Representative and the Process Agent on 20 September 2022. She is
also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Tsang
holds Master Degree in Corporate Governance from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy from
City University of Hong Kong. Ms. Tsang is a member of both of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. She is also an
associate member of both of The Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. Ms. Tsang
has extensive experience in accounting, financial management and
company secretarial matters.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and is a member of each of the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the audit committee of
the Company (the “Audit Committee”) on 7 May 2019. She holds a
Bachelor of Business (Accountancy) Degree from Royal Melbourne
Institute of Technology. Ms. Ng is a member of both the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the CPA Australia.
Ms. Ng was the chief financial officer and company secretary of GR
Properties Limited (stock code: 108), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange from August 2019 to November 2019.
She was the group financial controller of Luxey International
(Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8041), a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange from 2011 to 2018. Ms. Ng has over 23 years
of experience in auditing, accounting and financial management.

Mr. Wong Wing Kit, aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and is a member of each of the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee
on 14 October 2019. He holds a Master of Business Administration
Degree from the City University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor of Arts
in Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Wong held senior positions with various local and
international institutions. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of experience
in auditing, accounting management, financial reporting and analysis
and financial system implementation.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENERERBERE

Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann, aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and is a member of each of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee on 26 October 2012. She holds a Bachelor Degree of
Retail Marketing with honours in the United Kingdom and a Diploma
in Marketing from The Chartered Institute of Marketing. She pursued
her further study on legal course and has been awarded a Diploma in
Legal Practice in the United Kingdom in 1998. She is a consultant of
Messrs. Fung & Fung, Solicitors, a legal firm in Hong Kong.
Ms. Yeung is an independent non-executive director of Success
Universe Group Limited (stock code: 487), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange and E Lighting Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8222), a company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange. Ms. Yeung has over 23 years of experience in legal
field.
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EXEGHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has always recognised the importance of the
transparency and accountability to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). It is the belief of the Board that the Shareholders
can maximise their benefits from good corporate governance. The
Company is committed to maintaining a good and sensible
framework of corporate governance and to complying with applicable
statutory and regulatory requirements with a view to assuring the
conduct of management as well as protecting the interests of the
Shareholders.

Throughout the year, to the best knowledge of the Board, the
Company has applied the principles and complied with all the
applicable code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code to the Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules in force during
the year (the “CG Code”) except for the deviation as mentioned
below.

Code Provision C.2.1

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that
the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Wong Hin Shek has been appointed as the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer since 1 September 2020. This is at variance
with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code which provides that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The Board considers that (i)
Mr. Wong has substantial experience that is essential to fulfilling the
role of the Chairman, at the same time, he has the appropriate
management skills and business acumen that are the prerequisites for
assuming the role of the Chief Executive Officer in the day-to-day
management of the Group; (i) having the same individual in both
roles as the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer could ensure
the leadership consistency and could make and implement the overall
strategy of the Group more effectively; and (iii) the powers and
authorities of the Group has not been concentrated as all major
decisions of the Group have been made in consultation with the
Board and appropriate Board committees, as well as senior
management. The Board will regularly review the effectiveness of this
structure to ensure that it is appropriate to the Group’'s
circumstances.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has not adopted a code of conduct nor established
written guidelines regarding the securities transactions by the
Directors and relevant employees of the Company but has applied the
principles of the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of
Dealings”).

Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, each of the Directors
has confirmed that he/she has complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings throughout the year and up to the date of this Annual
Report.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is charged with the responsibility for the promotion of the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a
responsible and effective manner. Directors take decisions objectively
in the interests of the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, are aware of their responsibilities and accountability to
Shareholders and for the manner in which the affairs of the Company
are managed and operated.

The senior management of the Group was delegated the authority
and responsibility by the Board and under the leadership of the
Board, responsible for executing the Board’'s strategy and
implementing its policies through day-to-day management and
operations of the business of the Group. The Board determines which
functions are reserved to the Board and which are delegated to
senior management. It delegates appropriate aspects of its
management and administrative functions to senior management. It
also gives clear directions as to the powers of senior management, in
particular, with respect to the circumstances where senior
management must report back and obtain prior approval from the
Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on
behalf of the Company. These arrangements are reviewed periodically
to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the
Company.

Important matters are reserved to the Board for its decision, including
strategic direction and objectives of the Group, extension of the
Group’s activities into new business areas, appointments to the Board
and the Board committees, appointment or change of auditors,
monitor the performance of the management of the Group, annual
budgets and effective control measures, material acquisitions and
disposals, material transactions, material banking facilities, risk
management and internal control, announcements of quarterly,
interim and final results and payment of dividends and other
significant operational matters of the Company.
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The Directors are enabled, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide separate
appropriate independent professional advice to the Directors to assist
the relevant Directors to discharge their duties.

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, value and strategy,
and has satisfied itself that the Group’s culture is aligned. The
Directors and senior management have acted with integrity, lead by
example(s), and promote the desired culture to support the Group's
pursuit of success. The integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality, and
ethical long-term business practices should be stated as one of the
core values of the Group.

During the year, the Group has adopted anti-corruption policy (the
“Anti-Corruption Policy”) and whistleblowing policy (the
“"Whistleblowing Policy”) to provide the platforms for reporting
issues and concerns on any misconduct, and to uphold business
integrity in its operations. These two policies are the core to
establishing the healthy corporate culture and promoting high ethical
standards in the Group.

The Group will continuously day-to-day implementation and oversight
of these policies, and consideration and approval of changes to the
policies, if necessary. The Group believes that a healthy corporate
culture is very important for achieving the long-terms success and
foster sustainability of the Group.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged in respect of the legal
action against the Directors and the management of the Group. The
Board considers that the Group has sufficient and appropriate liability
insurance to cover the Directors and the management of the Group
against any legal liability arising from their performance of duties.

Composition of the Board
As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises a total of
six members, with three executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors.
Executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Hin Shek
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson
Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping
Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina

Mr. Wong Wing Kit
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann
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The Board possesses a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the businesses of the
Group. The Directors with a variety and a balance of skills and
experience in investment banking, auditing, accounting, financial
management, company secretarial, business development, legal,
management, marketing and corporate finance which is relevant in
managing the businesses in which the Group is engaged. The names
of the Directors in office during 2022 and up to the date of this
Annual Report and details of retiring Directors to be re-elected at the
2023 AGM are set out in the section headed “Report of the
Directors” in this Annual Report. The biographical details of the
Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” in this Annual Report. Updated list
of Directors identifying their role and function are maintained on the
websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the
Company at www.merdeka.com.hk.

To the best of the knowledge of the Company, there is no financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships between
Board members or between the Chairman and the chief executive.

Appointment, Re-Election and Retirement of the Directors

In accordance with article 86(2) and 86(3) of the Amended and
Restated Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”), the Company may by ordinary resolution elect any
person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board,
or as an addition to the existing Board. The Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition
to the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
Members after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to
the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election.

In accordance with article 87(1) of the Articles of Association,
notwithstanding any other provisions in the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
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In accordance with article 87(2) of the Articles of Association, a
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to
act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The
Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to
ascertain the number of directors to retire by rotation) any Director
who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors
subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between
persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same
day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot. Any Director appointed by the
Board pursuant to article 86(3) of the Articles of Association shall not
be taken into account in determining which particular Directors or the
number of Directors who are to retire by rotation.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

The Board, led by the Chairman, sets the overall direction, strategy
and policies of the Company.

Presently, Mr. Wong Hin Shek assumes the roles of both the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The roles of the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer are not separated and exercised by
different individuals. The reasons for the deviation from the code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code are set out under the section
“Compliance with Corporate Governance Code” in this Corporate
Governance Report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are seasoned individuals
from diversified backgrounds and industries. The Company has
complied with rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive director,
with at least one of them has appropriate accounting and related
financial management expertise as required by the GEM Listing Rules.
The total number of independent non-executive Directors represented
half of the Board members so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
formal letters of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
one year and will continue thereafter from vyear to year until
terminated by either party, subject to re-election at the general
meeting/annual general meeting (the “AGM") next following their
appointment and thereafter retirement by rotation and re-election at
the AGMs in accordance with the Articles of Association.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors. The Company
is of the view that all of the independent non-executive Directors
meet the guidelines for assessing independence as set out in rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers them to be
independent.

During the vyear, the Chairman has held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
executive Directors.

Board Meetings

Board meetings are held regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals to approve, among other things, the
financial results of the Company. Regular Board meetings are
scheduled in advance to give the Directors an opportunity to attend.
All Directors are invited to include matters in the agenda for regular
Board meetings. For all other Board meetings, reasonable notices are
given to Directors. Directors can attend Board meetings either in
person or by electronic means of communication.

During the year, a total of fifteen Board meetings were held. There
was satisfactory attendance for Board meetings, which evidences
prompt attention of the Directors to the affairs of the Company.

If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical
Board meeting rather than by a written resolution. Independent
non-executive Directors who, have no material interest in the
transaction will be present at such Board meeting.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
is responsible for taking minutes of all Board and Board committee
meetings. Draft minutes are circulated to Board or Board committee
members unless a conflict of interest arises and the final version of
minutes are open for inspection by the Directors upon reasonable
notice.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations are followed. The Directors also have
separate and independent access to senior management to make
further enquiries or to obtain more information where necessary.
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Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Upon appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director will
receive the briefing by senior management on, among others, the
corporate goals, objectives, business activities and plans and financial
situation of the Group. Subsequently, each newly appointed Director
is also provided a training with a package of materials in respect of a
director’s responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable law, rules and regulations, corporate governance
matters and financial reporting standards.

During the year, all the Directors have participated in appropriate
continuous professional development training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code. Reading materials on relevant topics are sent to the Directors
where appropriate.

Each of the Directors participated in the following trainings during the
year:
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Attending or giving
talks at seminars/

webinars/ Reading
conferences/forums materials
HEERE
HE g8
WERBRER B A R
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wong Hin Shek TFREBEE v/ e
Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson REBERE v/ v/
Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping E g v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYKBITES
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina REELL e v
Mr. Wong Wing Kit =K A v/ v/
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BREZLT v/ v/
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.
All Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference. The main roles and responsibilities of these
three committees, including all authorities delegated to them by the
Board, as set out in the terms of reference and are published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the
Company at www.merdeka.com.hk. The different committees’
independent views and recommendations not only ensure proper
control of the Group but also the continual achievement of the high
corporate governance standards expected of a listed company. The
chairman of each committee reports the outcome of the committee’s
meetings to the Board for further discussion and approval.

There was satisfactory attendance for meetings of the Board
committees during the year. The minutes of the committee meetings
are circulated to all members of the relevant committee unless a
conflict of interest arises. The committees are required to report back
to the Board on key findings, recommendations and decisions.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include: (i) reviewing
the structure, size and diversity (including without limitation, gender,
age, culture and educational background, skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually, and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (ii) identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; (iii) assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.
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Members of the Nomination Committee are:
REZEERERTE

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina

(Independent non-executive Director)

RREXL (BILFEHTESF)
Mr. Wong Wing Kit (Independent non-executive Director)
EoKAEEE (BIFEHTESR)
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann (Independent non-executive Director)
HREZ L (BIFHTES)

The Nomination Committee will at all times, have a minimum of three
members, a majority of which shall be independent non-executive
Directors and presently consists of three members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of the Nomination
Committee is elected by the members who are present at the
meeting.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year and as and
when there is any issue which requires its consideration. One meeting
was held during the year.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has (i) reviewed the
structure, size and composition and diversity of the Board; (ii)
assessed the independent of the independent non-executive Directors;
(iii) recommended to the Board on the selection of members of the
Board; (iv) reviewed the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”), the nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination
Policy”) and terms of reference of the Nomination Committee.

During the year, the Nomination Committee was provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties and responsibilities and at the
Company’s expense to seek independent professional advice, where
and when necessary.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee takes
into account various aspects as well as the factors concerning the
Board diversity as set out in the Board Diversity Policy, as follows:

Board Diversity Policy

()

(i)

(i)

Objective

The Company recognizes the importance of the nomination of
the Board of Directors and the Board diversity which are
beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s performance.

Policy

The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the Board
composition on behalf of the Board and recommends the
appointment of new Directors. In addition to its terms of
reference, the Nomination Committee will also take into
account includes: (a) in designing and reviewing the Board’s
composition, the Nomination Committee will consider from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to reputation for
integrity, accomplishment and experience in the financial
services industry, in particular, in the securities, commodities
and futures and financial markets, commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service, and any other factors that the
Board may consider relevant and applicable from time to time;
and (b) all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to reputation for
integrity, accomplishment and experience in the financial
services industry, in particular, in the securities, commodities
and futures and financial markets, commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.
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(iv)  Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the
Board annually in the corporate governance report contained in
the Company’s annual report and monitor the implementation
of this Board Diversity Policy. A summary of this Board Diversity
Policy together with the measurable objectives set for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives will be disclosed in the
annual corporate governance report of the Company.

During the year, the Board comprised three male and three female
Directors, and the percentage of male and female employees are
45% and 55% respectively.

The Board considers that the Group’s workforce (including Directors)
are diverse in terms of gender. The Group will continue to apply the
principle of appointments based on merits with reference to our
Board Diversity Policy as a whole, and we have also taken, and will
continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of our
Company.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
diversity of the Board, it ensures that the Board composition is in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. Also, it reflects an
appropriate mix of Board’s specific skills, experiences and knowledge
and diversity of perspectives, and contribute to the Board’s
effectiveness and efficiency to achieve the Company’s strategy and
corporate governance issues. The Nomination Committee considered
that an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board
(include the industry or professional knowledge and experience,
gender, technical skill and management experience) is maintained.
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Nomination Policy

The Board approved and adopted the Nomination Policy which sets
out the nomination procedures, criteria and process in the nomination
and appointment of Directors. Details of the Nomination Policy are set
out below:

1. Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall consider the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

o character and integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

o any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board,;

o requirement in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and
whether the candidate would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in
the GEM Listing Rules (in case of independent non-
executive Directors);

o any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

o willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

o any other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the
Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to
time for nomination of Directors and succession planning.
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Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination
which are pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and the Articles as
below:

2.1

2.2

Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee or the Board or the Company
Secretary shall call for a meeting of the Nomination
Committee upon receipt of any nominations of
candidates. The Nomination Committee should evaluate
such candidate based on the selection criteria mentioned
above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. The Nomination Committee should then
recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is
nominated by the Shareholder(s) for election as a Director
at the general meeting of the Company (the “General
Meeting”), the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the same
selection criteria as mentioned above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship, and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to the Shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of Director at the
General Meeting. The Board should have the final
decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of
candidates to stand for election at any General Meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board
to stand for re-election at the General Meeting according
to the Articles. The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should review the overall contribution and service
of the retiring Director to the Company, his/her level of
participation and performance on the Board and
determine whether the retiring Director continues to meet
the above selection criteria. The Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should then make recommendation to
the Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of
Director at the General Meeting.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The main duties of Remuneration Committee include: (i) making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the
remuneration of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (i) assessing
performance of executive Directors’ and approving the terms of
executive Directors’ service contracts; (iii) reviewing the remuneration
package including the performance-based bonus and incentive
rewards for the executive Directors and the senior management of the
Group and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors; (iv) reviewing and making recommendations
to the Board the compensation, if any, payable to the executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss or
termination of their office or appointment; and (v) reviewing and
approving the matters relating to the share schemes under Chapter
23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is to retain
and motivate the executive Directors and the senior management of
the Group by linking their rewards to the corporate and individual
performance, job complexity and responsibilities, so that the interests
of the executive Directors are aligned with those of the Shareholders.
No Director can, however, approve his/her own remuneration.

Members of the Remuneration Committee are:

FHMEES

ARBCRIFMEE S - 5 EE B EN
BREERTH -

FHZEETERERRE  ((MAKBEERSR
EEEZHMERRRE  UERRIZIERMAE
FRENIEF HIFT A BHBCR - MESSRMHER
(NFERTES KRR R ERTEETRBAON
s (FHETRTEFRAKRESREREZ
HG BREAXRRBH 2 EAREE Wt
HTEFENFMRESSRHMERZ  (WENENT
HOTEFEhRREEEABEMMB IR LTS

mMmEmE) Uit EFSRMAES  RVEHN
RHLEGEM TR AIE 238 FHMR M ENEE -

AEEFMBERZEZEN  DERTEERAE
BeREEEzHFMECXREAZKRE HETHE
MERBEHD  FURELABEEAL  E5
TEFRRROMGERE —H - A EFTEH
BERG ZHH -

REZEERBEEE:

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina (Independent non-executive
REELL (BIEWMITES)

Mr. Wong Wing Kit (Independent non-executive
KA (BIEWMITES)

Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann (Independent non-executive
BREZ L (BYEWMITES)

Director)

Director)

Director)

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is elected by the
members who are present at the meeting.

VFNZBEETRALFER IR EHE -
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The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year and as and
when there is any issue which requires its consideration. One meeting
was held during the year.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year
included: (i) reviewing the remuneration policy and structure of the
Directors and the senior management of the Group, including those
retired and re-elected at the AGM. The Company has adopted the
model to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management; (ii)
reviewing the performance-based remuneration package of each
individual executive Directors, and his/her terms of services contracts
and recommending to the Board; (iii) reviewing matters relating to
share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules; and (iv)
reviewing the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with specific
written terms of reference in accordance with the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include: (i) reviewing the
quarterly, half-yearly and annual results of the Group; (i) reviewing
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group; (iii)
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the
Group; (iv) ensuring the objectivity and credibility of the Company’s
financial reporting and internal control procedures as well as to
maintain an appropriate relationship with the external auditor of the
Company; and (v) reviewing and investigation of reports of the
whistleblowing policy and systems.

Members of the Audit Committee are:

EREEEREERE:

FMZESEFRIGA - RAUMRERNTEEE
B2EEHREETEE FART-REH -

FMZEeFARRNIERBE(IRNAEEES
RRGERABNFHBRRLREE  EREERK
RBFRE LREREREMEN - ARFERHBZ
SR ERBTESERSMERBNFHGER
EESFHEBEZ (RIS ATESFENEE
BT R R ERBAVETIARMESTSELHE
B - (iR BEGEM L RIS 23 B4t S A0 71
FEENER RiviaHME B BEHE -

BEREES
ARFERIUEZZES EHBNCEaREHES
ZhEERTH -

ERZESTIERACROENAKREFTE  F4
REEEE (RS ARERREERAPEZER
B (iRt AN R B AR E AR ¢ (V)RR
REAFBRELABEZEREFEERAIE - ARE
ARBSNEZBEAEFRERE  hBEELRAE
BHRER KRB EORE -

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina

(Independent non-executive Director)

REEnt (BLFPTES)
Mr. Wong Wing Kit (Independent non-executive Director)
=KEERE (BALFPTEF)
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann (Independent non-executive Director)
BREZ L (BEHITESE)
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The Audit Committee consists of three members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, at least one of whom with
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required in rule 5.05(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules. The chairman of the Audit Committee is elected
by the members who are present at the meeting. All members of the
Audit Committee possess appropriate professional qualifications and
experience necessary to give advice on the Board’s strategies and
other related matters. All members of the Audit Committee have
complete and unrestricted access to the external auditor of the
Company and all employees of the Company.

The Audit Committee meets at least four times a year and as and
when there is any issue which requires its consideration. Four
meetings were held during the year.

During the year, the work performed by the Audit Committee
included: (i) reviewing together with senior management and external
auditor of the Company, the annual audit plan, the risk management
and internal control system, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and other financial matters; (ii) considering
and approving the Company’'s annual financial results and annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2021, the interim results and
interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2022, and the
quarterly results and quarterly reports for the periods ended 31
March 2022 and 30 September 2022 of the Group, and confirmed
that the preparation of such complied with the applicable accounting
standards and practices adopted by the Company, the requirements
of the under the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and
regulatory requirements and adequate disclosures has been made.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board the
re-appointment of Elite Partners CPA Limited as the Company’s
external auditor subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming AGM.

ERZESHR-AREER  BREZZBIERT
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BZEEHREETEE FARTHRAEH -

FR EBRZEGHETHIIEEE  VERZEKRF
BRERERIIMNEZBMEEZFEEITE - A
BMEBRADERZRS  REBARMAZ SHRAY
REBFRAAREMBBER (i) FHEIIEERAR
AEE2021F 12 A3MBEFENEFUHEERTF
R E202296 A30H 1 NE AR R EIELE KR
BAER A AR ELE20229F3 A31H %2022 9A30
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Attendance at Board Meeting, Board Committees Meetings and EEZE22H EEZE2SBRRRAZTNEEE

General Meetings *

During the year, the attendance records of the Directors at Board R

CEEZREFEEE FERZBEEER  RA
BEgegm BRREFAE(R

meetings, Audit Committee meetings, Nomination Committee ZE&&:% FHZ
meeting, Remuneration Committee meeting, Annual General Meeting REFAE|) MREEFHAS ([REREBBIKRE])(F
(“AGM") and Extraordinary General Meeting ("EGM") (attendance by B ABFEE A HE) 2 HELERT

either in person or by phone) are as follows:

Number of meetings during the year

FREHEREH
Attended/Eligible to attend
BHE REKLE
EGM held on
Audit Nomination Remuneration AGM held on 23 December
Board Committee Committee Committee 20 June 2022 2022
20225 20225
6H20HE1TH 12H23RALTH
gz BEREES REZES FMhEES BREBFRE BREHBARE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Wong Hin Shek 14/15 N/A N/A N/A mnm mnm
THEBELE TER TER TER
Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson 3/15 N/A N/A N/A il 01
REELE NEA NEA NEA
Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping 15/15 N/A N/A N/A mnm mnm
LSzt TER TER TER

Independent Non-executive Directors

BIUFHTES

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina 15/15 4/4 mnm
REEut

Mr. Wong Wing Kit 15/15 4/4 171
EKBERE

Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann 15/15 4/4 m”n
BREZL

171

171

171

171

171

171

171

171

171

The attendance of a Director is stated by reference to the number of HRERNTREZENESEMS - HEEDHEZ

meetings held during his/her tenure if he/she was appointed part way  H&E
during the vyear.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code which
include: (i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board; (ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management of the
Company; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv)
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

THE COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer while all Directors have access to the advice and
services of her to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable
law, rules and regulations, are followed. The Company Secretary is
also responsible for supporting the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that Board policy and
procedures are followed, advising the Board through the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer on corporate governance matters and
facilitate induction and professional development of Directors.

Ms. Hau Hei Man Sonya (“Ms. Hau") resigned as the Company
Secretary on 20 September 2022. Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping (“Ms. Tsang”)
has been appointed as the Company Secretary in place of Ms. Hau
with effect from 20 September 2022. During the year, each of Ms.
Tsang and Ms. Hau attended over 15 hours of professional training as
required under rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved and adopted a dividend policy which outlines
general principles for the determination and payment of dividend to
its Shareholders (the “Dividend Policy”). Dividends or distributions by
the Company shall be determined and declared in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations, the Articles of Association and
the Dividend Policy.

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the Company may declare and pay
dividends to the Shareholders by way of cash or by other means that
the Board considers appropriate. The Board, in recommending
dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to retain
adequate reserves for future growth. The Company’s decision to
declare or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of

FREGHAE
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BRARBRGETEEEATRIREEE RS
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AR FIBBEMER  RAUREREREST - AR
ENMBEXEESZET(F BRREZFENESRD
B BTESEBREERF  SBEFERITHRE
BRCEERFEFAEFTSREREUNRRELS
FIIEERAERER -

EH XL ([FEzL])R2022F9 8208 #FERF
MmE-ZESLL((ExT)EEZTAERRM
£ H202F9A20E BB FELLT -FR  BX
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E BRI EBEEE -

iR REX R
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such dividends will depend upon, among other things, the current
and future operations, financial condition, liquidity position and
capital requirements of the Group, as well as dividends received from
the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in turn will depend
on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend.
In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of
dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the
laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Board will continue to review this Dividend Policy from time to
time, amend and/or modify this Dividend Policy at any time as it
deems fit and necessary.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The Group has established the (i) policy and measures to support
anti-corruption laws and regulations; and (ii) whistleblowing policy and
measures for employees, suppliers and business partners to raise
serious concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Board about
possible improprieties in financial report or other matters of the
Group. These polities can promote high probity standards and ethical
business practices.

Further details of the Group’s anti-corruption policy and
whistleblowing policy, please refer to the Company’s website.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2022 provided by the external auditor of the
Company, Elite Partners CPA Limited, are as follows:

(BURNZ M B R 7 R R B ST RB RRE ) -
BEAN - RE— B R B AR BB AR
RHAE - ARBERENBRENIZFASEEZEM -
BRED ABERAAREMERER  RAK
MBIz BRI -

EXgREBETRRNEREEE EERRAE
B FBEREERIERT KRG B RS BER -

R &3 R KRB MR

AR E RS (VBUR R HE 1604 32 3% R A5 A 2 B
B+ R B RIS - SRR B S R
B IARE RE £ 5 R AR R B S R H A B
BRI EEROTETANEFRREBELE -
BB R TR R SRS RA T B A
2.

FEAEERESHERBRBERNE —SFE
BLEARQ BRI -

% S5 6m =

HE2022F12A31HIEFE  ARRINEZEATFH
TEEeMERER AR RIRHEZ K IEEX
RGBS T

Fees paid/payable

Services rendered FriR AR 35 e,/ EFER
HK$'000

FHT

Audit services EIZRT 950
Non-audit services™o® IE A% R 7 W) —
Total @at 950
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of
the financial statements of the Company and ensure that they are
prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the timely
publication of such financial statements. The Directors aim to present
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position
and prospects.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company, Elite Partners
CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on the
Company’s financial statements is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditors’ Report” in this Annual Report.

The Directors were aware that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$27,820,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's
net liabilities were approximately HK$28,935,000. These conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

Notwithstanding the above conditions, the financial statements were
prepared based on the assumption that the Group can be operated as
a going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for establishing
and maintaining the Group’s risk management and internal control
system and reviewing its effectiveness. The Group has established a
risk management and internal control system covering all the business
units to monitor, assess and manage various risks in the Group’s
business activities, on a regular basis.

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group include: the identification of risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the development and continuous
update of responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of risk
management and internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness. Such risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The system
identifies, evaluates and manages the significant risks through regular
risk assessments, including both compliance assessment and self-
assessment on risk management and internal control.
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The risk management and internal control system of the Group
comprises four levels based on the corporate governance structure: (1)
the Board, responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives and to ensure the defects found in reviews of the
risk management and internal control system can be resolved in a
timely manner; (2) the Audit Committee, responsible for reviewing the
quality, integrity and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control policies of the Group and to approve and make
suggestions to the Board the revisions on the risk management and
internal control policies; (3) management, responsible for the day-to-
day risk management in all departments and subsidiaries of the
Company and (4) the members of the Group, responsible for
performing the daily risk management task.

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of inside
information and for compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal control element, a
serious of disclosure procedures of price sensitive information on
reporting and dissemination of inside information and preservation of
confidentiality. Under the current practice, the directors aware any
potential/suspected inside information event as soon as practicable
when it materializes for determining the nature of developments, and
if required, making disclosure. All staff are also required to observe
the code of ethical standards to keep non-public information
confidential.

During the year, the Group engaged a professional advisory firm as
internal control reviewer and to report directly to the Audit
Committee to conduct annual review for the effectiveness the risk
management and internal control system of the Group covering the
period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 in compliance
with the requirements under code provision D.2 of the CG Code
which covers expenditure and cash management and treasury cycles
of certain Subsidiaries of the Group.

The result of the review has been summarised and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board with recommendations and follow-up
results. All the recommendations have been properly followed up by
the Group to ensure that they will be implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board considered that the risk
management and internal control system of the Group is adequate
and effective.

During the year, the Board also reviews the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of the staff of the Company, the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget.

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EESMEBER AT
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of
the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21)
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may convene a
physical meeting at only one location which will be the principal
place of the meeting, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Sending Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries to the Board by addressing
them to the Company’s head office and principal place of business in
Hong Kong, presently at Room 1108, 11/F, Wing On Centre, 111
Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong, by post for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director

Pursuant to article 86(2) of the Articles of Association, subject to the
Articles of Association and the Law, the Company may by ordinary
resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

Pursuant to article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by
the Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any
general meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other than the
person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at
the head office or at the Registration Office provided that the
minimum length of the period, during which such notice(s) are given,
shall be at least seven (7) days and that (if the Notices are submitted
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election) the period for lodgement of such notice(s) shall
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commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7)
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

The Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to make proposals or
move resolutions at the general meetings under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands other than to propose
a person for election as a director. Shareholders who wish to make
proposals or move a resolution may, however, follow the procedures
set out in “Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting” above by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting for
putting forward proposals at the Company’s head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong, presently at Room 1108, 11/F, Wing
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy
(the “Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) to ensure the
Shareholders’ questions and concerns are The appropriately addressed.
The Board shall review it on a regular basis to ensure its
effectiveness.

In summary, the Shareholders’ Communication Policy set out the
provisions with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders are
provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company in order to promote
effective communication with the Shareholders so as to enable them
to engage actively with the Company and exercise their rights as
Shareholder in an informed manner. The Shareholders’
Communication Policy is available on the Company’s website
(http://Awww.merdeka.com.hk) and sets out the maintenance of an
effective ongoing communication with the Shareholders.

The Board strives to encourage and maintain constant dialogue with
its shareholders through various means includes: (1) financial reports
and other corporate communications. The publication of the financial
reports (quarterly, interim and annual reports) and other corporate
communications including but not limited to announcements,
circulars, notices, proxy forms and other regulatory disclosure will be
provided to Shareholders in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules
and any other relevant laws and regulations to facilitate Shareholders’
understanding; (2) Shareholders’ meetings. (i.e. annual general
meeting, extraordinary general meeting or any other Shareholders’
meetings); and the members of the Board, in particular, either the
chairmen of Board committees or their delegates, appropriate
management executives will attend annual general meetings to
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answer Shareholders’ questions in normal circumstances; and (3)
Company’s Website. The availability of latest information of the Group
on the Company’s website at http://www.merdeka.com.hk which is an
effective  communication platform to the shareholders and the
investors as well as the general public.

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of
relevant information to its shareholders and investors and discloses
information in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, and publishes
periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with
the relevant laws and regulations.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy for
enhancing the investors relations, and the investors understanding of
the Group’s business performance and strategies.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during
the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this Annual
Report.
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RIFE - LB RERBHS
ABOUT MERDEKA

Introduction

Merdeka Financial Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the "Group” or “We") are pleased to present the
environmental, social and governance (the "“ESG”) Report (the
"Report”). This ESG report discloses and summarizes our sustainability
initiatives, strategies, and performances in 2022. This Report has been
prepared in accordance with the updated Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide ("ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in
Appendix 20 of the Rules (the “GEM Listing Rules”) governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "HKEX").

Our Commitment and Approach

The Board recognises the importance of the strong sustainability
commitment and performance in fulfilling the expectations of
stakeholders. The Board has worked with the management and our
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) working team to
identify, prioritize and oversee ESG strategy to continuously improve
our ESG performance to mitigate the ESG-related risk.

Since 2021, the Group has established an ESG working team (the
"Working Team”) which is responsible for the evaluation of the
impact of ESG-related risks of business operations through ESG risk
assessment and internal control review, and formulating
corresponding policies in dealing with the risks. This Working Team
will report to the Board at least twice a year regarding the ESG
performance and the outcome of the associated risk assessments. The
Group’s ESG management approach and strategy would be closely
monitored and reviewed by the Working Team. It would assist the
Board to evaluate the progress made toward achieving ESG-related
targets and performance goals. On the other hand, the Group carried
out a materiality assessment to collect the feedback from different
stakeholders on each ESG issue as one of the references for the
sustainability development plans. We also raise awareness from our
employees and encourage them to work together to move toward
sustainability.
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Scope of Our Report

This Report has the same scope as last year's report. The Report
focuses on the operations of our Hong Kong headquarter, the
financial services business and corporate consulting business (the
“Selected Business Segments”) of the Group, including the
provision of securities brokerage services, corporate finance advisory
services, asset management business, money lending services,
company secretarial services, accounting and financial reporting
services and management consulting services for the period from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Period”),
which could reveal our performance and efforts in the aspect of
environmental, social and governance. We cover the material
ESG-related issues with respect to the core business.

Reporting Principles

This Report has been prepared following the principles of materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency. It is also pursuant to the
“comply or explain” provision outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide.
Our application of these four principles is illustrated as follows:
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Reporting Principle Description Our Application
BE ) /R Bl Ei::pul RIFRER
Materiality The ESG issues covered in the Report A materiality assessment has been carried out
should be sufficiently important to investors to identify the material issues which are
and other stakeholders in the areas of the significantly important to the Group and its
economy, environment, and society. major stakeholders. The relevant information of
the material issues has been collected and
analyzed in a targeted manner.
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Reporting Principle
BE 4R R A

and Governance Report

Description

i pud

Our Application
B ER

Quantitative

Balance

T4

Consistency

—H M

KPIs should be disclosed in a measurable
way. Targets should be set to reduce a
particular impact. In this way, the
effectiveness of ESG policies and
management systems can be assessed and
validated. Quantitative information should
be elaborated with a narrative, presenting
its objective, impacts, and providing
comparative data where appropriate.
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The ESG report should provide positive and
negative information to reflect an unbiased
picture of the Group’s performance. The
report should avoid selections, omissions, or
presentation formats that may improperly
affect a decision or judgment by the report
reader.

RIE -dHehkEeBtRERIERAEE
o ARG RRAEE R - MERE
BMOBREBURE  BRIATRETZEEER
ENHAEHERAT A

The issuer should adopt consistent
methodologies to present and allow
meaningful comparisons of ESG data over
time. The issuer should disclose in the ESG
report should cover any adjustments to the
revised methods used or any other relevant
factors influencing a meaningful
comparison.

BITABRA BT AR 2R L AFFEE
RHRE HEREABBRETAEENL
B BITARERE #HegkEamEhH
BYUMEANET AN TNABRRZER
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MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE®MEBERAT

Comparative and quantitative information has
been disclosed in the Report where
appropriate.
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Both accomplishments and challenges of the
ESG issues have been disclosed in an objective
manner.

BH - HEREARENRENKEYUER
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Consistent methodology has been adopted in
the Report with necessary justification on any
modifications to the methods used in
comparison with the previous year.
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Stakeholder Engagement

The Group highly values feedback from our stakeholders. Through
regular engaging activities with our major stakeholders, we could
communicate transparently and better understand and respond to
their expectations and concerns regarding our sustainability strategy
and future development. These opinions will help us further identify
and assess our current effort on sustainability and refine our ESG
strategy to align with their perceptions.

The following table sets out our major stakeholders and its
corresponding communication channels.

FOHENSEH

AEESESRBHENRE - BBETZHNH
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TR E2RHMHERLBEBERE

Stakeholders Communication channels

B9 E BBRE

Management e Regular meetings

EHEE s THEE

Employees e Regular performance appraisals
B8 e Frequent meetings

e Training programs
o TEHIRBFIZ
X'—‘-'/\—

/\I—Ll Euﬁ/§

o IHFIRRIE

Customers e Customer services

®F e Daily communication

o EPRT

Fv

e AEXRR

Shareholders/Investors e General meetings

BR BREH e Quarterly/interim/annual reports

e Daily communication

e Group website

o REXE

s FE/THFERE

. REZR
. EEEN

Suppliers e (Close communication

HLRER s EWER
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Your Feedback

The Group recognizes the importance of our stakeholders’ opinions.
Should you have any suggestions or comments on the content of the
Report or our ESG performance, feel free to contact us at
info@merdeka.com.hk.

Materiality Assessment

The Group has carried out a materiality assessment to identify
material ESG issues. The assessment process involves identification,
prioritization and validation of issues. The procedures of the
assessment process are shown as follows:

Step 1: Identification Step 2: Prioritization

RRREE

AEBFBEFHEESNEZ M - B TUOHARFRE
WTV}Z?HF%?%% HEREARREEMNEZXE
» B iBinfo@merdeka.com. hk B 4% F 4FF o

EEMML
AEEDETESMFHUBINERNRE g

RERZER - FHEBRY RER - BEEERE
#E e FHERRN SRR

Step 3: Validation

EAEZE 2

EaH  BEER

LB )

A total of 25 ESG issues relevant to
the Group were identified by
reviewing daily operations. A pool of
possible material issues was created.

By conducting a stakeholder survey, 25
issues were ranked by stakeholders
based on their levels of materiality.
Following a statistical analysis of data
result, we analyzed the materiality of
the ESG issues from both internal and
external stakeholders, to identify the
material issues in relation to the Group.

The management of the Group reviews
and verifies the materiality of the issues
and confirmed the 9 ESG issues as its
material issues of 2022.

ABBREAEEE HFR2EEA BEETHNERAS BONELREBEEE FAEEEEEERARBREZENSZENYL
SEABMNIRR HEREAEE - E’I‘i‘ﬁzﬁl%%{’ﬁﬁﬁﬁ% o R BUR A ROBIRIE - (B REAZEER2022F
BREV —EBEENEEE - EITHE AR - RPN MIND WERFEE -

Tﬂﬁ%%& SITIRG - (B RERERE

WEZN - UBRIEASEREBNSEX

som
We have mapped out a total of 25 sustainability issues in accordance KB BEFMHEAERIETHEAEEHIZME (4m)

with the stakeholder survey, indicating their importance to
stakeholders (vertical axis) and its business (horizontal axis). 9 issues
were identified at the upper right quadrat and regarded as material
by stakeholders and the Group, including equal opportunity,
diversification and anti-discrimination, occupational health and safety,
employment relationship and communication, supplier selection
process, anti-fraud and corruption, business continuity plan, service
quality, complaints handling, and customer privacy. The above issues
are considered as material for the Group's sustainable development
and are further elaborated in the subsequent sections of this ESG
Report.
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The materiality matrix is depicted as follows: EEMEERRET

Materiality Matrix
B2k

%)
o
|
)
(_Dl 10
T #H 20
o= 21 23
7 Bl
= i
A
O
O 4z
w R
Y 4
Z &
LS
o
o
o
=
£
>
2
[}
>
xedium SIGNIFICANCE TO BUSINESS High
HEBNEEMN -
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PROTECTING OUR ENVIRONMENT

We recognize the growing concerns on the environmental risks and
the importance of the strategy to manage and prevent these risks.
The Group has formulated “ESG Strategy and Policy” in 2022 for the
purpose of integrating ESG principles into business operations. We
strive to adopt diverse environmental measures to mitigate
environmental risks while taking into consideration the stage of
development of our business, capability and resourcing. Despite the
impact of our business operations on the environment is minimal, we
are committed to continually enhancing the environmental friendliness
of our business operations by measuring, monitoring and evaluating
our environmental performance ceaselessly and minimizing negative
environmental impacts.

Since 2021, we have established preliminary directional environmental
targets. In order to decrease our carbon emissions, we aim to
continuously work to reduce the consumption of energy and water
and enhance energy and water efficiencies. For the purpose of
creating sustainable business operations, we reduce the electricity
consumption of printers and usage of lighting by rearranging the
sitting of colleagues during the Reporting Period. Enhancing
employees’ awareness on waste reduction and recycling and
progressive improvement of workplace safety and environmental
management can also sustain the business operation. We encourage
our employees to take concerted effort to achieve our environmental
targets. The Group will regularly review the implementation and
performance of different environmental protection measures and
goals.

We are pledged to comply all relevant environmental laws and
regulations. The Group was not aware of any incidents of
non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations. In this
section, we shall demonstrate our environmental strategy in relation
to emissions, use of natural resources, environmental and natural
resources, and climate change.

Air and Greenhouse Gases (“GHG"”) emissions

As the Group revolves around the provision of financial services, the
source of our greenhouse gas emissions originates mainly come from
purchased electricity consumed for the use of office operations and
fuel consumption of company vehicles. During the Reporting Period,
the total GHG emissions and its intensity are 40.93 tonnes CO,e and
0.08 tonnes of CO,e/m? respectively. The fuel combustion of vehicles
emits air pollutants, including nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides, and
particulate matter. The Group obeys and complies with Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) to minimize
air pollution.
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The following tables illustrate the GHG emission in CO, equivalent
emissions (“CO,e") for each scope and air emissions in the Reporting

TREMA R E B R2021 FF5HER_AtbixE

E(=8BRER] BHRGER

BEmR R BE

Period and 2021. RBERK -
GHG Emissions Unit 2022 2021
BERBHER By 20224 20214
Direct Emissions (Scope 1)
BHEVR(HBEN)
e Road Mobile Combustion (Unleaded Tonnes of COe

Petrol) 11.15" 70.16
o [BE EMRENIREER (FEE8TM) mE_ A b E S
Indirect Emissions (Scope 2)
B (§E2)
e Purchased Electricity Tonnes of COe 29.78 32.21
s FIEEEN mE_ A b E S
Other Indirect Emissions (Scope 3)?
H i HEEEm (§E3)?2
e Business Air Travel Tonnes of COe — —
o i 28 Z i mE_ A b E 2
Total Tonnes of CO,e 40.93 102.37
FEEY WSt E 2
Intensity? Tonnes of CO,e/m? 0.08 0.20
wE WA bk E 8 T K
Air Emissions Unit 2022 2021
BE SR BE R B 2022 % 20214F
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) kg 1.13 0.42
REA1® (NOx) NS
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) kg 0.06 0.39
mE LY (SOx) N
Particulate Matter (PM) kg 0.08 0.03
SBIZ R (PM) N

2 new vehicles were brought in July 2021, and a certain amount of

unleaded petrol is purchased in 2021, which used in both 2021 and

2022, therefore, fewer unleaded petrol is purchased in 2022, and

hence there is a decrease in GHG emission of scope 1 in 2022.

2 Since travelling was highly restricted owing to the coronavirus pandemic,
there were no business trips taken during the Reporting Period and
2021. Therefore, there were no emissions from indirect emissions (scope
3) were recorded.

3 The intensity of GHG emissions is calculated by dividing the total GHG

emissions by the gross area of the office.

1 2021 F7 A A E - U201 FHBET —F

HEMNEN TR AH2021F R2022FF/H 0 A
I - 2022 FF FREE M BB )R BIR D - 2022 F EE
WREREHEREARD

HRERESEEE LT RAZRE] - RiRSE R R
2021 FEEAMESER - Bt - MESSEMR
BEHERY (BE3)MBER -

BERBENEENGE LA BREREEERER
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Waste Management

The Group did not generate any hazardous waste during its business
operations due to the business nature. Paper for the use of business
activities and food waste were our main waste sources. Regardless of
insignificant resources usage, we strive to promote the importance of
saving resources and have adopted various measures to mitigate the
consumption of resources. We also encourage employees to reduce
waste generation by recycling and reusing papers and other materials
as far as possible. The Group obeys and complies with Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for proper
waste treatment and disposal.

BERYERE

EREBUHEER  AREREXBEEYEAESL
EARBRERY RAREBIBORRRESHSE
BEREEVRER -BEERAETIK RMABOHKE
BNERNEE N R ERNTRE RO ERER -
BRI BEREEA AN RERMRRLEM
IRIAR D EEBERY) - AREET REREF B
IF 354 ECBEMBRERD)  ZEREREEEY -

Below table outlines our non-hazardous waste generation data during  T&RBEAARE B K 2021 FEY B EEEYE £ 2
the Reporting Period and 2021: i

Non-Hazardous Waste Units 2022 2021
BEBERY B 20224 20214
Paper kg 500 530
ok N

Food waste kg 390 400
& & N

Total kg 890 930
4@t YNIN

Intensity* kg/m? 1.74 1.81
BnE R/ FIK

4 The intensity of non-hazardous waste generation is calculated by dividing 4 ,m%r;ﬂ@%fﬁFa’;ﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁ@%%a@%%ﬁu

the total volume of waste by the gross area of the office.
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Use of Resources

In view of our office-based business nature, the main energy
consumption was originated from the use of electricity for general
usage such as lighting, air-conditioning, powering of laptops,
monitors, printers and other equipment. The consumption of
unleaded petrol was originated from motor vehicles.

Below table outlines our fuel and electricity consumption data during
the Reporting Period and 2021:

BERER

%F%“*%F&E TERRERTIRE —RA
BHENER - PIRA - =5 - FIREN - &F
FHREEBREOHE - Ein)UlBERRRE R

Eo

TREAMN IR E B R2021FNE N REREFE

Energy Consumption Units 2022 2021
BEFUH #% By 20224 20214
Unleaded petrol MWh 38.17° 240.18
B £ JK FLES

Purchased electricity MWh 41.95 45.36
FREEE 7 JK FLES

Total MWh 80.12 285.54
aEt JK B

Intensity® MWh/m? 0.16 0.56
HEe KELE,/F 75 K

Natural resources were not significantly utilized in our business
activities, so the minimum environmental impacts were posed on the
natural resources during the Reporting Period. As the water supply for
the office is controlled by the property management, the data is
unavailable to individual tenants. Nonetheless we didn't pose
significant environmental impacts in this aspect, we acknowledged the
importance of environmental protection and resource conservation to
our community and adopted various measures as detailed in the
section of “Environmental Protection Measures”.

° 2 new vehicles were brought in July 2021, and a certain amount of
unleaded petrol is purchased in 2021, which used in both 2021 and
2022, therefore, fewer unleaded petrol is purchased in 2022, and
hence there is a decrease in GHG emission of scope 1 in 2022.

6 The intensity of energy consumption is calculated by dividing the total
volume of energy consumption by the gross area of the office.

BPMEREDLBARBERARAER  HARE
HRHRAERERNREZEEM - ARBRE
KRR E RS - BEEESER AP A H
o R BRI T EYBERERRREZE
BARARERRELERREEHENERZERE
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Tackling Climate Change

The Group recognizes increasingly concerns from our stakeholders
regarding climate change and its associated risk. The Group closely
reviews and monitors the potential risks and take the corresponding
action to prevent and mitigate the impact of climate change.

For physical risks, for instance, rainstorms, typhoons, hurricanes, and
other possible extreme weather conditions arising from climate
change, the Group has formulated a policy in our Employee
Handbook regarding the arrangements during adverse weather
conditions. Employees are required to inform their department head at
the earliest possible if they come across difficulties in reporting for
work in times of adverse weather conditions. We will continue to
identify and manage the climate-related risk to combat the challenges
of climate change.

Environmental Protection Measures
We have formulated environmental policies to introduce the
corresponding measures into our daily business operation. We aim at
improving our environmental performance across four focus areas by
implementing the following measures:

Emissions reduction

o Continuously promoting the concept of pollution prevention to
our employees

o Encouraging to minimise the environmental impacts in servicing
and procurement processes

Energy saving

o Unnecessary lights and air conditioners are switched off in the
unused area of the workspace

o Temperatures of air-conditioners are set to be at 24°C to 26°C
to avoid excessive consumption of electricity

o Electronic equipment including printers, laptops, monitors are
turned off when being idled
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Waste reduction

° Take environmental
recycling readiness
procurement process

protection, resource conservation and
into consideration as part of our

o Waste generated are encouraged to be reused and recycled
whenever possible

o Recyclable amenities are sorted and collected according to their
classifications and delivered to recycling vendors

o Electronic communications and electronic handling of documents
are encouraged among employees to promote resource
conservation

o Apart from the official documents that require single-sided

printing, double-sided printing and reusing of single-side printed
paper are encouraged for office operations

Water conservation

o Integrating water-saving strategies and considerations in business
and operations planning

The Board will conduct a periodic review on ESG Strategy and Policy
upon recommendation of the Working Team and is responsible for
approving changes in ESG Strategies and Policies if deemed
appropriate. As part of our regular operational meetings, we ensure
all employees are informed of our above policies and align with our
practices and enhance their awareness of environmental protection
and resources conservation.
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OUR COMMITMENT TO EMPLOYEES
Employment Practices and Labour Standards

The Group attaches great importance to its employees, as they are
our valuable assets to our sustainable business development. We strive
to create an including and discrimination-free working environment
and emphasis on equal opportunity in the decision process of
recruitment and promotion in compliance with Sex Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), and Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602 of the Laws of
Hong Kong). We have established an Employee Handbook concerning
the recruitment and remuneration policies to ensure the decision is
made only based on relevant factors such as job requirement, work
experience, qualifications and work performance of the candidates.
Gender, nationality, race, religion, disability, marital status, or
pregnancy are not involved in the consideration factors in any
recruitment or promotion process to ensure equal opportunities in
employment. Any form of discrimination would not be tolerated in
the workplace. The Group’s Employee Handbook has been established
and provided to our employees to ensure they are informed regarding
their rights and responsibilities to align with the policy. It contains the
terms and conditions of employment practices, welfare and benefit,
company rules and policies.

The Group protects employees’ rights and strictly comply with various
relevant labour laws concerning employment, including but not
limited to the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Employment of Children Regulation (Cap. 57B of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and Employment of Young Persons (Industry) Regulation
(Cap. 57C of the Laws of Hong Kong).

In addition, any child and forced labour are strictly prohibited. Our
human resources personnel would verify the personal information of
candidates during stringent recruitment process to ensure they have
met the minimum statutory working age and no forced labour is
recruited. The Group frequently reviews the employment practice and
guidelines concerning recruitment and employment to ensure
compliance with the Employment Ordinance and all applicable laws
and regulations in relation to child and forced labour. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any violation of
labor-related laws and regulations.
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Our Workforce KMWET

The total number of workforce and the distribution of employees by — REFR&EHM L2021 FEE THE - A MIRER - &
gender, employment type, employee category, age group and {EfE% - EEEF  FRANRMWEESNEE S
geographical region of the Reporting Period and 2021 are as follows:  #I1ERLAT :

Total Number of Workforce
BT 42

35
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29

2022 2021
20224 20214

Total Workforce by Gender
RURIEIDH B TR
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16 (55%) 16 (47 %)
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Total Workforce by Employment Type
REREREDHE T
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Total Workforce by Employee Category
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Total Workforce by Age Group
RFERAREIDH B T
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Total Workforce by Geographical Region
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Retaining Talents

Our employees are the foundation for the sustainable growth of our
businesses. We offer competitive remuneration packages to our
employees in order to retain and attract talents. The management
continues to review and refine the current remuneration policy with
reference to the industry standard. We also provide Mandatory
Provident Fund contributions, medical insurance and
performance-related discretionary bonuses to our employees. In
addition, we have established a share option scheme with the aim of
acknowledging, rewarding high performer and motivating the
employees to achieve goals. The following graphs outline the total
employee turnover rate and employee turnover rate by different
categories during the Reporting Period and 2021:
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Total Employee Turnover Rate*
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Employee Turnover Rate by Gender*

RIERIEI D IR B R A
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Employee Turnover Rate by Age Group*
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Employee Turnover Rate by Geographical Region*

BRI 85 B B kR

40% 36% (10)
35%
30%
25%
20%
15%
10%
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0% 0% (0) 0% (0)

2022 2021
2022 20216
I Hong Kong & I Mainland China & B a3t
* Percentage to the total number of staff (by category) as of 31 December — * HZE2022F12A31BEEIRHBRENNE D

2022
Health and Safety

Protecting employees’ health and safety is one of our core
responsibilities. We endeavour to build a safe and healthy working
environment for our employees and adhere to Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The
office layout is designed in compliance with applicable safety
ordinances to lower the risk of occupational hazards in the
workplace.

A clear instruction of fire escape written in Employee Handbook,
guides the employees about emergency preparedness when
encountering a fire hazard. The Group arranges the newly hired
employees to join the annual fire drill arranged by the service
provider of property management of the office premises. The
guideline of fire discovery and escape is as follows:

o Activate the nearest fire alarm immediately

o If there is a telephone readily available, dial 999 and report the
locality of the fire to the Police

o If the fire is within the capability of portable extinguishers and

these are readily available, an attempt should be made to
control or extinguish the fire until the arrival of assistance
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J Employees not required for firefighting duties should leave the
office premise in an orderly manner

° Lifts must not be used, use the stairs instead

o Doors should be closed when leaving the office premise but they
should not be locked

"Exit” lighting panels are equipped to clearly show the direction of
the exit aisles to aid emergency evacuation. Smoking is strictly
banned in the entire office area to prevent the risk of fire accidents
and comply with the relevant laws and regulations.

To minimize the risks of novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") pandemic,
we enacted a range of measures to prevent the virus spread in our
workplace in order to safeguard our employees’ health, including but
not limited to the following items:

° Flexible working arrangement for employees

o All employees are required to wear mask at all times at the office

o Frequently performing cleaning and disinfecting the workplace

o Offering advice on social distancing and hygiene at office and
lifts

The Group strives to uphold the principle of safety-first and actively
engage employees to minimize occupational safety incidents. All
injuries must be reported to the corresponding department head as
well as the human resources department in responding to
contingency and action to provide assistance to the injured employee.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
work-related injuries and lost days, nor experience any
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations concerning
health and safety. There were no work-related fatalities occurred in
the past three years (including the Reporting Period).

Development and Training

The Group attaches great importance to talents development and
strives to support employees to achieve their full potential. We
recognize that the knowledge and skills of employees are essential to
the long-term development of the business of the Group. Thus, we
provide 3 days of paid educational leave to motivate employees
participating in continuous professional training and education
programs for attaining the academic and professional qualifications.
The Group will keep reviewing our employee policy to increase the
employee’s capacity which fulfill our business need.

. AEERTHNBE N B T EA K7 55
W RGP

. TEEREH EEBRE

. EBEFM QGRS - EASAPIRE L - BTER
HEE

BRARRA L ORAR  BERRL DRENT
M AEBERmAL - BERQEBRERE  AB

NEERBEENRE  WEBTHBERRER -
BEHNERRES ([COVID-19)) BIEHAK I E &

K HFIHE—FRAEEAT ERSER M IHE
HERE UWRESINEE  BFEETRRIAT
£IF

. BITEMETELH

B
il

S T

NSSN

AEMAERRMEBOS

. 2
. EEHTESMETEERES

. EMANESRHARERERREENE

AEEFNBERLZ2E-—WRA - BHREET2MA
Hp  BERLBELE2EH IANIBEHA
WETHRENIPIEZEUNRANEIREF - LAY
REFMHRAZGETIREEDNTE - REEH
B AEEYEZLEFEFNIERBRIER  TE
HRERTETERRRER 20EREARLER
MER - BE=F(BRBREHR)  MERXLETHE
TR -

BREREI

FEEFRFERATHER BHAXBEIRDE
BEED - BAEED EINFRRSREHAE
EXBORAER=ZMEE - At - RAREIRY
TEHHERY  UBBET2MSENEEEII R
HEME ESBEMREXEER AEEETEHE
ERMOETHE  URSETIHEN  WERM
BRI ©

ANNUAL REPORT 3§ » 2022

69



70

[T
e

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI -HEBKREBRS

Training ratio and average training hours per employee by different P ¥R&E EAI M 20214F » 38 FE KD SBIRTRLE R 2
categories during the Reporting Period and 2021 of the Selected DML G LSS EE FHEIIBEEEAMT
Business Segments are summarized as follows:
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Training Ratio by Employee Category*
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il

Average Training Hours By Gender*
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Average Training Hours By Employee Category*
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* Training ratio and average training hours by category are divided by the

total number of employees as of 31 December 2022. As the Group
encourages more employees to participate in the continuous
professional training and education programs, the total training hours
and average training hours per employee have increased in 2022
compared with 2021.
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The Group adheres to various ordinances, rules and guidelines
including but not limited to the Securities and Futures Commission
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486), the GEM Listing Rules, the Drug
Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance (Cap. 405), the
Organized and Serious Crimes Ordinance (Cap. 455), The United
Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance (Cap. 575); and the
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial
Institutions) Ordinance (Cap. 615) (“AMLO"). Every licensed individual
is required to complete prescribed hours of continuous professional
training for each type of regulated activity in every calendar year.
Moreover, the company secretary and all Directors must take part in
continuous professional training to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure they are fully aware of their
responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules and all applicable rules,
laws and regulations.

OUR COMMITMENT IN UNDERTAKING
RESPONSIBILITIES

Supply Chain Management

Due to the office-based business nature, our Selected Business
Segments generally procure routine office consumables for business
operations in Hong Kong headquarter office, such as stationery, toner
and paper.

Despite that we do not largely rely on suppliers, the Group is
pledged to conduct our business in an ethical and safe manner. We
recognize our suppliers’ practices will affect our sustainability
performance. During the supplier assessment process, we not only
consider their capability, quality of products and services and price,
but also value their performance on labour practices, environmental
and social responsibilities. Our external suppliers are encouraged to
provide environmentally friendly alternatives for our consideration in
the procurement process. The Group avoids procuring products from
those suppliers with poor environmental image. We have used the
paper generated from responsible sources certified by Forest
Stewardship Council (FSC) for publication of quarterly, interim and
annual reports since 2016.
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We would also be aware of negative news of its suppliers, especially
in environmental and social aspects to prevent risks along our supply
chain.

With a view to continuously increasing our sustainability performance,
we will seek potential new suppliers who could offer reliable, price
competitive and environmentally friendly products. We mainly engage
with local suppliers to lower carbon footprint due to transportation.
As of 31 December 2022, the Group worked with 6 suppliers
(7 suppliers in 2021), all of which were Hong Kong-based during the
Reporting Period.

Product Responsibility
Quality Assurance

The Group is devoted to optimizing financial services to meets the
expectations of customers. To achieve this goal, the high quality of
employees is essential for the growth of business. We evaluated our
employees through comprehensive recruitment process to ensure all of
them are appropriately experienced and qualified to deliver
professional services to our customers. Besides, the Group has
established and implemented Compliance Manual that is designed to
strictly abide by all relevant laws, rules and regulations. Our
experienced management team including responsible and compliance
officers must monitor and control the business operations and
practices to ensure those are in compliance with internal policies and
all applicable laws and regulations.

Complaint Handling

We carefully listen to feedback from our customers and seriously
handle their complaints. We believe that it could constantly drive our
improvement and raise the quality of the services and products we
offer. Our customers and other stakeholders could contact us via
email, hotline and our website to express their concerns and opinions.
After receiving any complaint or dispute, it will be handled by a
responsible officer who is not directly concerned with the matter. The
responsible officer will promptly respond and properly follow-up it
accordingly until reaching an appropriate resolution. All files of
complaints must be kept confidential and kept for at least seven
years. The policy of complaint handling is outlined in the Compliance
Manual. There were no related complaints received during the
Reporting Period.
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Protection of Customer Privacy

The Group is dedicated to protecting the privacy of customers’
information and confidential data in compliance with the provisions of
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486). The policy in the
Employee Handbook stipulated employees are required to treat the
Company’s and client’s information with the strictest confidence. Such
information should not be divulged to third parties and discussed
outside the office premises. All employees are required to ensure all
personal data is kept confidential and restrict internal availability. The
customers’ information and confidential data must not be used and
disclosed to friends and relatives for any personal purposes and
benefits. All Department Heads are responsible for their department’s
security procedures on protecting confidential information.

The Group has taken various measures to prohibit unauthorized
access of customers’ data, including installation of firewall, secure
handling and storing sensitive information. We have arranged our
management to participate in training related to data privacy
regulation and its latest regulations in Hong Kong. There were no
complaints regarding data leakage are noted during the Reporting
Period.

Protection of Intellectual Property Right

The Group is responsible for protecting intellectual property. The
Group has purchased legal licenses on information system and
software within our business operations. All employees are forbidden
to download, install and use any pirated computer software on the
company’s computer.

Anti-corruption

The Group is dedicated to fostering a culture of integrity, fairness,
honesty and transparency and taking a zero-tolerance approach to
bribery and corruption in our business operation. We have formulated
policies in accordance with provisions of Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) (“PBO"). All employees are obliged to comply
with high standards of business and ethical conducts as outlined in
the Group’s Employee Handbook and Compliance Manual. Employees
are required to report to management through their department head
or the Human Resources Department of incidents or suspected cases
of corruption, theft, fraud and embezzlement. Employees found guilty
of such cases will be subject to disciplinary actions, including
termination as stated in the employment contract. Such cases will also
be reported to the police and/or Independent Commission Against
Corruption (“ICAC") if appropriate.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIG-HHEBKREBHRS

The Group has established policies and standard procedures in the
Compliance Manual for identifying and combating money laundry. The
policy stipulates customer due diligence, records retention, cash
handling and reporting of suspicious transactions to the management
of the Group. The Group strictly comply with the relevant laws and
provisions including the Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds)
Ordinance (Cap. 405), the Organized and Serious Crimes Ordinance
(Cap. 455), the United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance
(Cap. 575), and the AMLO.

The Group has regularly arranged training in relation to
anti-corruption, anti-money laundering to directors and employees.
The training materials and practical guides from ICAC are distributed
to both directors and employees regularly. We also encourage our
staff to take part in the trainings organized by external professional
parties such as Hong Kong Securities & Futures Professionals
Association, the Association of Chinese Internal Auditors and Hong
Kong Securities Institute. Through these trainings, our staff could keep
pace with the knowledge regarding code of conduct, regulatory
requirements and best practice of the above issues.

The Group was not aware of any concluded legal cases regarding
corruption, extortion, fraud and money laundering against our issuer
or employees during the Reporting Period.

Community Investment

As a socially responsible corporation, we actively seek opportunities to
enhance community wellbeing and are dedicated to supporting the
ESG conscious community to progressively grow in our sustainable
development. To achieve this purpose, we decided community
well-being as our focus area for investment and engagement with the
local communities.

The Group supported the inclusion and contributions of youth
community to the Society through donation to diverse charity
organizations, including Federation of Hong Kong Guangxi
Organizations (HKGX) and Hong Kong New Arrivals Services
Foundation Limited (HKNASF). In addition, we placed the donation
boxes of Ten Percent Donation Scheme Foundation in our office
welcoming our staff, customers and visitors to devote to the
education for underprivileged students in promoting upward social
mobility.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HEBKREBRS

The Group specifically responded to the COVID-19 pandemic over
Hong Kong in 2022. We actively donated a total of 2,000 rapid
antigen test kits of SARS-COV-2 virus protein to HKGX and HKNASF
for the relief of the intensive demand from the Society and pressure
over public health resources in March 2022.

20224 - AEEEPIHEBHCOVID-19&ZIB1EH
JEY - R2022F 38 RFBEEREEEALE K
EBFTTBALTREES BB L 2,000@FERS
RERERIAEE  WERTENRERTRLEA

KEEERNES -

2022 2021

2022%F 20214F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Cash donations HEBR 120,000 224,000

In the future, the Group will continuously explore diverse ANEEABRBTHEFERZLEE @ ARMNLES
opportunities to deliver positive influence for our community. RIEEFE -
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Report of the Directors
EF8HREE

The directors (the “Directors”) of Merdeka Financial Group Limited
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) present
the annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Cayman
Islands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room
1108, 11/F., Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Central,
Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The subsidiaries are engaged in (i) financial services business including
the securities brokerage services, provision of corporate finance
advisory services, asset management business and money lending
services; (ii) corporate consulting business including company
secretarial services, accounting and financial reporting services and
management consulting services; and (iii) digital platform business
including Blockchain-as-a-Service that provides tailor made services and
advice to businesses allowing them to use cloud-based solutions to
manage and develop their applications and smart contracts without
needing to develop and maintain their own blockchain environments.

On 23 September 2022, the Company had disposed End User
Investments Limited and its subsidiaries, which were engaged in the
trading business. Upon the completion of the disposal, the Group
ceased the operation of the trading business.

Save as disclosed, there were no significant changes in the nature of
the Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 102 to 103.

The board (the “Board”) of the Directors resolved not to pay any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 is set out in the “Chairman’'s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 7 and pages 8
to 22 respectively.
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Report of the Directors
E5ERESE

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years are set out on
page 240.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND CONVERTIBLE
BONDS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital, share options
and convertible bonds during the year are set out in notes 33, 40
and 32 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2022, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution (2021: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the Company

or by the Group after 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
report.
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Report of the Directors
SEERSE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers (including
continuing and discontinued operations), respectively, during the
financial year is as follows:

EEFPREER
BEIZ2EPMEEERMERERE D HMENARE

EHEERREE (O R ECERD RIS
) EBERT

Percentage of the Group’s

total sales

HEAEEBAHEEEES L
2022 2021
20224 20214
Largest customer SN 29.55% 17.36%
Five largest customers hAREFHE 53.88% 37.29%

Percentage of the Group’s
total purchase

hEREEAKBEES L
2022 2021
20225 20214F
Largest supplier BAHER 21.63% 25.47%
Five largest suppliers R ERE R 62.12% 85.84%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
The Group made donations in various charity activities for

approximately HK$120,000 during the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: approximately HK$224,000).
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Report of the Directors
E5ERESE

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Hin Shek
Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson
Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina
Mr. Wong Wing Kit
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
one vyear and will continue thereafter from year to year until
terminated by either party and are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company (the
“AGM") in accordance with the Amended and Restated Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).
According to the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to article 87 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Wong Hin
Shek and Mr. Wong Wing Kit will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM, and, both retiring Directors are eligible and will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

In accordance with the nomination policy of the Company, the
nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) has reviewed the biographies of each of Mr. Wong Hin
Shek, being executive Director and Mr. Wong Wing Kit, being
independent non-executive Director who will be subject to retirement
and re-election at the AGM, and taking into consideration their
knowledge, experience, capability and various diversity aspects as set
out in the board diversity policy of the Company as well as their
overall contributions and services to the Company, including their
attendance of Board/general meetings and the level of participation
and performance on the Board over the years. The Nomination
Committee also assessed and reviewed the written confirmation of
independence of Mr. Wong Wing Kit, based on the independence
criteria as set out in rule 5.09 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM (the “"GEM Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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SEERSE

The Nomination Committee is of the view that Mr. Wong Wing Kit
will continue to contribute to the Board with their respective
perspectives, skills and experience. In addition, none of Mr. Wong
Wing Kit does not have any financial or family relationships with any
other Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company, which could give rise to a conflict of
interests situation or otherwise affect their exercise of independent
judgement. The Nomination Committee believes that Mr. Wong Wing
Kit remains committed to him role as independent non-executive
Directors and will continue to be independent.

Taking into consideration of the above, recommendations to the
Board for the proposal for re-election of Mr. Wong Hin Shek as an
executive Director and Mr. Wong Wing Kit as an independent non-
executive Director were made by the Nomination Committee and the
Board accepted the nomination by the Nomination Committee and
recommended Mr. Wong Hin Shek and Mr. Wong Wing Kit to stand
for re-election by the Shareholders at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ CHANGES IN INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the changes in
information of the Director(s) are set out below:

With effect from 15 August 2022, Mr. Wong Hin Shek has resigned
as an independent non-executive director of Fresh Express Delivery
Holdings Group Co. Limited (a company formerly listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1175 and delisted on 9
February 2023).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Wong Hin Shek, Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson and
Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping, being the executive Directors, has entered into
a service agreement with the Company for a term of two years from
the date of appointment/agreement and which will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party and are subject to
retirement and re-election at the AGM in accordance with the
Articles. Each of the other three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina, Mr. Wong Wing Kit and Ms. Yeung
Mo Sheung, Ann has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of one year from the date of appointment and
which will continue thereafter until terminated by either party and are
subject to retirement and re-election at the AGM in accordance with
the Articles of Association.

No Director had a service contract with the Company, which is not

determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Report of the Directors
SEERESE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares of the
Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings
by Directors as referred to in rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company

ESERKRSTHRAERRALIESNIES

MR2022%F12A318 ' ARREZRESTTHRAER
RABREFMBEEZE (TEEFHRBEKD
(BAEBIESTE)([BHERBEGKRH) EXVED) 2
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Approximate

percentage

of the total

Number of issued share

Nature of interest/ Number of underlying capital of the

Name of Director Capacity Shares held Shares held Total Company "t

EARFE

BRITKR

BEHER rEEe

BEEHA BEME/ HH BERGEAE RO EE my BREaty

Mr. Wong Hin Shek ™t ) Controlled corporation 136,755,500 100,978,220 (ete 2 237,733,720 41.95%

FBEAEL Y 4% 0 2

Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson Beneficial owner 5,578 — 5,578 0.001%
REBLE ERBEAA

Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping Beneficial owner 900,000 — 900,000 0.16%
EEESE R EnBEEA

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina Beneficial owner — 113,513 113,513 0.02%
RRELL EnBEEA

Mr. Wong Wing Kit Beneficial owner — 113,513 113,513 0.02%
BKERE ERBEAA

Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann Beneficial owner — 113,513 113,513 0.02%
BRELL ERBEAA
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Notes:

(1) The interest is held by Team Sunny International Holdings Limited (“Team
Sunny”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands owned as
to 100% by Mr. Wong Hin Shek. Mr. Wong is also the sole director of
Team Sunny.

(2) The Company issued to Team Sunny convertible bonds (the “2022 CBs")
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$91,000,000 which set off
existing bonds in the outstanding principal amount of HK$91,000,000
on 28 December 2022 (the “Issue Date”). The conversion price per
conversion share is HK$0.903 from Issue Date to 21 May 2023 for
HK$36,000,000 of the convertible bonds, HK$0.90 from Issue Date to
12 August 2023 for HK$55,000,000 of the convertible bonds and
HK$0.186 from the aforesaid dates until the maturity date of the 2022
CBs (i.e. 12 August 2024) (the “Maturity Date”).

(3) The percentage has been calculated based on 566,728,946 Shares in issue
as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, at
31 December 2022, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as referred
to in rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
SEERESE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company:

FERRREMATIRARALIESFNIES

2022124318 - TIIAT (BREERAR G &
BITBABIN RARR 2B HSEEROTHES
BIEBER IS ENEXVEE2RIDEBMEARRD
BIRARARBESF MAEKRNEIBCETENE
EMANESRARIT

REQXARGREBRO 2HA

Approximate
percentage of the

Number of total issued share

Nature of Number of underlying capital of the

Name of Shareholder interest/Capacity Shares held Shares held Total Company e 9

HAERREHIT

BEHEHE RA BT

BREREH BREE /S5 RERGEE RO EE By B

Team Sunny Mete ” Beneficial owner 136,755,500 100,978,220 Mete2) 237,733,720 41.95%
SEE R (i) EREE A Wi2)

Notes: Hiet -

(1) The interest is held by Team Sunny, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands owned as to 100% by Mr. Wong Hin Shek. Mr. Wong is
also the sole director of Team Sunny.

(2) The Company issued to Team Sunny the 2022 CBs on the Issue Date.
The conversion price per conversion share is HK$0.903 from Issue Date
to 21 May 2023 for HK$36,000,000 of the convertible bonds, HK$0.90
from Issue Date to 12 August 2023 for HK$55,000,000 of the
convertible bonds and HK$0.186 from the aforesaid dates until the
Maturity Date.

3) The percentage has been calculated based on 566,728,946 Shares in issue
as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are not aware that there is any party who, as at
31 December 2022, had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the
SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group. The share option scheme of the Company
was approved and adopted by the Shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 30 December 2020 (the
“Share Option Scheme”). Unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
the Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from the date of its adoption. The Board may, at their
discretion, offer options to any Directors of the Group, full time or
part time employees of the Group ; and any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives, consultants, advisers,
suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees (including any
sub-licensees) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including any sub-
tenants) of the Group (the “Eligible Participants”) to subscribe for
shares of the Company (the “Shares”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under all share option scheme must not exceed 30% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of Shares available for issue under share
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue. The maximum
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted and to be granted to each Participant (including both
exercised and outstanding share options) in any 12-month period up
to the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at
the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of the
above limit must be subject to shareholders’ approval with such
Participant and his associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
abstaining from voting.

If share options are granted to a substantial Shareholder (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) or an independent non-executive Director or
any of their respective associates would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all share options already granted
and to be granted (including share options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant (a) representing in aggregate over
0.1 per cent. of the Shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate
value, based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of Options must
be approved by the Shareholders at a general meeting of the
Company, with voting to be taken by way of a poll. The Company
must send a circular to the Shareholders. The grantee, his associates
and all core connected persons of the Company must abstain from
voting in favour of the proposed grant at such general meeting. Any
vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such share options
must be taken on a poll and comply with the requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Upon acceptance of the share option offers, the grantee shall pay
HK$1 to the Company as consideration for each offer. The share
option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21 days (or such
shorter period as the Board may from time to time determine) from
the date on which the share option is granted. The exercise period of
the share options granted is determinable by the Directors and
commences after a certain vesting period, if any, as determined by
the Directors and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years
from the date of the offer of the share options.

The subscription price of the share in respect of any particular share
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as
the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such
price shall be not less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange as shown in the daily
quotation sheet on the date of the grant of the share option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the
Shares as shown in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on
the five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant of
the share option; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share on the date
of grant.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

As at 31 December 2022, a total of 798,663 share options of the
Company (the “Share Options”) were lapsed. Save and except for the
aforesaid, no Share Option was granted, exercised, cancelled, expired
or lapsed during the year.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had 6,960,644 accumulated
total outstanding Share Options, which entitled holders thereof to
subscribe for 6,960,644 Share Options under the Share Option
Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.132 per Share. Save for the
aforementioned Share Options, the Company does not have any other
outstanding Share Options. The total number of shares available for
issue by the Company under the Share Option Scheme was
48,506,228 shares, which represents approximately 8.56% of the
Company’s issued shares as at 31 December 2022.
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The following table summarised movements of the Company’s share
options under the Share Option Scheme and the Old Share Option
Scheme (as defined below) during the year:

For the year ended 31 December 2022:

BRI L EBRETE (EXRTX) TARR
BRENFRAZSHIOT :

B E2022F12A831BLFE :

Number of Share Options

BREYE
Outstanding Outstanding Price of the
as at Cancelled/ as at Shares before
1 January Granted during Exercised during  Lapsed during 31 December Date of Exercise  the date of Exercise
Grantees/Capacity EBA/ &f 2022 the period the period the period 2022 grant period  grant "¢?  price "¢
2022 R2022% R AHA
1818 iR 12A318 ZBBER 1@
HRTE REARH WERTHE 2/ 5% HRTE  BREAH x4 Bi2) ha)
Per Share  Per Share
Bk Bk
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BIYFHTES
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina REERT 113,513 - - - 13513 2012021 201172021~ 0014 0132
19/1/2026
Mr. Wong Wing Kit ERBEE 113,513 — - — 113513 20112021 20172021~ 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BRERT 113,513 - - - 13513 2012021 20/172021- 0014 0132
197112026
Employees and other eligible EERABAER
participants 28%
Employees of the Group rEEES 3,405,403 — — (794,594) 2,610,809 20/1/2021 201172021~ 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Other eligible participants 474 EthABRSEEHEY 4,069 Mo — - (4,069) — 30552012 30/52012- 0017 293647
#929) 29/5/2022
4,009,296 - - - 400929 2012021 20112021~ 0.014 0.132
197172024
7,759,307 — - (798,663) 6,960,644

Notes: Hat -

1. The exercise price of the Share Options is subject to adjustment in the 1. BIRIEZITEERAREMEET  HIR  RODF
case of capitalisation issue, rights issue, subdivision or consolidation of KEH A RBRAEMEBUSEMIELAE -
the Shares, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

2. The price of the Shares before the date of the grant of the Share Options 2. BRORBREREBHNZES  REEBERER
is the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange on HRERIZR S BRMD R FAARZ W HE -
the trading day immediately before the date on which the Share
Options were granted.

3. Share Options under the old share option scheme of the Company (the 3. ARATEPA20125 A3 B HA & 2020612 A30H

“Old Share Option Scheme"”) which adopted by the Company on 3
May 2012 and terminated at an extraordinary general meeting held on
30 December 2020.
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4. Included in the class of other eligible participants, 4,069 Share Options
were granted to 4 former Directors and lapsed on 29 May 2022 and
4,009,296 Share Options were granted to 9 consultants.

The Share Options granted to former Directors were reallocated from
the categories of “Executive Directors” and “Independent non-executive
Directors” after their cessation to be Directors of the Group. Pursuant to
the OId Share Option Scheme, their Share Options are valid till the
expiry date of the exercise period, 29 May 2022. 4,069 Share Options
were lapsed on 29 May 2022.

The consultants possess extensive experience in, including but not
limited to, private and public equity investments, crypto and blockchain
technology development and accounting and financial management
respectively. The grant of Share Options to the consultants is to provide
them an incentive to (i) optimize their performance for the benefit of
the Group; (ii) share of their respective relevant experience, knowledge
and network to improve of the business operating system of the Group;
and (i) introduce or refer viable business opportunities to the Group, in
order to achieve a long term growth for the Group.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had outstanding the
convertible bonds issued by the Company on 12 August 2008 of
aggregate principal amounts of HK$14,068,000 which could be
converted into 15,631,111 Shares and the convertible bonds issued by
the Company on 28 December 2022 of aggregate principal amounts
of HK$91,000,000 which could be converted into 100,978,220
Shares.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and chief
executive's Interests in securities of the Company” and “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2022 was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or associated
corporations, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors and
chief executive of the Company (including their respective spouse and
children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any of its associated corporations.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the vyear, the following Directors are considered to have
interests in businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules:

Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping, an executive Director, is a director of
Bridgeharbour (HK) Management Service Company Limited
("BMSCL"”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability which is principally engaged in the provision of company
secretarial services for non-listed Hong Kong companies in Hong
Kong. The business of BMSCL competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly of the company secretarial services business of the
Group. To safeguard the Group’s interest, Ms. Tsang has irrevocably
and unconditionally provided the Company an undertaking in
accordance with the terms and conditions under outside interests and
non-competition undertaking set out in her service agreement.

As the Board is independent of the boards of the aforesaid
companies and maintains three independent non-executive Directors,
the Group operates its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from, the businesses of the aforesaid companies.

Further, the Articles also expressly provides that if a substantial
shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in the matter or
business to be considered by the Board and the Board has
determined that such conflict of interest to be material, the matter or
business shall not be dealt with by way of written resolutions, but a
Board meeting attended by the independent non-executive Directors
who have no material interest in the matter shall be held to
deliberate on the same. The Directors believe that the Group's
interests are adequately protected by its Articles, the good corporate
governance practices and the involvement of the independent non-
executive Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, save as disclosed above and
as so far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors,
substantial shareholder or their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in business which competes or is
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of
the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which any of the
Company’s subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time
during the year or at the end of the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme and convertible bonds of the
Company, no other equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company, or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.8 of the Corporate Governance Code
in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules and subject to the
provisions of the Companies Ordinance, the Company has arranged
for appropriate insurance cover for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in
respect of any losses or liabilities incurred, or any legal actions
brought against the directors and senior management of the Group
which may arise out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity
provision is in force for the benefit of the directors as required by
section 470 of the Companies Ordinance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or in existence during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed, the Company did not have any other connected
transactions which were subject to the reporting requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the vyear, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The emolument policy of the senior employees of the Company is set
and recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) to the Board on the basis of the
employees’ merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are formulated and recommended
by the Remuneration Committee to the Board, having regards to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance of the Directors
and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
the Directors and eligible employees of the Company, details of which
are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statement.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Company encourages environmental protection and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection. The Company has
adhered to the concepts of recycling and reducing by implementing
green office practices such as double-sided printing and copying,
using recycle papers and reducing energy by switching off those idle
lighting. The Board will review the Company’s environmental saving
practices and identify other energy efficiency opportunities from time
to time.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are our valuable assets. Thus
the Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract and
motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of employees and makes necessary adjustments
to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners to achieve its long-term goals.
Accordingly, our senior management have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business update with them
when appropriate. During the year, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its business partners.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group has reviewed the possible risks and uncertainties which
may affect its businesses, financial condition, operations and
prospects. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified
by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition
to those shown below which are not known to the Group or which
may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.

(@)  The Group's financial services business and corporate consulting
business are facing significant competition which may affect its
profitability if the Group fails to maintain its competitiveness;

(b)  The business operations and performance are significantly
affected by the uncertainty about the customer behaviour and
preferences, such as changes on customer expectation upon
new regulations or requirements, and relatively price
competitive. If the Group is unable to respond to such changes
promptly, the Group may not be able to compete effectively
against its competitors and may lost its market share;

() The Group may face the risk of business sustainability arising
from low awareness of potential change in the business
environment under outbreak of contagious diseases, such as
novel coronavirus pandemic, which causes a significant
economic downturn;

(d)  The Group’s success depends on professional and experienced
staff to provide regulated and consulting services. Failure to
attract, motivate and retain skilled and talented individuals
would have an adverse impact on the Group’s operations;

(e)  Services provided through securities trading facilities to customers
or daily operations might be delayed, interrupted, or even
terminated due to system failure caused by damages from
natural disasters, power outage or any other disruptive actions
resulted from lagging technology. Material impact on the
Group’s operations and financial performance may be caused;

(f) Delays or failure in payments by customers, or delay repayment
of loans by borrowers may adversely affect the Group's
financial position and profitability. The Group may have to incur
additional legal expenses for legal proceedings and/or
enforcement of collaterals and/or make provision for impairment
or write-off the relevant receivables;
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(@) The licensed corporations and money lending business under
financial services business segment are regulated under the SFO
and Money Lending Ordinance (“MLO") respectively. Any failure
of compliance would be subject to disciplinary action, or even
revoke or suspend on relevant licence;

(h)  Both of the financial services business and corporate consulting
business are required to comply with Anti Money Laundering
related statutory and regulatory requirements under SFO and
issued by the Companies Registry and the Hong Kong
government respectively. If the Group fails to comply with the
relevant requirements and guidelines, it may be subject to
disciplinary actions or even suspension of operation.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year

ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Full details on the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out on pages 26 to 49.
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Report of the Directors
SEERESE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established with written terms of reference which are in line with the
Corporate Governance Code in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules
and comprises three independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Company and the external auditor the Group’s annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2022, and was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results are in compliance with the relevant
accounting standards, rules and regulations and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as required under the GEM
Listing Rules throughout the financial period under review and up to
the date of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Wong Hin Shek
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
22 March 2023
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elite
- partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Merdeka
Financial Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 102 to 239, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 31 1% 816 IR &5

We draw attention to Note 3.4 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$27,820,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 and, as of
that date, the Company had net liabilities of HK$28,935,000. As
stated in Note 3.4, these events or conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in Note 3.4, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect
of this matter.

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had goodwill of HK$5,600,000
and intangible assets of approximately HK$16,467,000 which were
belongs to multiple cash-generating units (“CGUs").

For the purpose of the impairment assessment of goodwill and
intangible assets, the Group had assessed the discount cash flow of
the Group for the recoverable amount of each CGU at the end of the
reporting period.

We had identified impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible
assets as a key audit matter because significant management
estimation was required to determine the key assumptions including
estimated future income, operating margins and discount rate, etc.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our major audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
the goodwill and intangible assets included the following:

o We obtained and understood the Group’s process regarding the
determination of value in use value of the goodwill and
intangible assets;

o We evaluated of the independent valuers’
capabilities, independence and objectivity;

competence,

o We evaluated the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and techniques used in determining the value in
use of the goodwill and intangible assets; and

o We evaluated the appropriateness of the estimation and
estimates of key assumptions used in determining the value in
use of the goodwill and intangible assets.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B %SRS

Responsibility of The Directors of the Company and The Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determined is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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We communicate with The Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide The Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with The Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Ho Kwan with practising certificate number
PO7543.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 22 March 2023

10th Floor,
8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

I\
rolEa REMERWAR
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EE2022F12A31HIEFE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
(i FHx FHET
Continuing operations HEREER
Revenue WA 6 18,151 21,195
Other income and gains/(losses) /\ﬁﬂ%]\&”ﬁl =/ (E18) 8 589 2,295
Operating and administrative expenses BRITHER (34,418) (32,480)
Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment loss) ﬁ%%ﬂ&ﬁlﬁﬁ@ﬁ@ﬁﬂﬁ/
on trade receivables CRIEERE) 24 208 (245)
Impairment loss on deposits and Be R E A EYGIE R EBE
other receivables 25 (5) (14)
Impairment loss on loans receivable ERERREREE 26 (814) (32)
Reversal of impairment loss on finance lease & i & fE B & BlRE
receivables &8 — 950
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries BB AR E R 2 39(b), (c) & (d) 21 26
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries KB REUEARA ABRZ BB 39(f) — (4,052)
Share of loss of associates DAREE &N B R B8 20 (183) —
Finance costs A& KA 9 (13,724) (11,819)
Loss before income tax BRATBHAIER 10 (30,175) (24,176)
Income tax credit ST % 13 75 26
Loss after income tax from continuing RE B ELEEBNRIEH
operations & 518 (30,100) (24,150)
Discontinued operation BRIEREER
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued R EBRILEEEBHER
operation w Al (E18) 7 2,280 (6,638)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEER (27,820) (30,788)

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mOBRREMWEBRRAR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P 5T FEx FAT
Other comprehensive income: Hg2EWA :
Items that may be subsequently HEngEE D E R
reclassified to profit or loss: ZHEA -
Exchange differences arising on translation 28§ /M & E B) H [& i,
of foreign operations =7 — (89)
Release of exchange reserve upon Pt A RIBUEARE ARRE
deconsolidation of subsidiaries iR R P 5 R 39(f) — 14,004
Item that will not be subsequently BT 8B 7 HE R
reclassified to profit or loss: ZIHEE -
Changes in fair value of financial assets at AR EETAEMEME
fair value through other comprehensive ~ WA Z & BEEAFE
income (=B 21 (1,862) (545)
Other comprehensive income for AEEHMEEKRA
the year (1,862) 13,370
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR ZAFEZHEAUKA
THE YEAR (29,682) (17,418)
Loss for the year attributable to: EhEAREEES:
Owners of the Company RATREES A (27,820) (31,123)
Non-controlling interests FE PR R = — 335
(27,820) (30,788)
Total comprehensive income EBEE2EAWA :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RABREREE A (29,682) (17,844)
Non-controlling interests FEFE R HE = — 426
(29,682) (17,418)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AABRERET AEMN
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY BREE 15
From continuing and discontinued REFAKEREAL
operations X
Basic and diluted EAR K #E (HK$0.053/&35t)  (HK$0.107/E7T)
From continuing operations REFERLEEK
Basic and diluted ERR#H (HK$0.057;87t)  (HK$0.0847% 7T)
From discontinued operation REDKRIEREEK
Basic and diluted EARK#E HK$0.004 % 7T (HK$0.0237%7T)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fn 6 B 5 A R R &R

As at 31 December 2022 20224 12A31H

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ihg=2 FExT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WERE 16 1,903 3,055
Statutory deposit EERE 510 510
Goodwill B 17 5,600 5,470
Intangible assets B EE 18 16,467 3,394
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 19 6,562 10,142
Interests in associates AN - 3 20 522 —
Financial assets at fair value through other M AFEEAHEMEE
comprehensive income WAZEREE 21 3,053 2,185
Financial assets at fair value through RAFEEFABRZZS
profit or loss BB E 22 372 390
Rental deposits HEEE 25 1,354 1,358
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 36,343 26,504
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 23 418 279
Trade receivables =) & 24 2,383 8,160
Contract assets BHEE 349 —
Prepayments, deposits and TEFRIE - HRe REAME
other receivables WRIE 25 627 764
Loans receivable R E R 26 3,703 5,142
Financial assets at fair value through RAFEEFABRZZS
profit or loss BB E 22 312 298
Tax recoverable AT U B3 18 156 —
Bank balances — trust accounts IRITHE R — E55ERF 27 11,775 11,383
Bank balances and cash — RITHBRRIRE —
general accounts —RRERF 27 23,031 36,360
Total current assets mMENEELE 42,754 62,386
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B 5 RIE 29 13,083 16,474
Contract liabilities AHAE 88 —
Other payables and accruals HMENRIERETER 30 2,495 3,561
Convertible bonds AR ES 32 12,935 —
Lease liabilities HEEE 28 3,830 3,314
Tax payables JE 1~ 4 18 — 94
Total current liabilities mE) A EERE 32,431 23,443
Net current assets REBEETH 10,323 38,943
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERREBEE 46,666 65,447

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RO IEAR IR IR XK

As at 31 December 2022 M 2022F12831H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIERE 31 431 560
Convertible bonds Al AR (R 32 72,175 85,557
Lease liabilities HEAR 28 2,995 6,825
Total non-current liabilities EREAERE 75,601 92,942
Net liabilities BEFHE (28,935) (27,495)
EQUITY R
Share capital A&7 33 56,673 48,506
Reserves {1 (85,608) (76,001)
Equity attributable to owners of the ARERERER AE
Company = (28,935) (27,495)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 2= — —
Total deficiency B A2 58 (28,935) (27,495)

These consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to 239 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22
March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wong Hin Shek
THEE
Director

BEF

HREIRE29HENZEHAV B HRREHESS
R2023F3F 2B ZERTET|E - WAHIATES

KREF:

Tsang Kwai Ping
oS
Director

BF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HORRIERZBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318IEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ALARERAARS
Fair value
Equity through other
component of Capital Exchange  comprehensive Non-
Share Share  Contributed  convertible ~ Share option reduction  fluctuation income Other  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium* surplus* bonds* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses* Total interests  Total equity
HUATEE

TRKER2 BEE  RAHE  EXR® ARE2E
Bx  RitEEr  AAR%:  EEBH: ffe fife B RARR  HblR ZHEE &t FERER R
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000 HKS000 HK§000 HKS'000 HKSO00  HKS000  HKSOOO  HKSO0  HKSO0  HKS'000
TR ThIL TR TR T TR ThRL TiEn Tin TR TR Tin TR

1 January 2021 ROE1A18 13232 1,096,884 86,710 51,928 25,004 163,191 (13824) 730 (6,548) (1,460,090 (62,783) 8082 (54,701)
Comprehensive income 2EHA
Loss/(profit) for the year KEEFBE/(F) - = - - - - N - N (31,123) (31,123) 335 (30,788)

Other comprehensive income ~ H#2EHA
Exchange difference arising on BEHMIEERNE

translation of foreign RER

operations = = = = = = (180) = = = (180) 91 (89)
Release of exchange reseve to ~ MEAARERA AR

profit or loss upon BRRERGRE

deconsolidation of B

subsidiaries = = = = = = 14,004 = = = 14,004 = 14,004

Changes in fair value of financal ~ WATFEE AL #2
assets at fair value through EMAZSREED
other comprehensive income TEEES = - - - - - - (545) - - (545) - (545)

Total comprehensive income ENZENALE

for the year - - - - - bt 13824 (545) - (31,123) (17,844) 426 (17.418)
Issuance of shares (Note 33) BORG (H#33) 34,631 17316 = - - - o - = - 51,947 - 51,947
Transaction cost for rights issue (R X BRA(Hit33)

(Note 33) = (m) = = = = = = = = (112) = (172)
Recognition of equity-settled DR BERRERE

share-based payment expenses ERFRR = = = = 997 = = = = = 997 - 997
Proceed from exercise of share T RRIERTEHE

options 643 317 - - = - - - = - 960 - 960
Exercise of share options FERE - 183 - - 483) - - - - - - - -
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries WEBRARMAGA AR N - - N - - - - = - = (8,508) (8,508)
At 31 December 2021 and RONENANER

1 lanvay 2022 ANFIAI 306 1042 670 S8 k5 1609 - 185 6568 (49123 (7499 - wm
Comprehensive income 2ERA

Loss for the year TERER - - - - - - - - - (27,820) (27,820) - (27,820)

Other comprehensive income ~~ Efs2EKA
Changes in fair value of financel ~ WAFEEALf
assets at fair value through RNz EREE

other comprehensive income ATEERD - - - - - - - (1,862) - - (1,862) - (1,862)
Total comprehensive income FRZENALE

for the year - - - - - - - (1,862) - (27,820) (29,682) - (29,682)
Issuance of consideration shares BT BRA (33)

(Note 33) 6,667 8,466 - - - - - - - - 15133 - 15133
Issuance of shares (Hote 33) Bl (Hit33) 1,500 1,650 - - - - - - - - 3,150 - 3,150
Lapsed of share options BRERNR - - - - (25,057) - - - - 25,057 - - -
Released of contributed surplus upon (£ EME 2 4 B & A

disposal of subsidiaries B - - (48,507) - - - - - - 48,507 - - -
Redemption of convertible bonds AR E% - - - (1,532) - - - - - 1219 (313) - 313)
Modification of the terms of BamaRER KR

convertible bonds - - 50,670 (40,398) - - - - - - 10,272 - 10,272
At 31 December 2022 #200%12A318 56,673 1124344 68,873 9,998 461 163,191 - (1,677 (6,548)  (1,444,250) (28,935) - (28,935)

* These reserve accounts comprised the reserve balances as presented in  * ZERERB RIERGE M B R KT 2580
the consolidated statement of financial position. KEER ©

337#
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

u'lT () iﬁ ﬁ ;lltl E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A31HIEFE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & FET FHBT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax B P13 R BT ET18
Continuing operations FECE T (30,175) (24,176)
Discontinued operation BRI T 2,280 (6,638)
Total &5t (27,895) (30,814)
Adjustments for: R
Finance costs A& B A 9 13,724 11,922
Interest income B YA 8 (42) (12)
Amortisation of intangible assets 8 B Y 5 18 967 228
Depreciation of property, plant and M BEREENE
equipment 16 1,178 1,143
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 19 3,580 4,226
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B ARz W (a)&(e) (2,796) (1)
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries Mﬁ%@ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%%z%ﬁ_ﬁ ), (Q)&(d) (21) (26)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries MT% AIEUEAR A AR 2 B8 39(f) — 4,052
Changes in fair value of financial assets A?fﬁﬁﬁ)\?ﬁﬁnz
at fair value through profit or loss CHEENTEBEED 8 499 809
Waiver of other payables % G At JE < FRE — (722)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment 2 5 & U 218 (3 @5 (E
loss on trade receivables E18),/RE B 24 (208) 232
Impairment loss on deposits and Ze R E A FE MR IB R (B & 1B
other receivables 25 5 14
Impairment loss on loans receivable FEUE FORE 18 26 814 32
Reversal of impairment loss on finance @& & W IBRER B
lease receivables B [a] — (950)
Written off of deposits and other 2@ I E i B YRR IR 55
receivables 8 5,682
Share of loss of associates DIEEE D TEﬂ@ 20 183 —
Share-based payment expense A BERENRFAX 10 — 997
Operating loss before working capital HhEEESEHHILEBAE
changes (10,004) (3,188)
Decrease in inventories FERD 279 98
Decrease in trade receivables B 5 B W R IE R 6,345 6,861
Increase in contract assets &4 ’]é?i' pill (349) —
Increase in loans receivable Fgllﬁl% I N 625 5,858
Decrease in finance lease receivables A& TH & R MR IR R A — 950
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and  FEfFRIE » 2 d K& E (B UK
other receivables R 129 331
(Increase)/decrease in bank balances RITHES — EERPR D (O
— trust account ),/ (392) 15,995
Decrease in trade payables B 5 ENRIER D (2,567) (24,390)
Increase in contract liabilities AXEEEM 88 i
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and — Hfth & {1 3R & SE &t AR E 0,
accruals CRd 753 (199)
Increase in financial assets at fair value LA@$F1§;.+JKTE SLERMEE
through profit or loss SEERIE N (442) —
Cash (used in)/generated from operations & <;&8) (FTH) / ELzRE (5,535) 2,316
Tax paid Eﬁwﬁ (214) (477)
Net cash (used in)/generated from weEs (R EEzRe
operating activities FER (5,749) 1,839
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE

2022412 A31BILFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 THERT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest income received 2 ERIT R EHA 8 42 12
Purchases of property, plant and EAME  BEREE
equipment 16 (23) (3,448)
Payment for financial assets at fair value MARAFEE AEMEERA
through other comprehensive income ZEREEMNK 21 (2,730) —
Payment of rental deposits, net of refund &S MBRER — 136
Net cash inflow from acquisition of WM B AR 2R e
a subsidiary AR 38 92 —
Net cash outflows from acquisition of WS AN E 2 REe R
an associate FEE 20 (559) —
Net cash outflow from deconsolidation of BB R RIEUEAAS AR Z
subsidiaries WE R FE 39() — (5)
Net cash inflow from disposal of R —ERBARZ
a subsidiary BemAFE 39(a)&(e) (26) 38
Net cash used in investing activities KETEMBZEEFHE (3,204) (3,267)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETHHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest paid on bank borrowings and HBITERRBITEZ N2
bank overdrafts FE — (103)
Proceeds from placing of shares @E%Hﬂ/ﬁﬁf{@fﬁ& 3,150 —
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 4 BRE% 36 77 % @ R A7 15 2 18
upon rights issue R 33 — 51,947
Transaction costs for rights issue A% 9 22 5 A A 33 — (772)
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary IEEREREITERRMAG
shares upon exercise of share options FIE S — 960
Repayment of other payables B2 A FE T FRIR — (36,827)
Repayment of principal portion of lease EERERBEASSS
liabilities (3,314) (3,953)
Repayment of interest portion of lease ~ EEHEEBFEHD
liabilities 28 (405) (134)
Repayments of bank borrowings BERITER — (851)
Payment for redemption of convertible &[] A[ A% & 5 2 1+ 5%
bonds (3,807) ==
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEES (A EEzEE
financing activities R (4,376) 10,267
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH HE&RBRE£EEEAE (L)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1 InF R (13,329) 8,839
Bank balances and cash RITEBRE S
— general accounts at the beginning — FY—BEP
of the year 36,360 27,610
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, JMNEEREE) 222 - F58
net — (89)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRReRREEEER
of the year 23,031 36,360
Analysis of the balances of cash and BE&RBEESSEBEB LB
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash — general RITEARIE S
accounts — —RERF 27 23,031 36,360
Cash and cash equivalents as at year FRReRREEEERB
ended 23,031 36,360
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its share are listed on GEM. Its registered office is
located at the offices of Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands and the
principal place of business is located at Room 1108, 11/F, Wing
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.
The Directors consider the immediate holding company and
ultimate holding company to be Team Sunny International
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the principal activity
of the Company was investment holding. The principal activities
of the subsidiaries comprised of financial services business,
corporate consulting business and digital platform business.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS")

(@) Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs — effective 1
January 2022

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) has applied for
the first time the following new or revised standards,
amendments and interpretations (the “new or revised
HKFRSs”) issued by the HKICPA, which are relevant to
and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January
2022:

Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendment to HKFRS 1, Annual Improvements to
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16 and HKFRS Standards 2018—
HKAS 41 2020

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

HE2022F12 8318 IEEE

Statements

NCIEYE

RAARA—HRASHETMKIZERA
A HRMARGEMLE™ - HMMEERARN
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands * 1 Z& B AN B ERRTH
BRI KLZPOIENRE -EERAE
HEEERA T R &R A T 7R B R 4%
RERAR  —HREBEXESTMAL
EO/NETIE

HZE2022F12A31HIEFE  ARARNEE
EBAKREER  MEBARMEEZELR
RFeBMRBEENS CEBZAXESRBEFES
R o

IS B RIS ER ((BBWMH R

SHERI

(a) BFPFTREIETEBMIBRELER —
H2022F 1A 1A BEN

RAREE KRB REWE QR (5E
[Z&EE|)BXERULNTHESSTM
NERM 2T REIERTER ~ BE] A
eI HE T S CHE I
Al ERAREBMN2022F1B1BHBZ
FEHBZEAVB®REREH  WER
RZEFIERE -

BEMBREEL BSERZ2REL
LA
BEMBREEL BAEYHHREEL

FE159% - BB 20184 22020
EHRE2ERIZE9 FZFEENRE

%~ BB MR
HFEAFE1655% M
BREGHERE

4158 (I8ET &)
EE SR ME - BB REE
F165R 25T — RE#E A
BAZ BTS00
AR %A BEEAN —
FE375Z2AEET [B1TE H 2B AR
BBV BHRELER BEMBRELER
Z183E] 20184 %2020
FZFERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12A31HIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs (Continued)

None of these new or revised HKFRSs has a material
impact on the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior period. The Group has not early
applied any new or revised HKFRSs that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.

(b) New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective

The following new or revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have
been issued, but are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

/ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024.
2 The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale

or contribution of assets occurring in annual periods
beginning on or after a date to be determined.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

(b)

New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments seek to promote improved accounting
policy disclosures that provide more useful information to
investors and other primary users of the financial
statements. Apart from clarify that entities are required to
disclose their “material” rather than “significant”
accounting policy, the amendments provide guidance on
applying the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities
as current or non-current is based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that
classification is unaffected by expectations about whether
an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a
liability and explain that rights are in existence if
covenants are complied with at the end of the reporting
period. The amendments also introduce a definition of
‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the
transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments,
other assets or services.

HK Interpretation 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence
of the Amendments to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020.
The revision to HK Interpretation 5 (2020) updates the
wordings in the interpretation to align with the
Amendments to HKAS 1 with no change in conclusion
and do not change the existing requirements.

2.

NS B RSEL ((SBWHIR
SHERI )

(b)

C MBI RE MBI R] RAEBTEE
B R 5 2 A ()

BB ERIEIRREBYBHREE
RIBHBHEE2H 2155 — Bt BE
ZHE

FZEER] B R ENCE R BRI
RREERVBRERNEMERERE
REEZERER - KEAZRERH
BEIBERIMIEIERISEBEERIN
HZEERMAREZEHSEAR
BRBERGEES

BEREETERFIHE 2K — HEE
DPEEREBHGEREBEEES
(20204 )

ZEEIRBEHEESBRRBIIER
BIHERRERREFEZERN - FTAD
BIXAHEREDKITEEENTE
RERBZEMPE  YRBHNHRE
HIRETRAE - BT EER - ZFER]
TEIATHE | ZESE  AEBREEIER
HFHEERAES BRATH H@EE
KRS ©

EABREESH (20204 ) AR 202048
Rz BB ERIE 15 285 M
FLAMERT - BERIESE S5 (2020F) 2
B EHFRBZFR  NEFBESHE
BV 2IBRI A — B Rl Es
B BWENEIRERTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRS") (Continued)

(b)

New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates. Among other things, the amendments now
define accounting estimates as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty, and clarify that the effects of a change in an
input or a measurement technique used to develop an
accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates
unless they result from the correction of prior period
errors.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax Related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 so that
it does not apply to such transactions as leases and
decommissioning provisions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Consequently, entities will need to recognise
a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising on these transactions.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction with an
associate or joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method, any gains or losses resulting from the loss
of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a
business are recognised in the profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that
associate or joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses
resulting from the remeasurement of retained interest in
any former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a
joint venture) to fair value are recognised in the profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS") (Continued)

(b)

New or revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

The amendments add subsequent measurement
requirements for a sale and leaseback transaction, where
the transfer of the asset satisfies the requirements in
HKFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers to be
accounted for as a sale. HKFRS 16 includes requirements
on how to account for a sale and leaseback at the date
the transaction takes place. However, HKFRS 16 had not
specified how to measure the transaction when reporting
after that date. The amendments add to the sale and
leaseback requirements in HKFRS 16, thereby supporting
the consistent application of the accounting standard.

The Group is in the progress of making assessments of
the potential impact of these new or revised HKFRSs
upon initial application.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

3.2

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “GEM Listing Rules”) on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the *“Stock
Exchange”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under historical cost convention except for certain
financial instruments which are measured at fair values as
explained as the accounting policies set out below.

2. RpEBUMBHREER (SBUMEIR

(b)

3. W%

3.1

3.2

8l 1))

BB RN F T RSB TES
B8 5% A ()

BB BHEERE1655 2 55T
— REAHOZHERR

HZEBITAMABBERDER S 2%
B EBRE MEEBETATEUK
HEERE155 — KAFP AN W
ZHREARINBHE - BEEMHRELE
A 16 BEaENaNR 5% ERH
R EREEARKENR - A - FEY
BREERFE 165 BT AN Z A HI1R
RHREMAGTEFERS - ZFEBFRN
MAEB BRI REERE 165K ERE
HRE - M S ERNERER -

AEE ARG ERERZEHT XL
BRIBEUBRELEN 2 BEETZE -

BERFREFTER
SREH

ZERAMBRRDIERELGTED
SRMZMBEREEUBRELER
BEMAERERNEEN KRS LR
ARG ER ([FHREER]) kdE
RBBRAIHGOIZ RBERERE - 2%
REMBRENETEARARHMA
PR A &) ([5 32 P 1) GEMZE 25 = 43 Bl
(TGEM LRI |) 2 i A 4% F& 53X

SHEER
AR RE IR AR DI AR

22 gRTFUAFEEHENSBT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.3

3.4

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (“HK$'000") except when otherwise
indicated.

Going concern assessment

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have given consideration to the future liquidity
of the Group in light of the Group incurred a net loss of
approximately HK$27,820,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022 and, as of that date, the Group had net
liabilities of approximately HK$28,935,000 as at
31 December 2022.

These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
therefore it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis as the Directors are satisfied
that the liquidity of the Group can be maintained in the
coming year taking into consideration of the following
matter:

—  An undertaking letter has been obtained from a
convertible bond holder for no intention to demand
repayment of convertible bond due from the Group
after the maturity date until the Group has
sufficient financial resources to satisfy its future
working capital, other financial requirements and
repay the convertible bond.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EHZ=2022F12A318ILtFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.4

3.5

Going concern assessment (Continued)

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for future liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities to current respectively. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements. The preparation of consolidated
financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and the underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Group. Control is achieved
where the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. mREEBELIFZESTIRE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 3.5 HEEESE)
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group N & B LS M B A 732 I 4 B B 44 15 Mt
obtains control over the subsidiaries and ceases when the BARl4EE AR RELIE IR L
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income AR BBEME FRAWESHE ZMH
and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of over BATWA KX 8 AREEERG 5 HIfE
the years are included in the consolidated statement of HHREEAEBTHIZEHHBEARZ
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the HiEstAZEBR RAMPEBARK -
date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive BRLE&HME2EWABE BEEBRAR
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and FIIRFEE S A R IEFE IR RERS o (B A A
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive ZEEWAREREBEN AR RIRERS
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the AN IEFE R R s 0 BRIt & S B IRIE IR
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this S IR B A aE s o
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial MEFE  WEBRARNEHRREELH
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting B FHeTBERERNEBHMEAS
policies into line with those used by other member of NRIFTRE—2 -
Group.
All intragroup transaction balance, income and expenses FEEBRARBZR D465 WAR
and cash flows relating to transactions between members ASXUAMEAREBKEAGIBEZRSHE
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. ZIEEREVNEGEA ARE R Y
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of AT B A B B 245 Ko i 25 P B FE R AR A
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated HORIRNEEERmEEMEEKRAR -
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive RERDEHRMGRAV AR KRB
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 5l 7R o
consolidated statement of financial position respectively.

3.6 Changes in the Group's interests in existing 3.6 AEEREBEEHEBAREEEEDZ 22

subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
X6 iR IR R 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GREBERTIZEFHR®E

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.7

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce with
the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform
the related processes or they significantly contribute to
the ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced
without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to
continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is
on or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions
of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework"”) except for transactions and
events within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) — Int
21, in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) —
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify
the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.

3.7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
6B 75 R R B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.7 Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date;

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
are measured in accordance with that standard;
and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
X6 iR IR R 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. RREEN T2 SR ¢
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.7 Business combinations (Continued) 3.7 ¥EKafHt
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the R T A RN (E (IR EER
consideration transferred, the amount of any %Bi”ﬂlﬁ'ﬁfj‘q:ﬁﬁfﬁ@%ﬁ&ﬂﬁlﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁhﬁ
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair R T AR E A T EE (R E) BB

value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as
at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a

BHAKBE B EERMAZRER
Wi BRSO R 8 - WEBERN
ARG - TR R BRI B E R FTAER
BERFEBHOEBRENRE  EAIFERE
AR T7 o AT 2 BRIA S B 77 PA
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EVAERN - BB B BN MR sh R
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HWAKEREXFAFTERNRERR

business combination includes a contingent consideration FAREBELRE - AISAREBRENKE
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at BN AFEETE - Wit ARERE

its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to
fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
6B 75 R R B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &%

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.8

3.9

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
X6 iR IR R 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GERBENRTZEFTHRE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.9

Interests in associates (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. Changes in net
assets of the associate other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GEREBERTIZEFTHR@®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.9 Interests in associates (Continued) 39 REBEATRZER (B
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over WARETBEBEE NABEEEATE
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the 71 BIRHERREH R Z 2EESA
entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss IR - FTEE 2 Wask B E RN IE R
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group R WAL ERE AN E AR 2 m
retains an interest in the former associate and the BZRBE=AB BV BHRELEDZE9
retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of RHEEANSREE AIASEZRZ
HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair BIERAFEFEREER  MzAFE
value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its SEABRTTERRZATE BER
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between 7] 2 AR B B AR B A o ot & B
the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of RNEHERE R 2 ARG HRIEATER
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of ZER  SRETEEZEHERRZK
the relevant interest in the associate is included in the B R AR o AN - AEE ST
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the AIEHEMEE R AR ZEE R RERZ
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts FrESBAK  BEEMEZBEAREE
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in HERBEEN B BT EEMRR -
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be It e R A R SE AT E R E M 2 E
required if that associate had directly disposed of the ARz Wz EE  aREEEEE
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss EXBERENIHEER A58
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by & B0 5 H & 18 B & A B IR
that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on mYEEREREN D EEERR (E
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group REH DR -
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.
When a group entity transacts with an associate of the EREEEREANEE AR RIEITR
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions S8 - QIBRZHE RRRSFEAZE
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated HESER@EE AR EmEAREE
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the BECZELT AT EEGEMBERET
associate that are not related to the Group. R o

3.10 Property, plant and equipment 3.10 9% - BEREE

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
X6 iR IR R 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EHZ=2022F12A318ILtFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.10 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Over the lease term
20% to 33%
33%

Leasehold improvements
Computer and office equipment
Motor vehicles

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses or at
revalued amounts, being their fair value at the date of
the revaluation less subsequent accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on
a prospective basis. Amortisation is charged on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as
follows.

Customer relationship
Blockchain technology

5 years
9.5 years

The amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss
and included in operating and administrative expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GEREBERTIZEFTHR@®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.11 Intangible assets (Continued) 3.11M BREE (&)
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are BEREERFHRBEIWENELEER
acquired separately are carried at cost less any AN BAE R H 18 RETRE E 185 R -
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are REBEHPUENELEEEDES
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially FiER - B¥mniiE A BN A T EE
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (BAR R EKA) BERR ©
(which is regarded as their cost).
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets IaTERIE  REBEHPKELAS
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives PR 7] {55 FA A HR MO R T2 & EE 4R PR AN R R AT
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and B REMRETREBES R - A%EHE
any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as DHWER BT EEMER -
intangible assets that are acquired separately.
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when R EEN D ERTEFHEAS L &%
no future economic benefits are expected from use or & 72 I R SR A N 2 B B B AR, o R
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of IBIEREN B ERTE £ 2 W KEHE -
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between BREEZ NEMSHIEFEEARR
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the BzZ#HTE EEEBUEERRNE
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is wm AR o
derecognised.

3.12 Leases 3.12 &
Definition of a lease HEHTESH

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed. As a practical
expedient, leases with similar characteristics are accounted
on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably expects
that the effects on the consolidated financial statements
would not differ materially from individual leases within
the portfolio.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.12 Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in

dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GEREBERTIZEFTHR@®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.12 Leases (Continued) 3.12 #HE#®)

126

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at the date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review
in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

GREERETBEHEKE

3.12 Leases (Continued) 3.12 HE (%)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEBAEA (58)

Lease modifications HEEHK

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a MEEATER - ANEBBHEEBSHA

separate lease if: RARBYHEE :

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by . EBCEBMA—IBXZIAEBE
adding the right to use one or more underlying EREAEMGINEESRE: &
assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an . THE KB A h0 5 58 ER &6 [F 1 N
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price REBERET  MxEFER
for the increase in scope and any appropriate MEE A AR ES LR
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the BR e
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a A AR BB HENHE S B S

separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, T AKERBELEXEENHER

less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease R A NME AN B R KIS ETREIR
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised ERR ST HE N R - RER B WA
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the EEEMEHMFEHERE -
effective date of the modification.

3.13 Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right- 3.13 REENIE BRERSZE FHEEX

of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &%

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.13

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.13

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or
a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GEREBERTIZEFTHR@®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments 314 €@ T A

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EHZ=2022F12A318ILtFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GREBERTIZEFHR®E
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.14 €@ T A (&)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), except that at
the date of initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 “Business Combinations” applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GEREBERTIZEFTHR@®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued) 314 €@ T A (&

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVOCI as measured at FVPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the FVOCI reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, and will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI or
designated as FVOCI are measured at FVPL.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend earned on the financial asset
and is included in the "other income and gains/
(losses)” line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. RAREBEENLTESS SR @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued) 314 €@ T A (&

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, loans receivable
and bank balances) and contract assets which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after each reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these assets
are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EHZ=2022F12A318ILtFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GRBERTZEFTHRV
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued) 314 €@ I A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) AR E ()

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at each reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that s
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
6B 75 R R B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fm © W F5 3R 2 Bff 5

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or

more

events of default that have a detrimental

impact on the estimated future cash flows of that

financial

financi
data a

(a)

asset have occurred. Evidence that a
al asset is credit-impaired includes observable
bout the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a de recognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
X6 iR IR R 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade and other receivables, contract assets and
other financial assets measured at amortised cost,
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. RAREENL TS SR @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.14 @I A (%)
Financial assets (Continued) 2HEE (B
Derecognition of financial assets I TERE A E

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the EERDREEENRESREN S LE
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, A= /ﬁiﬂiﬁgiﬁy@mﬁﬁ?&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially BEMNERBIRAREERTS B
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to B ZK%@??%U:;T@@QéFE’Jﬁ%w °
another entity.

RILERIEHA A EN SR EE
H¢ F BEMREEED WM EIAERM
ZEREENERPRER

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

RITERAEEEER S ERFIEA
EFFTEQH\EMEEH&ZAJEZF”‘
HERER - ERIRRAFEEFARMD
E2HWRARRE R R mmEEs
EEMOBEER HEBERGFE

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the FVOCI reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.

B
Financial liabilities and equity 2HEERKRATA
Classification as debt or equity DR E LR
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either BEBERATENBRESRZHNESR
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the NREEHBERRATIAENERSE
substance of the contractual arrangements and the REBEEIBRAR -
definition of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments BATA

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by group
entities are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
X6 iR IR R 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EHZ=2022F12A318ILtFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GREBERTIZEFHR®E
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.14 €@ T A (&)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities including trade payables and other
payables and accruals are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Convertible bonds contains liability and equity
components

The component parts of the convertible bonds issued by
the Company are classified separately as financial
liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments. This
amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost
basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. RREENT2EH R (&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued) 314 €@ T A (&

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Convertible bonds contains liability and equity
components (Continued)

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognised and included in equity, net of income
tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In
addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in equity will
be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the lives of the convertible bonds using the effective
interest method.

When the Company extinguishes a convertible bonds
before maturity through an early redemption or
repurchase in which the original conversion privileges are
unchanged, the Company allocates the consideration paid
and any transaction costs for the repurchase or
redemption to the liability and equity components of the
instrument at the date of the transaction. The method
used in allocating the consideration paid and transaction
costs to the separate components is consistent with that
used in the original allocation to the separate
components of the proceeds received by the Company
when the convertible instrument was issued. The gain or
loss relating to the equity component is recognised in
equity. The gain or loss relating to the liability
component is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
X6 iR IR R 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GRBERTZEFTHRV

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued) 3.14 £@TIT A
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) THEBRKATA (H)
Derecognition and modification of financial liabilities BUER R IEFT £/ A E
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only NEBETEBETASEERR  BUBS

when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, is recognised in profit or
loss.

When the contractual terms of a convertible instrument
are modified, such as extending the tenure, change in
exercise price of the underlying options, the revised terms
would result in a substantial modification from the
original terms, after taking into account all relevant facts
and circumstances including qualitative factors, such
modification is accounted for as derecognition of the
original financial liability and the recognition of new

EREBURER TR A E - SERUHRER
TRAEENREERD M RENKESN
ZRNBEPER -

BRI T BB A KGR BE 2 (AR
REMAY  BRABABRIETEE)
BB R REGRFHREX
2 G RABEHBFERER(E
BREMERER)E  BEEBITIRALEER
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[HARME (B PTAE B (7] B (8 N A i

financial liability. The difference between the carrying RETETEL )W AREBEZHED
amount of financial liability derecognised and the fair EZHENBmTER -

value of consideration paid or payable, including any

liabilities assumed and derivative components recognised,

is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability HHEHEERLTHERE

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and
the net amount presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GEREBERTIZEFTHR@®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.16

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances and cash comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash, and short-term,

3.16

RITEHRRAS

RIT4 %&ﬁ%&%ﬁﬂ&i%ﬁﬁ
RITREM SRS 2 EHATR

%ﬁL#WA@ﬂﬁ%ﬁ&%%Tﬁﬁ
EHRETEEMRITES AR AERE
a5 Al 3R 5 B0EE i R A B AR

highly liquid investments readily convertible into known MEENE  UERREBARTR=[A
amounts of cash and which are subject to an REHOSERBRE -
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition.
3.17 Income tax 3.17 Fis®H

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
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%FLMAFJﬁFﬁﬁﬂ?ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ

recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred R W AR A A% IR AT R A R M = R
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible B2 ERBR MR IR 8E - Rt ER
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable B &R R —IERE T 7 & 8 SR B i A1 IR

that taxable profits will be available against which those

TREEHENZ RS (EBA RN

deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such RrEERBEMEL AT THRE
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the HEENERE - N EEREETR

temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
X6 iR IR R 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. RAREBEER TS SR @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.17 Income tax (Continued) 3.17 Fif8%i (&

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. RAREENL TS SR @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.18 Provisions and contingent liabilities 3.18 BERBAEE

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from
past events but is not recognised because it is not
probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to
be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability
and it is not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision
is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
the reporting period in which the change in probability
occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances where
no reliable estimate can be made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
X6 iR IR R 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.19 Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other
unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an
inflow of economic benefits to the Group and they are
not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
The Group assesses continually the development of
contingent assets. If it has become virtually certain that
an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the Group
recognises the asset and the related income in the
consolidated financial statements in the reporting period
in which the change occurs.

3.20 Related parties

a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

) has control or joint control over the Group;

ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

V) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in a).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. RREBEER TS SR ¢4
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.20 Related parties (Continued) 3.20 B A (&)
b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the by fWEMRTHIFRER - E =1
following conditions applies: (Continued) WARREARNEEFRE : (8)
vii) A person identified in a) i) has significant vii)  Ra))FTEBIATHERE
influence over the entity or is a member of BAXENBZER (%
the key management personnel of the entity EERBYAR)E @E*fi/\%i
(or of a parent of the entity). WEFP—FXE o
viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of vii) BESEMBEBEMEM
which it is a part, provides key management KEARIMAEBEHASE
personnel services to the Group or to the Bz8AREHFEZER
parent of the Group. ANBRRTS ©
Close members of the family of a person are those family BAAT Z2BARBEYIRERKE ZIETEH
members who may be expected to influence, or be EREHEEERAREESHE L
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the ARFE LM EAAZEZZEREKXE ©
entity.
3.21 Revenue recognition 3.21 KARER
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a 2 (IR mERARER - REERR
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of WA - BITA YRR TE 7B 493 75 89 AE A 78 qm 3k
the goods or services underlying the particular PR7G 80 [ il i | 2 TR PR TR ©
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
A performance obligation represents a good or service (or [BAE I8 TR @k iR (s — 4
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series 2 om 3 AR 3 — R A R AE R &9 T [
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the 7 om S AR 75
same.
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised T HIERE R RS - MM R A T E AR
over time by reference to the progress towards complete —IEIR%E - BIIRA T2 R 2M T E
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one BARBHERBRAMBERBER
of the following criteria is met:
(@)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes (a) RBFRBESMEEBAEBEYN
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance T 12 1 1 A1l 25
as the Group performs;
(b)  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an by AEBELHGEEIMNBEFHE
asset that the customer controls as the asset is Z Bl 5 ok hn 38 & & il &
created or enhanced; or = o
()  the Group’s performance does not create an asset (0 AEBRBRAOTZEENHAER
with an alternative use to the Group and the SEMARNEE BASBE ¥
Group has an enforceable right to payment for 5 5T B R 491 SR B BT ok il
performance completed to date. TTHIRER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
X6 iR IR R 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. RAREBEENR TSR @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.21 Revenue recognition (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

i) Services income

Provision of consultancy and financial advisory
services

The performance obligations for certain consultancy
and financial advisory services are fulfilled when all
the relevant duties of an advisor as stated in the
contract are completed. Consultancy and financial
advisory fee is generally due within 30 days upon
reaching contracts’ milestone payment terms.

For contracts where the period between the
payment and the transfer of the promised services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

Certain consultancy and financial advisory services’
performance obligations are satisfied over time as
services are rendered if the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group. These services are charged
at agreed fee billed on a mutually basis (e.g.
regular period).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
6B 75 R R B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.21 Revenue recognition (Continued)

i)

i)

Services income (Continued)
Provision of asset management services

Revenue from asset management services is
recognised over time as the services are provided.
Fees for asset management services are calculated
based on a fixed percentage of the value of assets
managed and due on a regular basis as mutually
agreed.

Provision of securities brokerage services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time when the customer has received the service
from the Group. Commission income on securities
and futures dealing and broking is generally due
within one to three days after trade date.

Provision of Blockchain-as-a-Service income

Revenue is recognised over time as those services
are provided. Invoices for provision of services are
issued on a regular basis based on the terms stated
in the contract and are usually payable within 30
days.

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on
a time-apportioned basis by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset's
net carrying amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
X6 iR IR R 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GERBENRTZEFTHRE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.22 Government grants 3.22 BF#HB
Government grants are recognised when there is EEAERFFWRIIBGMHE - BASE
reasonable assurance that they will be received and that (5] % 38 <7 455 B B0 B A 1 B - RN TSR X
the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to LHE o
them.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation FEWR AT B R E B EE 2 A S
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose 1B - SR M 5 B4R 4 BB B I SR 1R i
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with T RARKAEERE Z BB - AR
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in JEWERMIEIE M P R - WHER R EA
the period in which they become receivable and are WA - M 3ER AR -
recognised as other income, rather than reducing the
related expense.

3.23 Employee benefits 3.23 EE®EA

i) Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme. Under the
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

i)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share-based
payments reserve). At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share-based payments reserve.
For shares/share options that vest immediately at
the date of grant, the fair value of the shares/
share options granted is expensed immediately to
profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
X6 iR IR R 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EHZ=2022F12A318ILtFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3. GREBERTIZEFHR®E

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.23 Employee benefits (Continued) 3.23 EERF (&)
if)  Share-based payments (Continued) i)  HUBRGBEEZNF(HE)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions RIBEEZE R BEBTHE
(Continued) (#8)
Share options granted to non-employees T IEREE 2 BIRE
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions HLE B Z N E At 5 1T 2 AR
with parties other than employees are measured at NRERNRRZS - THIRFTWE]
the fair value of the goods or services received, HEmERE 2 A FEETE
except where that fair value cannot be estimated BRIEZAFEETE SEHHE
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair BT AKX THR
value of the equity instruments granted, measured BTARERBESHMIEFA
at the date the entity obtains the goods or the RERFH B A EN A TEE
counterparty renders the service. The fair values of B o BWERE MR 2 AT
the goods or services received are recognised as BEERAAMS (BRIEZE DR
expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for BEAERBEEMEME)
recognition as assets).
iiij)  Termination benefits iii)  BEBAE A

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at RIEBINEBEERAEEERE T
the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer BE AL AR LR A B IR R R A %
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and R EANEAKARERE
when it recognises any related restructuring costs. PR FRRERR -

3.24 Foreign currencies 3.24 Hp¥k

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.25

3.26

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity
that is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of
such a line of business. The results of discontinued
operations are presented separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

4.

Bt ¥5 ¥ %% Bt 5E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes judgements, estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(i) Investment in a private company

In accordance with the relevant agreement between the
Group and this private company, the Group does not
take part, directly or indirectly, in the active management
of the financial and operating policy decision of the
private company solely, without any consents from other
shareholders of the private company. The investment in
this private company was recognised as a financial asset
at FVOCI. The Group’s management assessed whether the
Group has no significant influence on this private
company based on whether the Group has the practical
ability to participate in its policy-making processes, to
appoint directors nor management and to interchange of
managerial personnel. In making the judgement, the
directors of the Company considered the Group held
effective equity interest of 2.88% on the special purpose
acquisition company (“SPAC”) projects through this
private company and the Group’s role is a passive
investor on the SPAC projects.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

Impairment on trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables and loans receivable

The Group’s trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables and loans receivable are assessed for
impairment based on the expected credit loss model
required by HKFRS 9. The assessment made by
management has taken into account relevant historical
information adjusted for forward-looking information
available to management at the date of assessment (to
the extent that such information is reasonable and
supportable without undue cost or effort). Impairment
losses are also recognised for the current year (please see
Notes 24, 25 and 26). Management has exercised
judgement in estimating the amount of expected credit
loss. If the actual outcome is different from
management’s estimate, an additional impairment loss or
reversal of impairment loss may arise.

Impairment on goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (Continued)

(v)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Certain of the Group’s assets and liabilities included in
the consolidated financial statements require
measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
assets and liabilities utilises market observable inputs and
data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining fair
value measurements are categorised into different levels

based on how observable the inputs used in the
valuation technique utilised are (the “fair value
hierarchy”):

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical

items (unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than
Level 1 inputs;
Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from

market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is
based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised in
the period they occur.

The Group measures the following item at fair value:

== Financial assets at FVOCI| (Note 21)

= Financial assets at FVPL (Note 22)

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the items above, please refer to the
respective notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. Hi¥SRIESIEBEIRNER

POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise loans
receivable, financial assets at FVOCI, financial assets at FVPL,
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, bank balances,
trade payables, other payables and accruals and convertible
bonds. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables
and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the
Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be
undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and
credit risk. The Directors review and agree policies for
managing this risk and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group's
exposure to foreign currency risk primarily arises from bank
balances which are denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”). The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy but the management continuously monitors the foreign
exchange exposure. In the opinion of the Directors of the
Company, the Group’s foreign exchange exposure is not
significant.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES AND 5. B REIERESIEBIENRER (@)
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk RBESRAK
The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between AEBECZENRERDMAAIRRES RE
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of FEESRHEREEEEMN 2 EESTE -

convertible bonds and borrowings.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s TERBABBES LI RA RN AREEH
liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments. BEZHBER -
As at 31 December 2022 72022412 H31H
Within one More than Total
year or on 1 year but less undiscounted Carrying
demand than 5 years cash flows amount
—FRAH ZR—%48 RER
RER PREE BeREE BREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TERT TERT
Trade payables B 5 e IR 13,083 - 13,083 13,083
Other payables and accruals HoAth JE A 5RIB K R T 7K IE 2,495 — 2,495 2,495
Convertible bonds AR E 14,068 91,000 105,068 85,110
Lease liabilities HEAE 4,056 3,043 7,099 6,825
33,702 94,043 127,745 107,513
As at 31 December 2021 1K20214F12A831H8
Within one More than Total
year or on 1 year but less undiscounted Carrying
demand than 5 years cash flows amount
—FRNK LZR—F8 REEER
RER PRAF Renesn BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT FHT FHT FHT
Trade payables B 5 e IR 16,474 = 16,474 16,474
Other payables and accruals H b e 3008 R FE 5 5R0E 3,561 — 3,561 3,561
Convertible bonds Rk ES — 108,874 108,874 85,557
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,719 7,099 10,818 10,139
23,754 115,973 139,727 115,731
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ERM T
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES AND 5. 871 ¥5 2l bR &5 12 B iR A2 I AR (4
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk Fl = 2 by

The Group does not have material exposure to interest rate risk, AEEWESREAFRERR HAEAKHE
as the Group has no financial assets and liabilities of material WRLOVEBFEGEZEACHMEEREE -
amounts with floating interest rate.

Management will continue to review the market trend, as well EREBEERAITMBSBEUREEREE
as its business operation needs and its financial position in SRR B S AN - LAY B XY AN &R B A 2R R B
order to identify the most effective tools for the Group's EEZAMCIA-

interest rate risk management.

Credit risk EER R

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade REBEERBREERE B ZERKIEA -
receivables, contract assets, deposits and other receivables, EHREE - FRRHEMEWIE  EREFK
loans receivable and bank balances. Management has RITHES  BEEFEERER -

monitored the exposures on an ongoing basis.

For loans receivable, deposits and other receivables, the MERER e RHEMERZEmS @ AQ
company uses three categories which reflect their credit risk and Al A = 848 5l Ik Bt B = & &L b K% a0 fa] gt 7%
how the loss provision is determined for each of those —ABEFEEEERE ZERNIEERR
categories. These internal credit risk ratings are aligned to R EBMEIIBEETRAR] B -
external credit rating companies, such as Moody's.
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises REBMBREEERRTRIERBIEIATLE
the following categories: Al :
Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables and Other financial assets
contract assets
RS E AR Bl ESERFRER HittemEE
BREE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does  Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
not have any past-due amounts (refer to as credit-impaired
Stage 1)
152 B RGUFHZENRBRRE BVEEMEHRER 2DEHEEESE 1218 ATEEEEEE
EH(HEE-ER) — BEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually — Lifetime ECL-not 12m ECL
settle in full after due date (refer to as Stage 1) credit-impaired
BReE RERIHBEREEMBENRIINIAEBENNE 2PEHEEEHRE 12{A ATREE EEHE
% EE —EER) — BEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL-not Lifetime ECL-not
since initial recognition through information credit-impaired credit-impaired
developed internally (refer to as Stage 2)
17 5 BEANBEKRZERSNDER  EERAREVRE 2BEHREEESE FHEBREEER
RUARBZIE N (5E ZER) — BEERE — BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL-credit- Lifetime ECL-credit-
(refer to as Stage 3) impaired impaired
B BEBRTEELREERERE=ZRR) FHEBEEER FHEBREEER
— EERE — EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off

financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery (refer to as Stage 3)

35 EEBRTEBRABYBRENRRBERASELEE  FIERME TRIE A
BRAT Uy [ %5 2B (FE 58 = PR ER)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

5.

MIZREIREIRBIRRIERR (&

Credit risk (Continued) EE Rk
For the trade receivables and contract assets arising from REBHFEEINNEREENE 5 EIRFIR

business other than dealing in securities, the Group carries out
regular review on these balances and follow-up action on any
overdue amounts to minimise exposures to credit risk. The
Group measures the lifetime ECL based on the outstanding
balances and historical credit loss experience adjusted to reflect
the Group’s view of current and forecast economic conditions
that may affect the ability of the debtors to settle receivables.
The total impairment allowance amounted to HK$3,897,000
(2021: HK$8,482,000) had been provided under ECL assessment
by using simplified approach according to the ageing by due
date of which reversal of impairment loss of HK$208,000
(2021: impairment loss of HK$232,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2022.
For trade receivable of approximately HK$1,731,000 (2021:
HK$4,552,000) that are arising from the business of dealing
securities, the credit risk is limited because the counterparties
are clearing house and brokers with sound credit ratings. They
have a low risk of default and there is no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. Accordingly, they are subject
to lifetime ECL and the amount of ECL is insignificant. For the
contract assets, the management considers that the amount of
ECL is insignificant because the carrying amount is insignificant.

RENEEMS ASBETHERZSEH
I B ] HA SRR IR VIR 3 1T B) - AR 2R
LEERK - AKEFE2HEREEHSB
MG EREEEHKRBTEEBELR -
WHEH AR IR AEEE ] EER
A B2 B AR FRAE 70 2 AT R TE R A B RO
ZE - RIBEH A AT M BRERETE - B
fLEpBHEEBRT GO RERER
¥H3%3,897,000/8 7T (20214 : 8,482,000/
JC) - E AR (B E5 18 # [21208,0007% 7T (2021
& REE18232,000/8C) ERE E 20224
12A3MBIEFENGFEEEREREMEZEEA
xR c BEEEFEBEEL,731,000%8
JC (20214 : 4,552,000/8 70) M) & 5 fE WX
B FERRER  RAREFHAEETR
BENGEEMRLLRD - BEFELVRRK - B
NP ERBEERBRMERE L - Bt - #
EHE>HEREERE BFEBEEES
SHEWTEKN - REREEMS @  BEERA
EHEEBENCBEYITEEZ BARES
EAIR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5.
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was

determined for trade receivables arising from business other
than dealing in securities as follows:

MIFRIRERBIR KRR (@)

EERR (&)

MR2022F 202112 A 31 HHEIE B Ty 5t
FREEEBESFUIINEBHNRKE BRIBET
N

Gross carrying

Expected amount (after
credit loss rate excluding
— weighted credit impaired Loss
average balance) allowance Net amount
HHEE HREAE
B = (RNBREE
— MEFH B & 8R) BREEE R
(%) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
(%) THERT THERT THERT
At 31 December 2022 72022512831H
Not yet past due i#) 7 48 A 0.5% 221 (1) 220
Overdue within 90 days BHITHEBI0R 8.3% 363 (30) 333
Overdue over 91 days #EAEIE91 A 97.5% 3,965 (3,866) 99
4,549 (3,897) 652
Gross carrying
Expected amount (after
credit loss rate excluding
— weighted  credit impaired Loss
average balance) allowance Net amount
RHEE SREEE
B 1R b = (BHRIEE
— RS REREER) BIEEE FER
(%) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(%) TET TAT THAT
At 31 December 2021 M2021612 4318
Not yet past due ir) 7 48 A 0.1% 1,880 (1) 1,879
Overdue within 90 days BT B0 R 0.3% 1,131 3) 1,128
Overdue over 91 days BRI A 93.4% 9,079 (8,478) 601
12,090 (8,482) 3,608

For the deposits and other receivables, the ECL had been
provided under combination of 12m ECL and lifetime ECL
assessment. The total impairment allowance amounted to
HK$20,000 (2021: HK$167,000) has been provided under ECL
assessment, of which HK$5,000 (2021: HK$14,000) was
recognised in the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. 871 ¥5 @l bR &5 12 B iR R AR (4
POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) FE Rk
The credit risk of loans receivable is determined based on the FEWEZNEERRTIIEEAIBLINBEE
combination of the internal and external credit rating, the B - FHESBLERER - REESER KE
average debt recovery, peer review information and comparison ANABENLEREREZKRETE - AEBEFEH
with public available data. The Group calculates ECL using three —REEZSFEEREEEIE  BHMX
main components: a probability of default (“PD"), a loss given (BHOWME]) ZLHOBERRIAXR(EQLIERE))
default (“LGD") and the exposure at default (“EAD"). The 12m REARR (BHAERKR]) - 12 EHEE
ECL is calculated by multiplying the 12m PD, LGD and EAD. EBETEBFRAEANEANHNE  EZHE
Lifetime ECL is calculated using the lifetime PD instead. The KEXREARRGTESTE - 2HFEHEEE
12m and lifetime PDs represent the probability of default BARZHEABERKAE 128 L2 H
occurring over the next 12 months and the remaining maturity BRSO ERARKI2EARNZEEELD
of the instrument respectively. The EAD represents the expected RN T EHFEAEIR - ZEARBARELD
balance at default, taking into account the repayment of R TEHRE  ZEINEEABEBEHE
principal and interest from the balance sheet date to the BHOEHENAS RAEWNEE  LWREMTE
default event together with any expected drawdowns of HRAFEERNIER - BHEBRAERKRESR
committed facilities. The LGD represents expected losses on the HEEAEHBEARRNTEEEIE  ZE3
EAD given the event of default, taking into account, among (iR BE) KA REEETEER
other attributes, the mitigating effect of collateral value at the B ERIERAREENRBEE - R2022F
time it is expected to be realised and the time value of money. 12A318  EFEHAEEEBTGET  BRE
The total impairment allowance on the loans receivable as at SRH (B B 5 42 58 81,086,000 7T (2021 4F
31 December 2022 amounted to HK$1,086,000 (31 December 12H318 :272,000/47T) © HA1814,0007 7T
2021: HK$272,000) has been provided under expected credit (20214 : 32,0008 0) Uk 2= sk 1B R E Aty
loss assessment, of which HK$814,000 (2021: HK$32,000) was RAEETERBZEREZE2022F12 8310 IEF
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and ENGEEeemKERPER -
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2022.
An analysis of changes in the gross amount and impairment R2022FE K 202112 B31 BB S B LRE
allowances of loans receivable as at 31 December 2022 and BRENEFH LT
2021 is as follow:
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E-RER BoRER B wEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THERT
At 31 December 2022 72022512831H
Loans receivable W E R — 4,789 — 4,789
Impairment allowances HERE — (1,086) — (1,086)
Net amounts T — 3,703 — 3,703
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
—REER BIEER B=EER T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT FHBT FHBT
At 31 December 2021 2021512 A31H
Loans receivable &M E X 1,007 4,407 — 5,414
Impairment allowances B (29) (243) . (272)
Net amounts FRE 978 4,164 — 5,142
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. HiSRIEEIRBIRNRER @)

POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance. The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would exposure the Group to the credit risk.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial
assets and financial liabilities that:

o are offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position; or are subject to an enforceable master
netting arrangement or similar agreement that covers
similar financial instruments, irrespective of whether they
are offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position.

Under the agreement of continuous net settlement made
between the Group and Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited (“HKSCC”), the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off the money obligation receivable and
payable with HKSCC on the same settlement date and the
Group intends to set off on a net basis.

In addition, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
the trade receivables and payables with cash clients that are
due to be settled on the same date and the Group intends to
settle these balances on a net basis.

Except for balances which are due to be settled on the same
date which are being offset, amounts due from/to HKSCC,
brokers and cash clients that are not to be settled on the same
date, deposit placed with brokers do not meet the criteria for
offsetting in the consolidated statement of financial position
since the right of set-off of the recognised amounts is only
enforceable following an event of default.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES AND 5.

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master
netting arrangements or similar agreements

Gross amounts of

Gross amounts
of recognised
financial
liabilities set off
in the
consolidated
statement of

fIZRIRERBIR KRR ()

St

R TAGMTRAFELER

ZHEMBARNERMEE

Net amounts
of financial
assets
recognised
in the
consolidated
statement of

Related amounts not set off in
the consolidated statement of
financial position

B M

recognised financial financial Financial Collateral Net
Type of financial assets tREERR financial assets position position instruments received amount
REEHERR REEHBEHRR LERGEUBRREREHH
BRRE  REHNESER REAHER HEEH
SREEAE SRABEHR BEFH SWMIA BWER @ R
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT T THT T TR
At 31 December 2022 R2022512A318
Trade receivables from the business of &% B &£/
dealing in securities B SRR 91,298 (89,567) 1,731 (51) — 1,680
At 31 December 2021 20214612318
Trade receivables from the business of B4 EEEXHKNES
dealing in securities W FRE 299,913 (295,361) 4,552 (130) - 4422
Gross amounts Net amounts
of recognised of financial
financial liabilities
liabilities set off recognised
o e inthe Related amounts not set off in
Gross amounts consolidated consolidated  the consolidated statement of
of recognised statement of statement of finandial position
financial financial financial Financial Collateral Net
Type of financial liabilities cREEER liabilities position position instruments received amount
RESHBHR REEEBMRRE LFRGEEBRRREHD
BRAE  REHNERR REAHER HELE
SREEAE SRAREH BEER SMIA BRER R R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TR THET THET THET THET
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A8318
Trade payables from the business of ~ EHEBEXHH
dealing in securities B SRR 102,345 (89,567) 12,778 (51) - 12,727
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12A318
Trade payables from the business of ~ EFHEEXKNEL S
dealing in securities 5B 310,353 (295,361) 14,992 (130) - 14,862
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value estimation

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, which are not
measured at fair value, are not materially different from their
carrying amounts because of the immediate or short-term
maturity.

The Group’s financial instruments carried at fair value represent
the Group’s other financial assets. The following provides on
analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent
to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to 3
based on the degree which the fair value is observable.

= Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities.

—  Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

—  Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets are determined
as follows:

The fair value of listed equity securities as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 is determined by reference to its quoted market
price at the reporting date in active markets.

The fair value of unlisted investments, put option in relation to
acquisition of a subsidiary and unlisted equity securities as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 are determined by reference to a
valuation report issued by independent qualified valuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES AND 5.
POLICIES (Continued)

fIZRIRERBIR KRR ()

Fair value estimation (Continued) AFEEMGE (B
The financial assets measured at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position are group into the fair value
hierarchy as follows:

BERNTEEERIENT

W& M BEIRRKRANARTFBEFENE R

At 31 December 2022 7A2022%12H31H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—F E=F E=E Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT FERT FET
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEEFABRZZ
TREE
— Listed equity securities — EmiRERS 312 — — 312
— Unlisted investments — FLEMKRE — — 319 319
— Put option in relation — B —RHE
to acquisition of a NEBBERR
subsidiary (Note 38) ThHE (f15E38) — — 53 53
Financial assets at FVOCI BATFEEFAEME
AWAZ CRLE E
— Unlisted equity securities ~— — FE_ETRIEE 5 — — 3,053 3,053
312 — 3,425 3,737
At 31 December 2021 2021412 A31H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—[E E-E 2= #t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHEIT FHEIT FHEIT
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEEFABRZZ
CREE
— Listed equity securities — EmiRERS 298 — — 298
— Unlisted investments — FLEMEE = = 390 390
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEEFAEME
ABAZEREE
— Unlisted equity securities ~— — FE_ T RIEEFH = — 2,185 2,185
298 — 2,575 2,873

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of
measuring fair value are unchanged compared to the previous
reporting periods. There were no significant transfers of
financial assets and liabilities between Level 1, Level 2 and Level
3 fair value hierarchy classifications.

AR & A FEEMN AR E R EAE
HERBELEEZEC eREERABER
FEEEASBRTHNE B F_ERF=
EoHBMEEREY -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EHZE2022F12A31HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. 8i¥REMRESEBIEEEE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued) AT EEMGE (8)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements: EHRE=MAFEFTENER :
Significant
Fair value as at Valuation unobservable
Financial assets StHEE 31 December techniques inputs Range
E:p NN
M12A31BHRFE HER % HEgA8E EiE]
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT
Unlisted investments FETRE 319 390 Discounted cash Pre-tax discount  26.06%
flow rate (2021:
BRRREN TR AE R X 22.28%)
Put option in relation to  EUWE—RKTE 53 — Monte Carlo Volatility 63.42% to
acquisition of a NEBEBR simulation iR 116.44%
subsidiary RohHE model 63.42%%
SR REER 116.44%
Ex
Unlisted equity securities EEMRAES 1,788 2,185 Discounted cash Pre-tax discount  26.06%
flow rate (2021:
BRI TR AE R X 22.28%)
Unlisted equity securities 3 E MR AEH 1,265 — Discounted cash Discount rate 5.63%
flow BIR &

BHRER

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES AND 5.
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The fair value of unlisted investments and put option in relation
to acquisition of a subsidiary are Level 3 recurring fair value
measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair
value balances are provided as below:

fIZRIRERBIR KRR ()

APRES (5)

FETRENAFEEREKE-RHBA
AEHENRLRBE=-EREMENFEER
E - O RHRAFEESREHRNT

2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FH&IT
Unlisted investment: FETRE :
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring HURB(E=ELTET
fair value) NEEE) 390 487
Fair value change during the year FRATEBE (71) (97)
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring fair value) HIR&ZE (F=EB&E M4
RNEEE) 319 390

A higher in discount rate would result in lower in the fair value
of unlisted investment, and vice versa.

BREHWS  FLHRENAFEELE R
ZIRER ©

2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Put option in relation to acquisition of EEWE—RMBATEEHN
a subsidiary: ROhRE
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring fair FUER (BE=BEBHERATE)
value) — =
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 38) WEE—RMTEB QA (A7:£38) 53 —
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring fair value) FR#Ef (F=REHFHEAFE) 53 —

The higher in volatility would result in higher in the fair value
of put option in relation to acquisition of a subsidiary, and vice

B ED I Y D0 AS E BB W BB P B A R A B R
Ron RN R EEEN  RZIFA -

versa.
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FaRT FATT

Net loss recognised in profit or loss FAR B T R EFE
for the year (71) (97)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES AND 5. 811 ¥5 @l bR &5 18 B iR K2 IR ()
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued) R EEEME (B
The fair value of unlisted equity securities is a Level 3 recurring LR EFFNATEEBE=ELTE T
fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and NFEERFE - BYILRHARAFEEGREY
closing fair value balances are provided as below: RO :
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHIT
Opening balance (Level 3 recurring fair HysnE(E=EBE5T
value) NFEE) 2,185 2,730
Addition BE 2,730 —
Fair value change during the year FRNATEBE (1,862) (545)
Closing balance (Level 3 recurring fair value) HIR&ZE (F=EBE&E 4
NEEE) 3,053 2,185
A higher in discount rate would result in lower in the fair value MIREYE FLETREZFOHAFEEY
of unlisted equity securities, and vice versa. & RZINA -
Capital risk management EAERER
The Group's objective of managing capital is to safequard the AEBEREANBENZHEERNSENRE
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to LEpe ) - MERKRFERME SR LA - Wi
provide returns and benefits for members and to maintain an RRENERER  ABREERKRE -
optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital.
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which AEERNEAGEEBEERFE  HaER
includes convertible bonds, bank balances and cash and total EREEZHRPEENITRRES  AELRE
equity as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in B RITHERRRESMEREEE -
equity.
The Group's management reviews the capital structure on a AEENERESVEEZ —RNERERE -
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management ERLEBEEN—HD  BEEHEEERK
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each AREZEERNEREBANRR - REBEERE
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the Kz - NSRBI EBREITHR « BITHES
management, the Group will balance its overall capital structure BRIREES  UTEHEEBERER -

through new share issues as well as the issue of new debts or
redemption of existing debts.

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fm © W F5 3R 2 Bff 5

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 5. 8i¥EMRSIEEIELEE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

ik}

Capital risk management (Continued) EXEBRERE (H)

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial BEERA EHFEEMBERER T ABEKEA
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the e EERSHAENREEREEE
consolidated financial statements approximate their NEEERE -

corresponding fair values.

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting periods was as MERRNEEAREEWT :
follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Convertible bonds AR ES 85,110 85,557
Total debts BIS4EER 85,110 85,557
Total assets BEE 79,097 88,890
Gearing ratio BEAFENLE 1.08 0.96
Except for certain subsidiaries of the Group licensed by the BAEEETHBAREESF RPESKE
Securities and Futures Commission, neither the Company nor RESEHEEIN AAE REMENB A A
any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital ZHNEBHE DN E A3 2 F IR ©

requirements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. WARRDEBERS
6.1 Revenue represents income from financial services 6.1 WABRFARSBRERFEMERA
operations, income from corporate consulting operations ﬁé%%%@%ﬁﬁﬁ%%)\&%ﬂ%$4\%ﬁ%
and income from digital platform operations during the N
year.
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$000 HK$'000
FERT FHEIT
Continuing operations HERE
Service income: RR 75 WA
Financial services business SR ARS TS 11,288 14,055
Corporate consulting business EFBRER 4,678 5,770
Digital platform business BT 5 %% 1,566 —
Revenue from contract with customers BEPaRZBA 17,532 19,825
Interest income from financial services TRARTEETE 2
business FEKA 619 1,370
18,151 21,195
Timing of revenue recognition: T SR U 2 O FRF ]
— At a point in time — RE—RHEE 751 1,004
— Over time — BEREE 16,781 18,821
17,532 19,825
The Group has applied the practical expedient in AEEE ERAEBY % EAERE 155
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 and does not disclose FI2NBRZATEE R A WERES
information about the remaining performance obligation Eﬁﬁ E,Hﬂﬁ—rf'ﬁﬁ’j i_ﬁZMTZEﬁ?EQ\’J
that have original expected durations of one year or less. EEZER -
6.2 Segment reporting 6.2 SEHE
(a) Reportable segments (a) HEHDE
The Group determines its operating segments AEBERBEFECEAREMS
based on the reports reviewed by the chief B A LA E SRR R B RS B E
operating decision-maker that are used to make HEgsi BREBRRED
strategic decisions. The chief operating decision- WHEESRNARMNNATES -
maker has been identified as the Executive
directors.
During the period, the Group has completed the W AEEB KB 5 X
disposal of the trading business. In accordance with HE - IRBEABUEREERNE
HKFRS 5, the segment of trading business for the Sf6 - B Z2022%F }2021412 A
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 were BNBEIEFE BHEBDHNA
presented as discontinued operation in the Group’s SENGEERBEREZIN /K
consolidated financial statements. Further details SRR - ARACRIEEER
regarding the results of the discontinued operation B — S BHNRE M B R
is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial EL YA

statements.

The Group currently has three reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each
business offers different products and services and
requires different business strategies as follows:

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE

6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WARRDIBHRSE
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 DWW E (&
(a) Reportable segments (Continued) (a) FTEH7H (&)

There were no inter-segment transactions between FR - TRKE Sz I &S

different operating segments for the year (2021: B RS (20214 : &) o AR

Nil). Central revenue and expenses are not ARATRBEREZLERSE

allocated to the operating segments as they are not HRAUHE D BEBN D H L

included in the measure of the segments’ results FTEZA AR REIKENE -

that is used by the chief operating decision-maker

for assessment of segment performance.

(@) The financial services business includes the (a) DREIBHFLELES - BH
securities brokerage business, provision of TEREZARE  BE
corporate finance advisory services, asset BEEEBANEEB2®
management business and money lending BUARTS F 75 &6
business;

(b)  The corporate consulting business segment is (b) WEREATNWERYE -
engaged in the provision of company G RIS R AR A R
secretarial services, accounting and financial EIR AR 2 B
reporting services and management EBoE: Rk
consulting services; and

()  The digital platform business segment is (0 BISFEEBIBRER
engaged in the provision of Blockchain-as-a- HERERT - BEER
Service that provides tailor made services and HEFGEHORSE R E
advice to businesses allowing them to use HCADEGERERAA
cloud-based solutions to manage and develop REBRMAEAEAER
their applications and smart contracts without REged BAERER
needing to develop and maintain their own HEACHERFERE -
blockchain environments. This business REBDEBARERE
segment has been established by the Group 22022F 12 A3MBIEEE
for the year ended 31 December 2022. [BAvAD

(b) Segment revenue and results (b) ZDEHWAREE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue AR R ] 2 39 #0 5 AR £ E /Y

and results by reportable segments: WA RFEED DT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE2022F12A318 L EE

Financial Corporate Digital

services consulting platform

business business business Total
£/ ¥

HK$'000 TER RBER BAXT BETAER A&

Segment revenue 2B 11,907 4,678 1,566 18,151

Segment profit/(loss) AR/ (F8) 2,321 1,909 (2,516) 1,714

Finance costs &R (13,634)

Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries MEARZHEEL 2 KR 21

Unallocated corporate expenses ROBEER W2 (18,276)

Loss before income tax from continuing ~ HELEEBRAEHABE

operations (30,175)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12A31HIEFE
6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6.
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued)
(b) Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

6.2 2EHEE (4
(b) ZEEUAR A ()

HZE2021F12A8318LLEE

Financial Corporate
services consulting
business business Total
&8 =3
HK$'000 TER R %% BRES &t
Segment revenue 2EUA 15,425 5,770 21,195
Segment profit 2 EEF 8,526 167 8,693
Finance costs MERA (11,774)
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries (i PN E-Eapa € 26
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries WEARBHEGEARZER (4,052)
Reversal of impairment loss on finance MERERNRERERESE
lease receivables 950
Unallocated corporate expenses ete) RAE SR X # (18,019)
Loss before income tax from continuing BELSEERRAESHABE
operations (24,176)

Note: Unallocated corporate expenses mainly included
staff salaries, directors’ remuneration and office
rental expenses for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EHZ=2022F12A318ILtFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6.

6.2 Segment reporting (Continued)

(9]

Segment assets and liabilities

6.2

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets

FaN

AR DEBHRE (#)

R (&

okr

S

B

il

() PHEEREE

ATRIZAIZRD BEAEEE

and liabilities by reportable segments: ERBENDN
2022 2021
202245 20214F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHEx FHEIT
Segment assets PWEE
Continuing operations HEREER
Financial services business RIS ET 32,447 48,926
Corporate consulting business hEFRED 6,511 9,428
Digital platform business IS FEER 15,743 —
Discontinued operation BRIEREER
Trading business RS — 534
Total segment assets DEBE EAEE 54,701 58,888
Unallocated bank balances and cash ROMBITEBRIRS 12,312 14,927
Unallocated corporate assets (ot R Ao b3 & = e 12,084 15,075
Consolidated total assets REEEHAE 79,097 88,890
Segment liabilities DEEE
Continuing operations BEKEER
Financial services business & Bl AR 7% = 7% 15,295 18,167
Corporate consulting business EFRED 200 240
Digital platform business IS T AER 229 —
Discontinued operation ERIEREER
Trading business 25 %1% — 3,561
Total segment liabilities DE A EEE 15,724 21,968
Convertible bonds AR (S 2 85,110 85,557
Unallocated corporate liabilities et AOBEEE FEWD 7,198 8,860
Consolidated total liabilities REABEAE 108,032 116,385

Note: Unallocated corporate assets mainly comprised of

unallocated right-of-use assets.

Unallocated corporate liabilities mainly comprised of

unallocated lease liabilities

headquarter expenses.

and accrued

Wiz ROMEEEETEBRERD

IfEREEE -

AOEEERBETERERD
RHEEREKREF A
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6.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE
REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. WARDEBERS
Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 DIEHE (B
(d) Other segment information (d) EBM7EEH
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZ2022F12A318LFE
Financial ~ Corporate Digital
services  consulting platform
business business business Unallocated Total
SMEE LEEM HETA
£% % £% ROE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Tz TR TR Tz
Amounts included in the AR BRRIEE
measure of segment profit RAWEETE
or loss or segment assets: ZEE:
Additions to non-current assets  ANEJFREEE
(other than financial assets) (ERMEERM) - - 14,901 - 14,901
Depreciation of property, plant ~ ¥1% - BiE K&/
and equipment neE - — (8) (1,170) (1,178)
Depreciation of right-of-use TREAENE
assets (794) - - (2,786) (3,580)
Amortisation of intangible assets T & & 3 - (228) (739) - (967)
Reversal of impairment loss on 2 5 FEU 8 B [
trade receivables EER 205 3 - — 208
Impairment loss on deposits and & & E e FA
other receivables mEEE U] - - O} (5)
Impairment loss on loans &M & SR E R
receivable (814) — - — (814)
Written off of deposits and MiERe kM
other receivables eI FRIE - (8) - - (8)
Interest income FISHA 26 — - 16 42
Amounts regularly provided to TEHIRETFFELE
the chief operating REEERFA
decision-maker but not ABERTEMN
included in the measure of &% :
segment profit or loss:
Gain on deregistration of MBARFEEZ
subsidiaries Yoz - - — 21 21
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A318LLFE
6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6.

6.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 6.2 DEHMEH

okk

(d) Other segment information (Continued)

(d) A7 ZEH ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZ2021F128318LLEE

Financial Corporate
services  consulting
business business  Unallocated Total
SRRE  REHET
%% %75 KA fEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET
Amounts included in the SFADBERFNER
measure of segment profit or HIHBEEEZ
loss or segment assets: S
Additions to non-current assets RNEFRBDEE (27
(other than financial assets) BERIN 2,382 — 11,804 14,186
Depreciation of property, plant and #1% - &= K& &
equipment ne (1) — (1,142) (1,143)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FE#EEENE (894) (1,232) (2,100) (4,226)
Amortisation of intangible assets %/ & & £ §4 = (228) s (228)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of B 5 e kIa OrlE
impairment loss on trade E1R)BERE
receivables [t (303) 58 — (245)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of Ze & H i fE W8
impairment loss on deposits and ~ (i{EE1E), /# T
other receivables T E & (5) 1 (10) (14)
Impairment loss on loans EWEZREEE
receivable (32) — — (32)
Interest income FEHA 6 = 6 12
Amounts regularly provided to TEHREHTFEIELY
the chief operating decision- REEBRAD
maker but not included in the  HEBHEHAENEHE:
measure of segment profit or
loss:
Reversal of impairment loss on BIE M B e IR R
finance lease receivables Bl EEE 950 = = 950
(Loss)/gain on deregistration of MEBARFHELZ
subsidiaries (E18), Mz = (16) 42 26
Loss on deconsolidation of B R RBUBARE A
subsidiaries Rz B (4,052) — — (4,052)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

6.

Bt ¥ ¥ %% Bt 5E

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
6.2 Segment reporting (Continued)
(e) Geographical information

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the Group’s revenue from external customers
(including continuing and discontinued operations)
is derived solely from its operations in Hong Kong
(place of domicile), where all of the Group’s non-
current assets are located in Hong Kong. The
geographical location of external customers is
based on the location at which the goods are
delivered and services rendered.

(f)  Major customers

Revenue from a customer contributing over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group is as follow:

6.

AR BEBHRE (&)

6.2 o

okt

J

R & ()
(e) EHEH

H E2022%F 20219128318
LEFE - REINBREFHKRA (B
FERHERERILEEEER) 2R
BERES (FTiE) EE - K
SENMEERBDEEMRS
o INERER P M IR AL B TR
RN EY R RE A 2 o

) ZFEEF

AR EE BN ERBBI10%NES
WA :

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT T T
Customer A — financial services BEA — S RRBGER
business 5,363 4,261
DISCONTINUED OPERATION 7. ERIEEEZER

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
completed disposing the trading business to an independent
third party.

Trading business represented the separate line of major
business and is classified as discontinued operation for the year
ended 31 December 2022. For the purpose of presenting
discontinued operation, the comparative consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and the related notes have been
represented.

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

7.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

The results and cash flows of the trading business for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

7. ERIEESHEE @

BHEERRSRAT

HE2022F K2021F12A3MBILFEE 5%

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHT
Revenue A 2,534 3,344
Cost of sales §H 65 A A (2,147) (2,946)
Other income and gains/(losses) HAb g A Rz (E18) 79 (5,279)
Reversal of impairment loss on trade 5 EWFIAR CREEE
receivables — 13
Operating and administrative expenses KR ITHAX (982) (1,667)
Finance costs B & KA — (103)
Loss before income tax BrPTIS R R &R (516) (6,638)
Income tax expenses Fri5fi 2 — .
Loss after income tax from discontinued ERIEEEEFRTERE
operation &8 (516) (6,638)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39(a) HEME R Az Wz
(H13£39(a)) 2,796 —
Profit/(loss) for the period from discontinued B #R IFH&EEBIRNEF],
operation (E18) 2,280 (6,638)
Cash flows from discontinued operation: KE BRI EEBR
REME
Operating cash inflows KER S MA (27) 176
Investing cash outflows KER LR — B
Financing cash outflows BMER LM — (228)
Total cash outflows EIRSREE (27) (52)

ANNUAL REPORT £E %} » 2022

179



180

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& A\
rB

Bt ¥ ¥ %% Bt 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12A31HIEFE

8.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/(LOSSES) 8. HhIhARUE (Ei8)
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$"000 HK$'000
FET FHT

Continuing operations BEKSEEK
Bank interest income HRITHAEHA 42 12
Other operating income H g A 206 2,227
Changes in fair value of financial assets at AT EBEFABZZ EMEE
FVPL (Note 22(a)&(b)) R EEZS
(Ktat22(a) % (b)) (499) (809)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HNB ARz kS
(Note 39(e)) (Kt7£39(e)) — 1
Waiver of other payables FA 6 H M B T RUIR — 622
Written off of deposits and other i 1= & & H b FE Y SR I8
receivables (8) —
Government grants oo B 48 By (a2 679 —
Sundry income I A 169 242
589 2,295

Note: The government grants represented a one-off subsidy under

Employment Support Scheme launched by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the year ended 31
December 2022. There are no unfulfilled conditions and other
contingencies attached to the receipts of those subsidies.

Biat - BZE2022%12 A31 BIEFEE @ BIT#BNEM

TBREAXFEELEMERLN —RIERS
BE o 5% %5 10 B) I M 1) R 2 RO (R (F SRR TR
B o

FINANCE COSTS 9. A & AR
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T

Continuing operations BHEKEEK

Imputed interest on convertible bonds et AJ A RE (& 5 2 (i & F) 8 02 13,319 11,685
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 405 134
13,724 11,819

Note:
the convertible bonds for both years.

It represents the imputed interest on the liability component of
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

10.

11.

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. PRFRiSMAIEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BATE R ATE B, (G A) TFIER %
EH
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Continuing operations BESEER
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (@ BIXRKN(BEESHS)
emoluments): )
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IARHMER 16,093 16,529
Pension scheme contributions RS 5B 425 481
Share-based payment expenses PARR (0 A 2R M S R 2 - 997
16,518 18,007
(b) Other items: (b) HMIER :
Auditor's remuneration ZE R BN & 950 920
Depreciation expenses in respect of: ATHHERS
Property, plant and equipment mE - BERRE 1,178 1,143
Right-of-use assets EREEE 3,580 4,226
Amortisation of intangible assets BRAESH 967 228
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment B 5 EWERIA (BB E
loss on trade receivables E18),/RERR (208) 245
Impairment loss on deposits and other 2 K H A e U IR R (&
receivables 518 5 14
Impairment loss on loans receivable ERE R ERER 814 32
Reversal of impairment loss on finance BMERERENFIER R RE
lease receivables &8 - (950)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 11. E58E
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the PR A _E AR B R BB A B &5 3 BE ) 7R
applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies FEESHMAOT
Ordinance, is as follows:
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Executive Directors: WITES -
Fees ik — =
Other emoluments: H A
Salaries, housing allowances, other e FEEER - HmER
allowances and benefits-in-kind R B Y H = 2,955 2,915
Pension scheme contributions RIKREFT IR 41 42
Share-based payment expenses LARR 7 7 EFE B0 A A 2 — 75
2,996 3,032
Independent non-executive Directors: B IEHITES -
Fees ik 360 360
Share-based payment expenses ARG D B ER A RAE — 27
360 387
3,356 3,419
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 11. EFHE &)
(a) Independent non-executive Directors () BIKHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive Directors FRNENBIUERITEST 2SN

during the year were as follows:

Share-based

payment Total
Fees expenses emoluments
BURR 13
AEBEMN
ne N MesE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FET
2022: 20224 :
Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann HERE 120 — 120
Ng Ka Sim, Casina REE 120 — 120
Wong Wing Kit Bkt 120 — 120
360 — 360
2021: 20214 :
Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BRE 120 9 129
Ng Ka Sim, Casina REE 120 9 129
Wong Wing Kit ok 120 9 129
360 27 387
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EHZ=2022F12A31HILtFE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 11. ESME @

(b) Executive Directors (b) HITEE

Salaries, housing

allowances, other Pension Share-based
allowances and scheme payment Total
Fees benefits-in-kind contributions expenses emoluments
¥e EBREMR- LU 5
HiRER BARE RE®RH
e B = sTEIfAtR HREAX MemE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET FET
2022: 20224 :
Wong Hin Shek TR
("Mr. Wong") (TE%£]) — 1,950 18 - 1,968
Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson REE — 100 5 — 105
Tsang Kwai Ping AR — 905 18 — 923
— 2,955 41 — 2,996
2021: 20214 :
Wong Hin Shek T B — 1,950 18 — 1,968
Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson REE — 120 6 — 126
Tsang Kwai Ping AR — 845 18 75 938
— 2,915 42 75 3,032

FRATEENMEAMRBEEFEEEAR
ARAREEEH T EEHRORY - LB
MFATEENME SRR EEL/EARA

The executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The independent and non-

executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company and the Group.

No share options were granted to directors in respect of their
services to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year end 31 December 2021, certain directors were
granted share options, in respect of their services to the Group
under the share option scheme of the Company. Details of the
share option scheme are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emolument was paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

RASEEEMEHORS

BHE2022F12A31BLEEFE  BMEREE A
RNEBRENRE M AKEER TR -

HZE2021F 128318 IEFE - BEBEAQAFTH
BREE ETESHEUAEBNRY
BERERE BRESSNFBEINGE Y
BT M FE40 -

HE2022FEK2021F12A31HIEFE @ Wi
EHERENESRERRERET M
2 HE e

HE2022FEK2021F12A31HIEFE - A&

EHERESE MM AERREEMA
R IMARREE IR E B E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included one (2021: one) director. The emoluments of the
remaining four (2021: four) highest paid individuals for the year
ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

12.

EShhERSFMAL

FAN AEBRAERRTMATEE—%
(20215 : —H)EF - #1E2022F 12 A31H
IHEE - TR (20214 - OAR) & o o
ATEFHBIT

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind e EMEREMAS 4,172 4,298
Pension scheme contributions RINE T B K 72 72
Share-based payment expenses ARt AERE 2 RAX — 159
4,244 4,529

Their emoluments fell within the following bands: RENMSBELOT
2022 2021
20224 20214F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
HK$ BT AE A
Nil=1,000,000 = %1,000,000 1 1
1,000,001-2,000,000 1,000,001 2 2,000,000 3 3

No share options were granted to non-director, highest paid
individuals in respect of their services to the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

During the year end 31 December 2021, certain non-director,
highest paid individuals were granted share options, in respect
of their services to the Group under the share option scheme
of the Company. Details of the share option scheme are set out
in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

There was no arrangement under which the above non-director
and highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021. No compensation for loss of office has been paid by the
Group for any individual for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.
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A o

HE2021F12A31BLEFE  ETIIFEEN
& = 5 B A AR IR AN 2 5] /9 BB IR pE AT 21 IR
TRERE  UREHFESEUAREENRY - 258
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Bt %5 ¥R %< Bft 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A31HLLFE
INCOME TAX CREDIT 13. FhiSRik%
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first REBEMESH MRS - & &K1 352,000,000
HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed B ITE s M BB X R8.25% - i iR
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 2,000,000 7T B35 | A Bt = B 1 5 16.5% ©
16.5%. The profits of group entities in Hong Kong that are not THEAFESHRMBFINESEEEREN T
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will AR 16.5% B — R HH - ARAEE I
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. No provision for BERBELEMNERNAE Bt ANHER
Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the current and prior Z BRI A IR BB RS T A B -
periods as the Group has no assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong.
The subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to enterprise KBRS B AR AREE2021F12 A
income tax at tax rates of 25% for the year ended 31 318 IEFER25% M R BN EMEH
December 2021.
2022 2021
2022 20214
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations operation operations operation
BHE =31 BB Bk
REER REER R IRE T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET FHEIT
Continuing operations BHREREER
Current tax BVERRT 18
Hong Kong profits tax: BEBEMEH
— Tax for the year — AFERIE — — 12 —
— Over-provision in — RFHBREEE
prior year (36) — — -
Deferred tax (Note 31) RIERIE (f77231) (39) — (38) =
(75) - (26) —
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 13. FRiERiT% (@
Income tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss before RERZERELGE B REMEEBARX
income tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and HIFBR PTIS T AT E B S AR A T

other comprehensive income as follows:

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Continuing Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations operation operations operation
BHiE =53 BB Bk
R REER R R
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHIT
Loss before income tax B P15 15 Bl S 18 (30,175) 2,280 (24,176) (6,638)
Tax calculated at the LA E16.5%
domestic rate of 16.5% (20214 : 16.5%)
(2021: 16.5%) FTEMBIE (4,978) 376 (3,988) (1,096)
Effect of two-tiered profit tax M AR 15 % Fx R B 57 &2
rate regime — — (12) =
Tax effect of income not BARTRANTIETZ 2
taxable for tax purpose (437) (461) (442) (2)
Tax effect of expenses not PRI R RIS 2
deductible for tax purposes 3,001 — 3,161 938
Tax effect of tax losses not A FHERFIE E BT 5
recognised 2 2,375 85 1,544 —
Utilisation of tax losses ) A LRI AR R B
previously not recognised E518 — — (289) 160
Over-provision in prior year F—FEBREEE (36) — — —
Total income tax credit FriS Rk & 4258 (75) — (26) —
As at 31 December 2022, the Group has unused tax losses of M2022F 12 A318 - AEERB A IEEE
approximately HK$50,800,000 (2021: HK$85,034,000) available 49 /550,800,000 7T (20214 : 85,034,000/
for offset against future profits that may be carried forward J0) ¢ A] FRYEEMR R SE R R Al o FR A oK A
indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in T8 ORI 2R 28 F SRR - 2N 55 3] 37 4 5 B IE B 48
respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future BRELEHIBEE

profit streams.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

14. DIVIDEND 14.
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

15. LOSS PER SHARE 15.

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share based on the
following data:

iR R

BEES BB REET2022F12A31HILE
EWEMARE (20214 : &) ©

SiREE

BRERREEERTIREATEIERE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Loss attributable to owners of the Company Bt E &R EAR K EEEE 2
for the purpose of calculating basis and RRTHAE AEGEE
diluted loss per share:
Continuing operations FELE X (30,100) (24,485)
Discontinued operation BRI X 2,280 (6,638)
Total loss attributable to owners of the RERERERIEEEEBK
Company from continuing and RRRIHAE ANEIEEEE
discontinued operations (27,820) (31,123)
Number of shares
KRG &R
2022 2021
20225 20214
‘000 ‘000
(FR) (F)
Weighted average number of ordinary A EBREARBEEEE 2
shares for the purpose of calculating LA I RE 19 8
basic and diluted loss per share 525,437 291,982

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based on
the loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of 525,437,000
(2021: 291,982,000) ordinary shares in issue.

Diluted loss per share amount for both years were not
presented because the impact of the exercise of the share
options and conversion of convertible bonds was anti-dilutive.
Potential ordinary shares are dilutive when and only when their
conversion into ordinary shares would increase loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company.

BREARNREFEEBRDBREARR EEBKAR
REMGEE AREBETEBRNNETY
#(525,437,000% (20214 : 291,982,000/
JL)RTHE °
HRTEBRERBRTBRESNEER
REFEE  FAEmEFENEREEE
BeRUEER FHEREETBRRER
REBRGENARBEEAREEZRER
B T EBEE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12A31HIEFE

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. "M% - MBE KR
Computer
Leasehold and office
improvements equipment Motor vehicles Total
B R
HEWELE PRAERXRE RE &ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
COST: R
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1 /818 2,376 511 — 2,887
Addition BE = 15 3,433 3,448
At 31 December 2021 and K2021F12A318 &

1 January 2022 202241 H1H 2,376 526 3,433 6,335
Acquisition of a subsidiary ks — M B A A

(Note 38) (K:38) — 3 — 3
Addition BE — 23 — 23
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMRER R

(Note 39(a)) (H17E39(a)) — (294) — (294)
At 31 December 2022 12022412 A31H 2,376 258 3,433 6,067

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION R:itiiERBERFRE :
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES:
At 1 January 2021 #202141 A1H 1,691 446 — 2,137
Depreciation for the year FAHE 685 35 423 1,143
At 31 December 2021 and R2021F12A318 &

1 January 2022 202241 H1H 2,376 481 423 3,280
Depreciation for the year FRFE — 34 1,144 1,178
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHE A R

(Note 39(a)) (Htit39()) — (294) — (294)
At 31 December 2022 720224124318 2,376 221 1,567 4,164

NET CARRYING AMOUNT: BRERE ¢
At 31 December 2022 R2022912831H — 37 1,866 1,903
At 31 December 2021 R20219F12831H — 45 3,010 3,055
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

17. GOODWILL 17. BHE
HK$'000
FET
COST: RN :
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, M202141 818 ~ 20214128318 -

1 January 2022 202241 A1H 11,273
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 38) e b — MM B AR (A7:£38) 130
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A31H 11,403

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES: EFtEEEE !
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, 202141418 20214128318 »
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 202291 A 1H X&2022612H31H 5,803
NET CARRYING AMOUNT: BRTE FE :
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A31H 5,600
At 31 December 2021 202112 A31H 5,470

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to

ARMEHNAME  BEIEEC IR E

the cash-generating unit (“CGU") identified as follows: HEM(REEEEM)BT
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Corporate consulting business EFRNED 5,470 5,470
Digital platform business BT XD 130 —
5,600 5,470
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &

GOODWILL (Continued)

Notes:
Corporate consulting business

The goodwill was arising from the acquisition of corporate consulting
business in the financial year of 2019. The carrying amount of goodwill
is HK$5,470,000 as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit of corporate consulting business (the “Corporate
Consulting Business CGU") is determined by the Directors with
reference to a valuation report issued by an independent qualified
valuer. The recoverable amount of the Corporate Consulting Business
CGU has been determined from value-in-use calculation. The calculation
used cash flow projections based on latest financial budgets approved
by the management covering a period of 5 years and at a pre-tax
discount rate of 22.03% (2021: 18.04%). The cash flow projections
beyond the 5 years periods are extrapolated using a terminal growth
rate at 2% (2021: 2%). Cash flow projections during the budget period
are based on past performance and the Group management’s
expectations for the market development and future performance of the
Corporate Consulting Business CGU. The discount rate is determined
based on the cost of capital adjusted by the specific risk associated with
the Corporate Consulting Business CGU. As the recoverable amount of
the Corporate Consulting Business CGU is higher than its carrying
amount, the Directors are in opinion that no impairment loss was
considered for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Digital platform business

The goodwill was arising from the acquisition of digital platform
business as set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
during the year ended 31 December 2022. The goodwill with the net
carrying amount of HK$130,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil) is
allocated to the cash-generating unit of digital platform business (the
“Digital Platform Business CGU").

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of the
Digital Platform Business CGU is determined by the Directors with
reference to a valuation report issued by an independent qualified
valuer. The recoverable amount of the Digital Platform Business CGU
has been determined from value-in-use calculation. The calculation used
cash flow projections based on latest financial budgets approved by the
management covering a period of 5 years and at a pre-tax discount rate
of 20.82% (2021: Nil). The cash flow projections beyond the 5 years
periods are extrapolated using a terminal growth rate at 3% (2021: Nil).
Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on the Group
management’s expectations for the market development and future
performance of the Digital Platform Business CGU. The discount rate is
determined based on the weighted average cost of capital reflecting the
specific risk associated with the Digital Platform Business CGU. As the
recoverable amount of the Digital Platform Business CGU is higher than
its carrying amount, the Directors are in opinion that no impairment loss
was considered for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Financial services business
The goodwill was arising from the acquisition of financial services
business in the previous years. Full impairment loss had been recognised

in the previous year. The carrying amount of goodwill is Nil as at 31
December 2022 and 2021.
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17.

HE
Hiit
SR

FEBTRRE20190M BFEEWE A EBRERS - 1
2022F K2021412A318 2N EEEA
5,470,000 7T °

HE2022F12A31AIEFE - DEBAEBRESE
AEM((CEBHEBRESEEEN]) DHESK
ﬂ% EBUAERGEMEENGEREEE -

ERREFESEEEMN AN E S FEIRER
L@ﬁi%m FTEEARBEREEREZSETYT
BIEEEH RS RETEE - MESFHRM - WIRH
A B 35 2 22.03% (20214F : 18.04% ) BH 35 - 54 HA
MEZESRETER ALK mHE R E2% (2021
F 2% )HE - EEHE RS RETEA HBRER
FRBURAEEEEBHECERALEKESE
EBNZTBEREARKRAMETE - BMRETIR
BECEBRAESRESEEABEUZABRSERAR S
¥Z§$ﬁ$ﬁ#m HROEFZAEBRSES
BUWAKESERREREE EFRABEE
BB ZE2022F 128318 L EFEEHRESE
(20214 : &%)

HZE2022F 12 A31 B IEFE - BOERA T BIREHT
FE38FTHEL - EEIRE WEEIE T A %R - R2022F
12)%315 7% 22 BR 18 {8.130,00078 7T (2021 4F : £&)
NEEHE T XK RSELEV([BIBFEER
REELBMN]) -

HZE2022F12A318IEFE @ 8 FEE£FNRS
ELXBE((BBFLAEEBRSEEEN]) M lkE
SHEHES2EBUAERMGEMEAENGBERS
ﬁia%%ié%%ﬁ@%i%ﬁ%ﬂ%@ﬁ%ﬁ
RIEFEREENERT - ZTERANRESRER
DHENEBEBAIERESF RN SFTEES
FATITIR R 520.82% (20214F : ) - 5SEEZHNIE S
TIEBIER 3% (20214 « ) MR in g R RETH
g BEPHNRERTEANERAEBEEEEY
B TAEBRESELBNNMBEERAREKE
WIEH - IR R DIRBERBEHBFEEEBRSE
A B8 {7 4 B A 45 SE LR O DN 39 & KRR AN HETE ©
HREBETFEEERESEABUNAKRESE SR
HIRME  EERAHE2022F12A31HIEFEN
$EE R E RS -

& B AR A5 SR 35

BAEDRERBEFERBESRREER  ERE—
FERBEHRME/E - R2022F K2021F12 A
318 BEKREEAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

18.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. EBILE=E
Trading Customer Blockchain
right relationship technology
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c)) Tota|
(Wft(a) (WD) (H#E() st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TETT TET TET TETT
COST: AR :
At 1 January 2021, R2021F1 818 -
31 December 2021, 2021 12A318
1 January 2022 20221 /81H 5,705 1,140 — 6,845
Acquisition of a subsidiary Ui — R E A
(Note 38) (Ht5£38) — — 14,040 14,040
At 31 December 2022 2022912 A31H 5,705 1,140 14,040 20,885
ACCUMULATED R BHERBESE
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES:
At 1 January 2021 202161 A1 18 2,805 418 — 3,223
Amortisation for the year F N — 228 — 228
At 31 December 2021 R2021%F12A31H
and 1 January 2022 %20221H1H 2,805 646 — 3,451
Amortisation for the year F N — 228 739 967
At 31 December 2022 2022412 4318 2,805 874 739 4,418
NET CARRYING AMOUNT: BRMEFE :
At 31 December 2022 1R20229F12A31H 2,900 266 13,301 16,467
At 31 December 2021 R2021%F12A31H 2,900 494 5 3,394
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

18.

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(@}

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group holds two trading rights of the business carrying on
the regulated activities of Type 1 (dealing in securities) (“Type
1), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) (“Type 4 & 9”) as defined under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
Trading right have indefinite useful life and therefore no
amortisation has been provided. The recoverable amount of the
trading right is determined by the Directors with reference to a
valuation report issued by an independent qualified valuer. The
recoverable amount of the trading right of Type 1 has been
determined by fair value less cost of disposal, which is primarily
making reference to the recent sales of similar transactions in the
market. As the recoverable amount of trading right of Type 1
was lower than its carrying amount, the Directors are in opinion
that full impairment loss of HK$1,600,000 has been recognised
in the previous year. The recoverable amount of the trading right
of Type 4 & 9 has been determined by value in use calculation
by using cash flow projections based on the latest financial
budgets approved by the management covering a period of 5
years and at a pre-tax discount rate of 25.75% (2021: 22.74%).
The cash flow projections beyond the 5 years periods are
extrapolated using a growth rate at 2% (2021: 2%). As the
recoverable amount of trading right of Type 4 and 9 is higher
than its carrying amount, the Directors are in the opinion that no
impairment loss was considered for the year ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

Customer relationship was arising from the acquisition of
corporate consulting business in the financial year of 2019.

Customer relationship of HK$1,140,000 represented the
intangible assets arose from the acquisition of corporate
consulting business and was valued as of the respective date of
acquisition by an independent qualified valuer on the basis of the
excess earnings method under the income approach. The
management of the Group considered customer relationship has
finite useful lives of 5 years and is amortised on a straight-line
basis.

Blockchain technology of HK$14,040,000 represented the
intangible assets arose from the acquisition of digital platform
business during the year ended 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, blockchain technology with the net
carrying amount of HK$13,301,000 is attributable to the Digital
Platform CGU with which the goodwill amount is recognised.
The management of the Group considered blockchain technology
has finite useful lives and is amortised on a straight-line basis
over 9.5 years. Details of the impairment assessment of that
cash-generating unit are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT

18.

AEBMIBZPENREEFRBAEEG (BEED
FENE)VMAENFR 1B (EEHERS)([#1
)  FAE(GELFREHER) RFOEUGR
HEEER)([FARIENIHRERHNE
BHMER S - X 5% EEEFE AR -
H B EE BT IR RS - RS IRE
SHEAESLL2E BB LA KR GHERMSY
BEMFEERSET - 1B ZEMHTIE
R RATFEERBSER ARG FHEE
EoBREIERZENAIE S BERE
FHE EFTRA L FECHER
1,600,000 JT W) B BUREE 18 - F4KX 9%
RSB AR BB IREFAEEFEE
FoEPRAENEEEBH EREFH
S TEE KRB AT B E25.75% (2021
F:22.74%) MRS FIEH - AFHAEED
WERIEBTHEA2% (20214 : 2%) HIE K
R o HRFEAROER MU E G EE
BREFEESE ESRAEE20226 &
202112 A31 A LLFEWEE ERERIS -

B BETIRN 20198 BF E KIB 1 X740
3

BFER%1,140,0008 L5 W B S X AR ER
ELENEREE YRSWEBHHR 273
SN A BB GERMZRAEE NTOBEREFE
EEETHE AEEEEERARTFHAE
WAIE A FEHRERASE  WIRHREEH

HZE2022F 128318 L FE » [@ 58 5 Bl
14,040,000/ TiER B WEHB T 8 5K
EARE -

M20224F12 A31 8 « [E#RER1T13,301,000
BITEBBBTAEBNRSEESN - HiE
BSHOLHER ASEEEERE BN
BRI EREER - WIREREMIL9.5F
i o BB EA BANRAETEHRER
AU BHRERMET -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. [EHIESE=E
HK$'000
FET
COST: RN :
At 1 January 2021 202151818 13,285
Addition BE 10,738
Lease modification HEER (12,542)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BB A R BUHER & AR (993)
Exchange realignment I 3, 38 2 10
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 72021412 H318 -
and 31 December 2022 20221818 %2022912A831H 10,498
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION: Rt e :
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1H1H8 9,655
Depreciation for the year FRFE 4,226
Lease modification HEENR (12,542)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries M B AR BUEL & AR (993)
Exchange realignment ME H % 10
At 31 December 2021 and R2021F12 8318 &

1 January 2022 20221 A1H 356
Depreciation for the year FANE 3,580
At 31 December 2022 R2022F 12 A31H 3,936

NET CARRYING AMOUNT: BRERE :
At 31 December 2022 M2022%12A31H 6,562
At 31 December 2021 MR2021F12 A31H 10,142
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

19.

20.

Bt ¥ ¥ %% Bt 5E

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 19. [PHESE@)
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Total cash outflow for leases HER@ ML B 3,719 4,087
The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s right to use FREEEEASBERELSEHERHERHE
underlying leased premises under operating lease arrangements HAANERBEBEEYENER - B IR AR
over the lease terms, which are stated at cost less accumulated BRI ERRREREZY  UHEE
depreciation, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease BENEAERFTSETHAE
liabilities.
For both years, the Group leases various offices for its RREFE  AKBREEKEHHESLE
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 3 PAE - HEEKHETEHARAB3F (20214 -
years (2021: 3 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an 3%F) - MERFRTIRERERER - &ETE
individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. In iRk B AR o FE B TE M & HARR R AT AR
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the MR AEERAANESR  WEESLA
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a HATHHIR -
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. NEELINER
2022
20225
HK$'000
FEx
At beginning of the year RE ) —
Addition through acquisition of FRKBE-—EHRNBRARANE
a subsidiary (Note 38) (H1:t38) 146
Addition NE 559
Share of loss for the year FADIEERE (183)
At end of the year RER 522
Details of the Group’s associates are as follows: AEEHEARNFBOT
Particulars of
issued capital Place of Percentage of
Name of company E%1T incorporation interest held Principal activities
AEER MRAFENE  oE AL 3L i B BHERZEIL TEEK
2022
2022 F
Articoin Limited (“Articoin”) HK$100 Hong Kong 20% Art technology
10087 B E=A PSR
Mapxus Metaverse Investment Limited US$256,411 British Virgin Islands 28% Indoor map on
("Mapxus”) blockchain digital
twin
BEFITTHREGRAA 256,411€7T HERZHFS I 8 52 2075 5 & WA
([EE]) & Al

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20. MEZELTNER (@)
The summarised financial information of the Articoin extracted # &% 8 ArticoinE £2022F 12 A31B L FE
from its management accounts for the year ended NEBRENMBERBZNOT
31 December 2022 is as follows:
2022
20225
HK$'000
FET
Articoin Articoin
As at 31 December M12A31H
Current assets BN & E 624
Current liabilities e B E (12)
Net assets EERE 612
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in B KB E L ArticoinfE &2
Articoin: iR
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEEEEELL 20%
Group'’s share of net assets of the associate REEELBEAREETR 122
Carrying amount of the investment REREE 122
Revenue & 1,934
Loss for the year FAEE (118)
Other comprehensive income Hii2EKA —
Total comprehensive income EHEUABEE (118)
Dividend received from the associate NIl &) —
Reconciliation to the Group’s share of AEEEAEArticoin ¥ &R
result in Articoin: HAR -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership N & B A R Y L 20%
Group's share of loss of the associate NEEEREE AR EE (24)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20.

The summarised financial information of the Mapxus and its
subsidiary (“Mapxus Group”) extracted from its management
accounts for the year 31 December 2022 is as follows:

P8 A BN i 28 ()

B BERERENBAR ([EEFEE])
HE2022F12A31HIEFERNEIERERE M
BERBENAT :

2022
20225
HK$'000
FERT
Mapxus Group BEZEE
As at 31 December M12H31H
Current assets MENEE 1,723
Current liabilities mEEE (293)
Net assets EERE 1,430
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in Mapxus HASEEMBEREEES
Group: HER
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEBEEEELL 28%
Group'’s share of net assets of the associate REEELBEAREETRE 400
Carrying amount of the investment REREE 400
Revenue W 5 —
Loss for the year FREE (570)
Other comprehensive income Hii2EmKA —
Total comprehensive income 2R A LB (570)
Dividend received from the associate B N 7 B WER A A% B —
Reconciliation to the Group’s share of result in rEBEGEREFEEEEN
Mapxus Group: HAR :
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A& E A R L 28%
Group's share of loss of the associate NEE LB AR E1E (159)
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21.

Bt ¥5 ¥ %% Bt 5E

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

On 22 February 2022, the Group acquired 43.75% of the
issued share capital of a private company, with the aim of
involving in the investment SPAC projects with 2.88% effective
equity interest, at a consideration of US$350,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,730,000). The investment was recognised
as financial asset at FVOCI. The carrying amount of financial
asset at FVOCI is HK$1,265,000. The decrease in fair value of
this financial asset of approximately HK$1,465,000 has been
dealt with in other comprehensive income and FVOCI reserve
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

On 16 August 2019, the Group acquired 10% of the issue
share capital of a private company as financial assets at FVOCI
at cash consideration of HK$2,000,000. As at 31 December
2022, the Group's shareholding in this private company was
approximately 9.55% (2021: 9.55%). The carrying amount of
financial asset at FVOCI is HK$1,788,000 (2021:
HK$2,185,000). The decrease in fair value of this financial asset
of approximately HK$397,000 (2021: HK$545,000) has been
dealt with in other comprehensive income and FVOCI reserve
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

21.

DARFEESARBEBRAZERE

=

1202292 5228 + A& E A {E350,000%
7T (P88 R 492,730,000/ 7T) WHE—REALA
AIAY43.75% B BITIRA « AH 2 815 B Kok
BRKIE A RI2.88% B ERIAE - ZIREH
RAEARFEEFTAEMEZERGZZ CHE
E-UAFEEFAAEMEZAREZZ CHE
EZREHEEA1,265,00087C - 2 RMEEZ
NFEBER D %)1,465,0008 0 E RE £2022
FNRANBLEFEZEMEE RS RARF
BEFAEMEZEAREHEEERE -

R2019F8H16R  AEBUBRESKE
2,000,000/ o i — AL A A B B BT IR
#110%  tEAULAFEEFAEMEEmBEAZ
SREE o R2022F12A31H » KEERZ
FAARAI R IR R A9.55% (20214
9.55%) - U ATFEEFAEMEERANE
B & B R BR T {E /51,788,0007% 7T (20214
2,185,000%7T) ° B L B EER A FEER
4> #9397,000% 7T (20214 : 545,000 7T) B
REZE2022F 128318 LFEMHEMBEMEK
ARAAFEEFT AL MEERAREEANER
3 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12A31HIEFE

22.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

22.

DA

BRI ABRCEMEE

2022 2021

2022 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Investment in a private company Mete @ R—RELE QDRI E Wie) 319 390
Put option in relation to acquisition of BN EE—RKT B A A A BRI

a subsidiary et 38 e (izss) 53 o
Listed equity instrument in Hong Kong at ~ && EmMBRATLE  ZmBEE

market value Mote ) (K b)) 312 298

684 688

Less: Non-current portion o FERENEL (372) (390)

Current portion VoEUk=2) 312 298

Notes: HieE -
(a) On 29 October 2020, the Group entered into a simple agreement (a) MR2020F10A 298 » AEBLE—MFLE QT

(b)

for future equity with a private company to grant the Group the
future right to acquire certain shares of the private company at
a consideration of US$150,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,170,000). The right is classified as financial asset at FVPL.
The decrease in fair value of this financial asset of HK$71,000
has been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: HK$97,000).

Fair value of the listed equity instrument in Hong Kong has been
determined by reference to its quoted market price at the
reporting date in an active market. Fair value of the listed
trading portfolio investment is Level 1 recurring fair value
measurement. The decrease in fair value of this financial asset of
HK$428,000 has been recognised in profit or loss for the year

ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$712,000).

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT

(b)

RN AR EGERRE  BTASERES

FZAEARABRMOHORRESN  KEA

150,000 7T (A8 E M 491,170,000 7T) ° &

BEFRDBEBAAFEBEAABSEZCHE

E-lemEENRFEERD71,0008

7T EREE2022F12 31 BILFEEEZFS
(20214 : 97,000/ 7T) °

EEALTHRATANAFEENIZRBE
REARAEERMIZHMSRESE - &
MRBEERENATEEAE —EBETIE
ATEEEZE - WEHEENRFEERD
428,000 7T © BEREZE20229 124318 1k
FEEEFEPRER (20214 : 712,000 7T) °
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23.

24.

Bt ¥5 ¥ %% Bt 5E

INVENTORIES 23. F&

2022 2021
20224F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T T
Digital assets inventories HBEERE 418 —
Finished goods BB — 279
418 279

TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. BREWRIE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Trade receivables B 5 W GIE 6,280 16,642
Less: Provision for impairment losses OB EEERE (3,897) (8,482)
2,383 8,160

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period is generally one month. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables and has credit control
procedures established to monitor credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing.

The settlement term of trade receivables arising from the
business of dealing securities is two business days after trade
date (“T+2").

Trade receivables from cash clients related to a wide range of
customers for whom there was no recent history of default.
Based on the past experience, current assessment and the
available forward-looking information, the management believes
that no additional impairment allowance is necessary in respect
of these balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are considered fully recoverable.

Trade receivables from HKSCC is current which represents
pending trades arising from the financial business of securities
dealing and are normally due on “T+2” day in accordance with
the requirements of HKSCC.

AEBREEFZEFGRRIBUEERT
FEEH-—RKRA—EA B2EFAERREER
PRER o AEREEARIEHIRGEE Z B - I
REFEEFUEREERR SREEA
SeEMRaBRRR - EHERKFEAR
RE o

KEBFEEXHNE S BUENEER
ReaxZBERMEZEE ([T+2]) -

HEZEFEBNEIREEFEHHAR
AT AR FOER o RIBIBELS - BITHER
ARAEEEN  EEERS ARNEEEE
VEERE BZFEERERB/TUAETH
WEl - MEF R FERTIRBINHEERE -

KRB EEERARNE  HiEREESE
BEEMEBHNFTARRS B —RERBREEHE
HRTRERIT+2] BEIE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12A31HIEFE

24.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24. BHAEWRIA (&)
Details of trade receivables as at the end of reporting period, RFERKR  BEFEBENFBOT ¢

are as follows:

2022 2021
2022F 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
Trade receivables from financial services BEEEINSRRBEBHE
business other than dealing in securities 2 FEWGRIE 315 1,809
Trade receivables from corporate consulting 1A Z 5 WA
business 317 1,637
Trade receivables from digital platform HIETaXEBNE S EWIE
business 20 —
Trade receivables from trading business B o XEBHE 5 REIWIA — 162
652 3,608
Trade receivables from the business of BHEEEBNE HEWRIE
dealing in securities
— Cash clients — BHe®FP 106 174
— HKSCC — BEEE 54 3,884
— Brokers — &4 1,571 494
1,731 4,552
2,383 8,160

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24,

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of impairment
losses, arising from business other than dealing in securities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
are as follows:

8 5% BUGRIA (@)

RBEHKR  KAELBEEUNINEBNE S
FEUGRIE (FOBRRE RS ) MR DT (IR ZE
BED 4T :

2022 2021

20225 20214F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Within 30 days 30H A 221 1,879
31 to 60 days 31260H 236 325
61 to 120 days 612120H 77 539
Over 120 days 1208 A 118 865
652 3,608

The movement in the expected credit loss under lifetime
expected credit loss-not credit-impaired for trade receivables for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

HE2022F K2021F 12831 B ILFENE S
ERFBEEZHEHEEFRETMEEL &
BENEREEEEZSHNT ¢

2022 2021

2022 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FET

At 1 January M1A1H 8,482 8,250
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ (REEERRE),

impairment loss for the year FRREREE (208) 232

Disposal of subsidiaries £ E M E A A (4,377) —

At 31 December M12A31H 3,897 8,482
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12A31HIEFE

25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES

25.

FAITRIA ~ RE K H fth EUFRIR

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHEIT

Prepayments TEfT A 296 438
Deposits and other receivables =& & H b e RIE 1,705 1,851
2,001 2,289

Less: Provision for impairment losses WO EEE R (20) (167)
1,981 2,122

Less: Non-current portion W IERENER (1,354) (1,358)
Current portion TENED 5 627 764

The movements in the expected credit loss under 12-months
expected credit loss for the deposits and other receivables for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

HE2022F K2021FE12 A3 BIEEE @ 1S
NEMEWRZIEE12(8 AFESEEEE Y

BHEEBRNEHNT :

2022 2021

2022F 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

At 1 January M1A1H 167 54,742

Impairment loss for the year FRRERE 5 14
Written off of deposits and other 12 & N CH b FE 4R SR TE A EE

receivables — (956)

Disposal of subsidiaries HEKE QR (152) —

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries M B A B EUEAR S ABR — (57,690)

Exchange realignment PE o % — 4,057

At 31 December M12A31H 20 167
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26.

Bt 5 3k 2= Bft 5%
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EHZ=2022F12A31HILtFE
LOANS RECEIVABLE EURE R
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Gross loans and interest receivables JE U E FR K F) B 48 4,789 5,414
Less: Provision for impairment loss OB EEERE (1,086) (272)
3,703 5,142
Note: Biat -

As at 31 December 2022, loans receivable with gross principal
amount of HK$4,720,000 (2021: HK$5,400,000) in aggregate
and related gross interest receivables of HK$69,000 (2021:
HK$14,000) were due from three independent third parties.
These loans are interest-bearing at fixed rates ranging from 8%
to 12% (2021: 8% to 12%) per annum and was repayable
within twelve months from the end of the reporting period and
therefore were classified as current assets as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

The Group has no collateral over loans receivable as at 31
December 2022 and 2021. Impairment loss of HK$814,000
(2021: HK$32,000) has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

The movements in the expected credit loss for loans receivable
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as
follows:

M2022F12A318 At A& @
4,720,000 7T (20214 : 5,400,000/ 7T) Z
JE U B 5% K AR B e 4R FI B 48 5569,0007% JT
(20214 : 14,0008 7T) * I=FBILE=7H
FT4E R o 3 FE B FIR8% = 12% &l FE F F K&t
B (2021F : 8% £12%) » ARREHFRMLET
1218 A REE - Bt 20224F % 20214F12 A
BTHDBEARBEE -

R2022F K2021F 12 A31H » NEBE B ERE
WERIEFE G- HE2022F12A318 IEF
& » 814,000 7T, (20214F : 32,000 7T) B9
BEEEERGEERREMEEKARS E

7
e °©

HZE2022F K2021E 12 A31BIEEE - IR
BERMEREEEREZSHOT :

2022 2021

20225 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

At 1 January R1A1H 272 240
Impairment loss for the year FERREEE 814 32
At 31 December MN12A31H 1,086 272
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

26. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 26. EIRER
Reconciliation of gross carrying amount for loans receivable for HZE2022F %2021F 1231 A L FERKE
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is as follows: REEABENYERAT
Stage 1 Stage 2 Total
F—RER FoRR et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBIT FHEIT FHIT
At 1 January 2021 202141818 11,272 — 11,272
New loans originated EELERNTER 5,087 4,407 9,494
Repayment B (15,352) — (15,352)
At 31 December 2021 and 1K2021F12A318 &

1 January 2022 2022F1A1H 1,007 4,407 5,414
New loans originated EEENTER 5,084 886 5,970
Repayment B (5,084) (1,511) (6,595)
Transfer i (1,007) 1,007 —
At 31 December 2022 K2022F12831H — 4,789 4,789
The movements in the expected credit loss in respect of loans HZE2022F %2021F 1231 A L FERKE
receivable for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is FHWEBREESBEEEHOT
as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Total

F—RER -l 29 24 et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHBIT FHEIT FHIT

At 1 January 2021 2021561 H1H 240 = 240
(Reversal of Impairment loss)/ CREEERD),/

Impairment loss for the year FRREER (211) 243 32
At 31 December 2021 and M2021F12A31B &

1 January 2022 20221 H1H 29 243 272
Impairment loss for the year FRREERE — 814 814
Transfer i (29) 29 —
At 31 December 2022 1K2022F12/831H — 1,086 1,086
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27.

28.

Bt ¥5 ¥ %% Bt 5E

BANK BALANCES AND CASH 27. RITERKRIIRE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FBT
Bank balances — trust accounts Mot RITHER — SREERP W) 11,775 11,383
Bank balances and cash — general accounts $R1T& 8 REE — —REF 23,031 36,360
34,806 47,743

Note: The Group receives and holds money deposited by clients in the

course of the conduct of the regulated activities. These clients
money are maintained in a trust bank account and a financial
institution and bear interest at commercial rates. The Group has
recognised the corresponding trade payables to respective clients
(Note 29).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank balances and cash
— general accounts amounted to approximately
HK$23,031,000 (2021: approximately HK$36,360,000),
approximately HK$80,000 was denominated in RMB,
approximately HK$22,951,000 was denominated in Hong Kong
Dollars and nil was denominated in GBP (2021: approximately
HK$80,000, approximately HK$30,289,000 and HK$5,991,000
respectively). Therein, approximately HK$23,025,000 (2021:
approximately HK$36,216,000) were bank balances deposited
with credit worthy banks of high credit ratings in Hong Kong.
There is no pledged deposit as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

LEASE LIABILITIES

The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial
position in respect of the carrying amounts of lease liabilities
and the movements during the years are as follows:

28.

Bt : AEBEETEREZIHUBIFEER
FHEROFIE - ZEZFHZIER —EE
FRRITEP KRB ERBRE Wik EF X
AR AKEERRENSELFNERE
5 e RIB (FaE29) ©

1R2022F 128318 * AEB 2 RITEH IR
& — —MBRP A#4923,031,0007% 7T (2021
F : 4936,360,0007 7T) * £780,000% 7T A A
R¥EHE  4922,951,0008 TS TTEHE » A
BT LAESEHE (20214 : 5 5 A4780,0005
JC ~ #930,289,000/8 Jt & 475,991,000/%8
JC)  H A 4923,025,000/8 5T (20214 : 4
36,216,000 7)) BIFHR BB EAE SEERT
THAEERFIRITZRITAER - HE2025F
2021128318 - BESEREFER -

HE&E

AARAMBERRRNBAEAEREMERF
MEEHLIT -

Land and

buildings

T RIEF

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 January 2021 7202141818 3,354
Lease modification HEERT 10,738
Interest expenses FMEFAZ 134
Lease payments BERR (4,087)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 202112 A31H K2022%181H 10,139
Interest expenses MEFAKZ 405
Lease payments HERK (3.719)
At 31 December 2022 120224128318 6,825
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28.

Bt ¥ ¥ %% Bt 5E

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 28. THEBE @)
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHTT

Minimum lease payment due B (K HE & R AT B ) B

— Within one year — —FR 4,056 3,719
— In the second to fifth years, inclusive — F_EERF (BEEEMSE) 3,043 7,099
7,099 10,818
Less: Future finance charges B RRBEER (274) (679)
Present value of lease liabilities HEARRE 6,825 10,139
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FH T
Within one year —F R 3,830 3,314
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FEFERAF (RREEMT) 2,995 6,825
6,825 10,139

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities at 4.89% for the years ended 31 December

2022 and 2021.

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT
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29. TRADE PAYABLES 29. BHREMFKIA
Details of trade payables as at the end of reporting period are R|EMR  BEZEMNRENFBEOT
as follows:
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Trade payables from the business of BHEBEEEBNE S ENRIEA
dealing in securities
— Cash clients Mot — Rexpwa 12,772 14,978
— HKSCC — BREE 6 14
Trade payables from digital platform HISTFAEBNEFENRIE
business 305 —
Trade payables from trading business B 5B E S EMNFIA — 1,482
13,083 16,474
Note: As at 31 December 2022, the Group had trade payables due to KiaE - R2022F 12 A318 * ASEEM—FKALAR
a private company, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Wong, of A(ATEELERB)NESRNRIERN
approximately HK$3,271,000 (2021: HK$2,288,000) was arising 3,271,000/ 7T (20214F : 2,288,000 7T) -
from the Group’s ordinary course of business in dealing ZENFBEEAN BT S XFREFE
securities. The transaction with such related company were BRSFMEL HZRBEBAANRHELE
carried out in normal course of business. BEBBERELT
The settlement term of trade payables arising from the business REBHEBXEBNE FENRIBENEE D
of dealing securities is T+2. fRAT+2 o
An ageing analysis of trade payables arising from business other RBEHR REEFEENIINEBNE S
than dealing in securities as at the end of reporting period FEFSRIEREZE B H A L E R BR i 5 AT 40
based on the invoice date/contractual term, are as follows: T 5
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Within 30 days 30HA 201 126
31 to 60 days 31260H — —
61 to 120 days 612120H 104 —
Over 120 days 1208 A — 1,356
305 1,482
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30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 30. HfttENTRIBKRIESTFIA
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T T
Other payables B < FRIE 530 1,726
Accruals JE =t FRIA 1,965 1,835
2,495 3,561
31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 31. REERESE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET T4
As at 1 January m1A1R 560 598
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 38) W iE— R B AR (#:£38) (90) —
Credit to profit or loss for the year SFAFRNER (39) (38)
As at 31 December M®12A31H 431 560
The deferred tax liabilities arising from revaluation of intangible RLEHEABREBEFLEENEHGE -
assets.
32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 32. OJ#RRfEZ
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
2008 CBs (as defined below) ®ete @ 20084 A #2[% & 5
(E & R T xx)Wie) 12,935 53,147
Team Sunny CB (as defined below) ®ete ®) S BHA] # % (& %
(FE & R T 3)mao) — 32,410
2022 CBs (as defined below) ®ete @ 2022 F A AR E 5
(EFE R T X)W 72,175 —
85,110 85,557
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32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

2008 CBs

On 12 August 2008, the Company issued a convertible bonds as
part of the consideration for the acquisition of forest concessions
in Papua, Indonesia (the “2008 CBs").

Subject to the restrictions specified below (the “Conversion
Restriction”), the 2008 CBs are convertible at the option of the
bondholders into ordinary shares in the Company at the initial
conversion price of HK$0.1 per share (subject to adjustments as
provided in the terms and conditions of the 2008 CBs) at any
time from the date of issue and ending on the fifth business day
before the third anniversary of the date of issue:

3 The bondholders do not have the right to convert any
principal amount of the 2008 CBs into new shares of the
Company thereof, if upon such conversion, Merdeka
Commodities Limited and the parties acting in concert
with it will be interested in 30% (or such amount as may
from time to time be specified in the Codes on Takeovers
and Mergers and Share Repurchases as being the level for
triggering a mandatory general offer) or more of the
enlarged issued share capital of the Company at the date
of relevant conversion;

3 The conversion of the 2008 CBs shall not cause the
Company to be in breach of the minimum public float
requirement as stipulated under Rule 11.23 of the GEM
Listing Rules; and

3 The bondholders do not have the right to convert any 2008
CBs with the principal amount falling between the range
of HK$350,000,000 to HK$776,880,000 at any time
during the period from the issue date up to and inclusive
of the date that falls on the first anniversary of the issue
date.

The 2008 CBs are unsecured, interest-free and have an initial
maturity date at 12 August 2011. Unless converted into the
shares of the Company (the “Shares”), the outstanding balance
of the 2008 CBs would be redeemed in full on maturity.

o AR & %5 (&

Hite

(a)

2008 F A 2 [ f& 5

R2008F8F12H A AR FHITAIRKRE
% {EBUEBENE B iad RN RT#E 2 26
ARE([2008F TR ES]) -

BEHFFEATRE  RETHHEHTAL
M—BFEZAEREEERD EHARRA - BER
BAF HIBEFR0.18 7T (AR5 20084 AT
BRES 2 GRRAGHFTEIBAE M) &
2008 F A M REH LI AR A BB - 1
SR SCETHIRR i (MR AR BR & ) -

o i 441 - Merdeka Commodities
Limited R B H — B /T8) A TR EREA
BREHBEEREARRAER ZEEAE
BATIRA30% (A A HE - &0 &
& 15 B8 [l <7 Bl 7] BE N5 46 72 /5 B 35 08
FlEEEKEZELKTEZ2HRAES L)
A FREE - BIESFREAEERE
B ST fR] AN & 58 2 2008 4F AT AR (& 5
HMBARRRFRG

. HI2008F A AR EHFTBEHAR
AliE RGEM E MR BIE11.2316 T ]
PAzREARERERT &

. BEHEFEAZ2008F Al R ESFAS
% /> ¥350,000,000% T &
776,880,000/ ;L 2 & - W17 H
HEHTAYR—BF2B(BEY
B/ B ) LEHA R P a7 B R S 4 4 o

2008 FAJ R EH AEEIF - 22 RVAE
BB A2011F8H 128 - BRIERIBBARRQ A
B (T4 ]) @ & RI2008 4 AT AR & 5 i# &
HIRBEEB AR AR R EE D -
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32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

2008 CBs (Continued)

By the first supplemental deed dated 30 May 2011, the maturity
date of the 2008 CBs was extended for 3 vyears and the
conversion period was accordingly extended from 12 August
2011 to 12 August 2014. Upon becoming effective of the first
supplemental deed, the Company might at any time during the
period commencing from the date of extension to the new
maturity date to redeem the whole or part of the outstanding
2008 CBs at par on a pro rata basis. Also, the Conversion
Restriction was removed. Apart from the extension of the
maturity date, the conversion period, the early redemption right
and the removal of the Conversion Restriction, all terms of the
2008 CBs remain unchanged.

By the second supplemental deed dated 9 July 2014, the
maturity date of the 2008 CBs was extended for 3 years and the
conversion period was accordingly extended from 12 August
2014 to 12 August 2017. Upon becoming effective of the
second supplemental deed, the Company might at any time
during the period commencing from the date of extension to the
new maturity date to redeem the whole or part of the
outstanding 2008 CBs on a pro rata basis.

Upon effective of the second supplemental deed, the 2008 CBs
was valued by the Directors with reference to a valuation report
issued by Roma Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified
valuer not connected to the Group. Gain on extinguishment of
convertible bonds of approximately HK$39,480,000 was
recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2014.

By the third supplemental deed dated 20 January 2017, the
maturity date of the 2008 CBs was extended for 3 years and the
conversion period was accordingly extended from 12 August
2017 to 12 August 2020 (the “Previous Maturity Date”). Upon
becoming effective of the third supplemental deed, the Company
might at any time during the period commencing from the date
of extension to the Previous Maturity Date to redeem the whole
or part of the outstanding 2008 CBs on a pro rata basis. Also,
the conversion price and the adjustment events to the conversion
price had been changed. The conversion price have been
adjusted to HK$0.095 per share.

Upon effective of the third supplemental deed, the 2008 CBs
was valued by the Directors of the Company with reference to a
valuation report issued by International Valuation Limited, an
independent qualified valuer not connected with the Group. Gain
on extinguishment of convertible bond of approximately
HK$31,162,000 was recognised in the profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT

o R &% ()

Kzt - (&)

(a)

20084 T #2 i f& 3 (4%)

FEIIMVBHEA2011FE5A30BZ2E— KR
2ig - 2008F A MRESF 2 EHALER=
F - MAAEZ T RKRBAH2011F8/12HE
RKZE2014F8A12H - RE—HHAREE
WiE - ARRARERERBEREFEHA
HAR 2 MR REERL G ER 2 IR
o ARNIEZ2008FE M HRRES - B KA
R FIFIER - BRIEREIH B K AR ARH]
12 5 IE EI 4 K SRR SRR HI SN - 2008 4F AT
B & 0 2 SRR AT T & o

FEIIVBHA2014F7 9B 2 E D RE
% - 2008 F AR EHF 2 B ER = -
MABE Z AT HAH 20148 B 12BIERE
2017F8RA12A - REZKRBREAZREN
% ADRIARERERAREFEIH B H
2 B - IR L BB B 2 20k 20 R
22008 AT A IR & 5 o

F_DERRBEERE  EE2EHEAEH
W ERRE R B A ARG A 5 B T
BRAREANGEERS - H20084F Al AR
BEHETHE  FHABRBRES 2 RED
39,480,000 T B IR Bl £2014F 12 A31H
IFFERIBSET R o

RIZEBEHAE2017F1 A20BME=HExH
& - 2008 F AR ESFHEBHAER=F -
mHEEEREE 201768 A 12 HEKE2020
F8ANB((AEIHBA] RE=HERT
REERE  ARRHRERAHEBEE
HA B A (T e B PR d2 b 51 R (2] 2 2P 3 30 75 AR
22008 F AR ES - BE - HBERK
REAZREHEET - ARECARLEER
0.095/& 7T °

REBE =M RIBELERE - 2008F A[ AR E
FHARAEZLLERENEE Y HEHE
B A BB AEMBEBRTHARA R LA
MEERSETHE FHETRRESZK
%5 #931,162,0007% 7T B R & 2017412 A
BTHIEFERBEPER -
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32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

2008 CBs (Continued)

Upon effective of the Share consolidation on the basis that every
ten issued and unissued shares of par value of HK$0.001 each in
the share capital of the Company will be consolidated into one
consolidated share of par value of HK$0.01 each, the conversion
price of 2008 CBs adjusted to HK$0.95 per share.

By the fourth supplemental deed dated 10 January 2020, the
maturity date of the 2008 CBs was extended for a further term
of three years from 13 August 2020 to 12 August 2023. Upon
becoming effective of the third supplemental deed, the Company
might at any time during the period commencing from the date
of extension to the Previous Maturity Date to redeem the whole
or part of the outstanding 2008 CBs on a pro rata basis. Also,
the conversion price of the 2008 CBs be revised from HK$0.95
per conversion share to HK$0.110 per conversion share with
effect from 13 August 2020 (subject to adjustments). Save for
the above amendments, all other terms of the 2008 CBs remain
unchanged and valid. On 29 June 2020, the Company made a
partial redemption in the principal amount of HK$55,000,000 on
part of the 2008 CBs.

Upon effective of the fourth supplemental deed, the 2008 CBs
was valued by the Directors with reference to a valuation report
issued by an independent qualified valuer not connected with the
Group. Gain on modification of terms of convertible bonds of
HK$2,502,000 and loss on redemption of convertible bonds of
HK$2,444,000 were recognised in the profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

On 17 June 2021, upon the effective of the share consolidation
on the basis that every ten issued and unissued shares of the
Company (the “Share(s)”) of par value of HK$0.01 each in the
share capital of the Company be consolidated into one
consolidated share of par value of HK$0.1 each, the conversion
price of 2008 CBs adjusted to HK$1.100 per conversion share.

On 22 July 2021, the Company completed a rights issue (the
“2021 Rights Issue”) and allotted and issued 346,310,897
Shares, on the basis of five (5) rights shares for every two (2)
Shares held on 28 June 2021 at the subscription price of
HK$0.15 per rights share. Upon the completion of the 2021
Rights Issue, the conversion price of 2008 CBs was adjusted to
HK$0.90 per conversion share.

On 28 December 2022, upon the completion of the subscription
and issue of 2022 CBs, the principal amount of HK$55,000,000
of 2008 CBs was offset and settled with the subscription price
of 2022 CBs.

o AR & 75 (2

Hizz - (&)

(a)

2008 F AJ R BRfE 3 (1B

KRB A FFERE - ERARBRAPE+
B & B (E0.001 B L i B BT AR BT
A HA—IREREEC.01VETM A X
7 - 2008 F A RES A MECHERER
0.9587T °

RIEZH /520201 A 108 M & 91D 7 75 2
#2008 F A RESFHEBHABLER=
% 20208 A 13H L K £2023F8F 12
H - RE=ZMORAZBERE - KABHRN
TR B HEBER B /Y E R R f8E
O] 2 ZP sk 50 55 oK 3 3 2 2008 4F Al R (& 55 o
BE  2008F Al AR EHF LIRERTRNL
A9 0.95 8 TSR] AEAR K ARH 0.110%
JC ° B20204E8 B 13 H A (7] T %) »
B _EitEETSN - 2008 F AIRBXEH I AT A £
it IR TR AR F5 D R B R e 7202046 H 29
B A2 &4 A 4 %855,000,000% 703 5 fE
512008 & AJ AR & 5 °

RE MU T RIRE B I& - 2008 F A] AR &
FHERL2EREASEVERENEL
AERMGEMEANGHERSETHE B
AT AT A AR (E 5 & R M U 2% 2,502,000 7T I fE
5] ] 2 AR (& 55 WO 518 2,444,000 B TEREE
2020F 12 A31H L FE M B HER ©

R2021F6 178 @ FEARGRATRE+
REREEONEITHARAEETRASE
TRMD (BB A AE—BREREEH
THE IR G 2 EEETHRDE G £ X
&+ 2008 F A B EHFM HILEFARAER
HIRRRD1.1008 7T ©

R2021F7 8228 - ARFFEK AR (2021
EHR])  EEAR202156 288 FEH
M (2) AR AR 17 7 3% 1 (5) IR UL AR AR 19+ $2ERAB(E
SR EBRBMD. 158 T BB KT
346,310,897 i A& 1 © #£2021 4 £t % 78 B
% 2008 F A AR EHFM HIREARAETR
HIA%50.907 7T °

20225128288 ' FET R R B K 3%
172022 F AT PR (B 518 + 20084 A 2
fi% f& % 78 < 855,000,0007% 7T £22022
Fa[ R EFOREE R E R ER -
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32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 32. E_H%H%f%%‘»
Notes: (Continued) e - (&
(@) 2008 CBs (Continued) (@) 2008F AR ES (&)
As at 31 December 2022, the Company had 2008 CBs with M2022F12A31H  RRARABERSHER
principal amount of HK$14,068,000 (2021: HK$69,068,000) 14,068,000 7T (20214 : 69,068,000/ 7T)
conferring rights to convert into a total of 15,631,111 (2021: #2008 F AT ARG 55 MG RER AT IR B AR A
76,742,221) Shares with the conversion price of HK$0.90 per BRMDOIOAB T ABELBRAEAS X
conversion share. 15,631,1118% (20214 : 76,742,221 %) iR
,(/\ °
The 2008 CBs contain two components, the liability and equity 2008 A[ R R (E 5 B 15 B & Jo i o W (B 42 Bk
components. The equity component is presented in equity as an o o mEBA A AIRRESR 2 EmE 5
“Equity component of convertible bonds”. 27 -
The effective interest rate of the liability component is as follow: BEBOHEENERLOT
Fourth Third Second First
Supplemental Supplemental Supplemental Supplemental
deed deed deed deed

FNRFERREE SF-HERRE F-HBEZRE F-OHEZRE

Effective interest rate B R A & 14.72% 10.11% 14.13% 11.66%
The effective interest rate of liability component was adjusted to 2022912 A28 8 + RIERAT R ES 5K
14.59% upon the modification of the terms of convertible bonds & BEDONBERNEEAEE14.59% °

on 28 December 2022.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible FRARRESBELINEHHINAT :
bonds for the year was set out below:

2022 2021

2022F 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

TEx T

At the beginning of the year R E 4] 53,147 45,936

Interest charged FMEEMA 8,211 7,211
Modification of the terms of convertible 1B 5] A A IR fE 5 A 163K

bonds (48,423) =

At the end of the year RER 12,935 53,147
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32.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Team Sunny CB

On 10 January 2020, the Company issued the convertible bonds
to Team Sunny International Holdings Limited (“Team Sunny”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is
wholly-owned by Mr. Wong, the Chairman, the Chief Executive
Officer, an executive Director and the substantial shareholder of
the Company, for the settlement of the outstanding debt due
from the Company to Mr. Wong of HK$39,805,651 (“Team
Sunny CB"”). The subscription amount payable by Team Sunny
under the subscription agreement shall be satisfied by way of
offsetting (i) the principal amount of HK$8,000,000 under the
2019 PN and payable by the Company to Mr. Wong (which will
be assigned to Team Sunny by Mr. Wong at the completion of
the subscription to facilitate the set-off); and (ii) the outstanding
principal amount and part of the accrued interest in an
aggregate amount of HK$31,805,651 under Mr. Wong's facilities
payable by the Company to Mr. Wong (which will be assigned to
Team Sunny by Mr. Wong at the completion of the subscription
to facilitate the set-off).

The Team Sunny CB are convertible at the option of the
bondholders into ordinary shares in the Company at the
conversion price of HK$0.110 per share (subject to adjustments
as provided in the terms and conditions of the Team Sunny CB)
at any time from the date of issue and ending on the third
anniversary of the date of issue.

The Team Sunny CB are unsecured, interest-free and have a
maturity date fall on the third anniversary from the date of
issue.

32.

o AR & %5 (&

Hizz - (&)

(b)

B BA A 42 IR {5 35

1202018108 * A AR EITAIRRES
TEMAEBRERERAR (DEB]) - ZA7
REBRLHSEMAY  BARAER -
THREE HFTEERFERRETLEEE
BAE EWBERRARGERELENRESR
&7%39,805,65174 7T (EB AT R EH ) -
SERAIR 15 R 08 10 i FE (N MV R IE BB S 1B 1B IR
HEOARNRABRRBE2019F AR ZREM T A4
#) 78 & 588,000,000 7t (15 7 sR B B IHTEAK
B e A TOERA AR AR IR SE) ¢ R (i) AR
ARIBBEERERERNELEENREER
SR EAF E 4 $£31,805,6518 T (5§
RS ST RS i T S84 i TOE B MR AR
) Bt e

BERAARE  RETAHEHTEY
m=BEIFBEA - ERIZERESR0.110
78 70 (RJ AR 8O BA A 48 AR M8 25 22 18R R R Mk £
FreET AR E M 2) A ERA AT R AR E 5 L 5
RRBE BB -

ERR SR ESREER 2R RREET
BEm=—RFE AT -
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32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

32. OJ#iRiEZ @)

Kzt - (&)

(b)

Team Sunny CB (Continued)

On 17 June 2021, upon the effective of the share consolidation
on the basis that every ten issued and unissued Shares of par
value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company be
consolidated into one consolidated share of par value of HK$0.1
each, the conversion price of Team Sunny CB adjusted to
HK$1.100 per conversion share.

On 22 July 2021, the Company completed the 2021 Rights Issue
and allotted and issued 346,310,897 Shares, on the basis of five
(5) rights shares for every two (2) Shares held on 28 June 2021
at the subscription price of HK$0.15 per rights share. Upon the
completion of the 2021 Rights Issue, the conversion price of
Team Sunny CB was adjusted to HK$0.903 per conversion share.

The outstanding principal amount of the Team Sunny CB as at
31 December 2021 was HK$39,805,651 conferring rights to
convert into a total 44,081,562 ordinary Shares.

On 6 July 2022, 15 November 2022, 29 November 2022 and 13
December 2022 the Company made a partial redemption in the
aggregated principal amount in aggregate of HK$3,805,651 on
part of the Team Sunny CB. On 28 December 2022, upon the
completion of the subscription and issue of 2022 CBs, all the
principal amount of Team Sunny CB was offset and settled with
the subscription price of 2022 CBs.

The convertible bonds contained two component, the liability and
equity components. The equity component is presented in equity
as an "“Equity component of convertible bonds”. The effective
interest rate of the liability component is approximately 14.95%
per annum.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year was set out below:

(b)

B BA AT 2 iR fE 35 ()

R2021F6 8178 ' FRARBBRAFE+
REREE0.0IBTHEEITRAZEITRG
AHA—REREE B THNAHKND ZE
EEITHRG G HERE  ERTRRES
) HIREREAETREIRARMD1.10048 T °

2021478228 * KNA A 5EK2021 4 f#
f% - EEER2021F6 A28HBHEMQ)MK
RO ERAG)RERES  RREESRE
f% B% 190157 7T B 3% & % 17346,310,897 %
BR1D o 52021 FHIRERK 1R - JEBA IR E
FH RRE AR AR ERGK0.903TT

20219128318  ERRTRRESF MR
7K 4 %8 439,805,651 7T + Ml S HEF A K
A4 44,081,562 % L @AY o

202247868 ~ 20224611 A158 ~ 2022
11 H298 %2022%12 8138 * KA A
o ERR MR ESETHOER - S RA
% 4 %83,805,6518 T ° )R20224F 12 A28
B EEKRE R E172022F Al iR & 5
% EBART R E SN AT RS E H20224F
AR EF N B IR E IR R E -

ERA R AR B 55 B 48 B & S M 2 R (B AR A BB

Dot E D A AR ESH 2 w25 | 2
P BEIDHERFFEL14.95% °

FRARBRARSEERINEBEHZINT

2022 2021

20225 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

At the beginning of the year REH] 32,410 27,936
Interest charged MEEA 5,051 4,474
Redemption of convertible bonds f& 0] AT A AR (& (3,494) —
Modification of the terms of convertible bonds — {&&] A # A% (& (33,967) =
At the end of the year RER — 32,410
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32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 32. OJ#RfEFH (&

Notes: (Continued) Hat o (&)

(c) 2022 CBs (c) 2022F M AR E
On 14 November 2022, the Company entered into the M2022F 11 A 148 - ANARRERAR] LR
subscription agreement with Team Sunny, pursuant to which ek B EMARERERERAAT
Team Sunny conditionally agreed to subscribe and the Company BIEHREZEITAL /91,000,000 TH
conditionally agreed to issue the convertible bonds (the “2022 AJRRRES ([2022F @R ES ) - LUBE
CBs”) in the principal amount of HK$91,000,000 for the ARAENERNABEEREL S K
settlement of the outstanding debts due from the Company to 91,000,0007 T © JE BA 1R 15 7R 08 175 = FE 1 A9
Team Sunny in aggregate of HK$91,000,000. The subscription REEFIEA B BEE AT SBEANM ¢ ()2008
amount payable by Team Sunny under the subscription F AR E S T A€ 555,000,000 7T : K&
agreement shall be satisfied by way of offsetting (i) the principal (AR B FERERA B ERA AT AR B 5 T R E
amount of HK$55,000,000 under the 2008 CBs and payable by 784 %836,000,00078 7T

the Company to Team Sunny; and (ii) the outstanding principal
amount of HK$36,000,000 under Team Sunny CB and payable by
the Company to Team Sunny.

The conversion price per conversion share for HK$55,000,000 of H2022F AR EHF FITAHREZERBHE
the principal amount of the 2022 CBs for the period from the 202358 A 12 HHIM - #2022 F IR (EFH
date of issue of the 2022 CBs up to and including 12 August #) 78 € #1 55,000,000 T 5 © FRERK
2023 shall be HK$0.90 per conversion share and for the period MEBRER S ETRERARH0.90 T - A
from 13 August 2023 up to and including the maturity date 202348 A13BREEZE RBESIH A BH &
shall be HK$0.186 per conversion share; and The conversion AETREBRR7H0.186/8 T + K H20224F 7]
price per conversion share for HK$36,000,000 of the principal BRESFFITHRHEEE RBIE2023F5A
amount of the 2022 CBs for the period from the date of issue 21HHME  B202F A R EFNAEH
of the 2022 CBs up to and including 21 May 2023 shall be 36,000,000 TN 5 * BREMRHEIRE
HK$0.903 per conversion share and for the period from 22 May 15 A AR EH AR 19 0.9038 7T © ME 202345
2023 up to and including the maturity date shall be HK$0.186 A22BREZRBIEIHBHEKAERE
per conversion share. AR 17 0.18678 IT °

On 28 December 2022, the subscription took place and the REBEEN2022612 A28B#ET  ANEHA
2022 CBs in the principal amount of HK$91,000,000 were issued 91,000,000 7T #2022 4F A] #2 A% (& 25 5 21T
to Team Sunny. TOERA ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EHZE2022F12A31HILFE

32.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

2022 CBs (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had 2022 CBs with
principal amount of HK$91,000,000, of which the principal
amount of HK$55,000,000 conferring rights to convert into
61,111,111 Shares with the conversion price of HK$0.90 per
conversion share and the principal amount of HK$36,000,000
conferring rights to convert into 39,867,109 Shares with the
conversion price of HK$0.903 per conversion share.

The convertible bonds contained two component, the liability and
equity components. The equity component is presented in equity
as an “Equity component of convertible bonds”. The effective
interest rate of the liability component is approximately 15.41%
per annum.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year was set out below:

32.

o AR & %5 (@)

Hiez - (&

(c)

2022F AR E S (18)

R2022F 128318 XRAIEAELREA
91,000,00078 JLHI 2022 F AJ 2 IXE % » B
7K <5 855,000,000 7T M &5 4 FI AT 2 T AR H,
HAR170.907 LAY H IR E K32 561,111,111
B A&7 + 7N 4 %8 36,000,000 7T M #5 4 Il =]
e H B D0.903B T KRB R IR A
39,867,109 A% {7 °

MR ESeEaEREEMEAKREDD
RO ER IRk ESFNERRS |25
RiEZ - BEBINERNXOLEF
15.41% °

TR ES A EHH OB ERIIH
m -

2022

20224

HK$'000

FET

At the beginning of the year REA —
Issuance of convertible bonds BATRAIRAR EH 72,118
Interest charged B UCER A 2 57
At the end of the year RER 72,175
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EHZ=2022F12A31HILtFE

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. ARIN
Number of Nominal
shares values
ROHE H{E
Notes in"000 HK$'000
M F & FHET
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2021 0202151 H18
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREEC.01E T2 LB 20,000,000 200,000
Share consolidation & 1D & 5 4 (18,000,000) —
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and 2021412318 ~ 20224
31 December 2022 1818 K&2022412H31H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREMBNB T EBR 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 January 2021 720211818
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEC.0NE I TEk 1,323,243 13,232
Issuance of shares upon exercise of E R EEITEm TR G
share options 62,227 643
Share consolidation &9 & HF 4 (1,246,719) —
Issuance of shares upon rights issue A B i B2 1T AR 1 5 346,311 34,631
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 K2021F 128318 &
20221 A1H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREECNB T TEAR 485,062 48,506
Issuance of consideration shares BITRERD 66,667 6,667
Issuance of shares upon placing fic & R 2 1T AR 1D 15,000 1,500
At 31 December 2022 72022512H31H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each EREEIIBIZEER 566,729 56,673

Notes:

1. On 4 July 2022, the Company allotted and issued 66,666,663
Shares in respect of the acquisition of NOIZChain Limited
(“NOIZ") pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 13
June 2022.

2. On 7 July 2022, the Company completed a share subscription with
Oriental Watch Holdings Limited, the subscriber, by the allotment
and issue of 15,000,000 Shares at the subscription price of
HK$0.21 per subscription share.

R2022F7R48  AEBHBIEBHA
2022F 6 A13H M B & # = W HENOIZChain
Limited ([NOIZ ) i AZ # & % 766,666,663
BERR 1D

R2022%7878  NARERES RS RIT
SEBRARERABESRRERMD0.217%5
T PR 2% % 3£4715,000,000 & AR 15 » #& LA S K
—IERID R -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

33. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, share options to
subscribe for 62,227,027 ordinary Shares were exercised. The net
consideration was HK$960,000 of which HK$643,000 was
credited to share capital account and the balance of HK$317,000
was credited to the share premium account. An amount of
HK$483,000 was transferred from share option reserve account
to share premium account upon the exercise of the share
options.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 15 June 2021, every ten
issued and unissued Shares of HK$0.01 each were consolidated
into one consolidated share of the Company of HK$0.1 each
with effective on 17 June 2021.

On 22 July 2021, the Company completed the 2021 Rights Issue
and allotted and issued 346,310,897 Shares, on the basis of five
(5) rights shares for every two (2) Shares held on 28 June 2021
at the subscription price of HK$0.15 per rights share. Gross 2021
Rights Issue proceeds of approximately HK$51,947,000 of which
approximately HK$34,631,000 was credited against share capital
and the remaining proceeds of approximately HK$17,316,000
was after offsetting the share issuance costs of approximately
HK$772,000 were credited against the share premium account.

34. RESERVES

Nature and purpose of the reserves

()

(i)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company, provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Contributed surplus

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess
of the fair value of the shares of a subsidiary acquired in
prior years, over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange thereof.

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT

33. BRI

#fit

34. #

(%)

BHE2021F12A31BILEEE > I RB
62,227,027 % & AR ) BE AR A HE 1T o (XM
78 /3960,000/8 7T+ HH643,00078 7T E 5+
AR RER - #2%8317,00078 7Tt AR 4 (&
BR - MITIERIRIERR - ABERERERER
$58483,00078 T E R H BEER ©

BIEARRATR2021466 A 15 BERREFRIA
CrABNERRER S+TREREAE
0.01BTTHBEBITRABITRMDAEHAE K
EREEINBTHNAARAHBG B
202156 A17HBER »

MR2021%F7H228 » "R A EMK2021 4 4
B BEEAMN2021466 A28B FHAMQ)K
IRD R A G)RAERRS - RREBETRME
A% A% 12.0.157% 7T B 2 & % 17346,310,897 %
B - 2021 FHBAMBRBELE ALY
51,947,000 7t + £ 2 £934,631,0007% 7T E
T ABRAS - ek T ET{S 5IE 417,316,000
TCHE $8 AR 1D BE 1T R AR 49772,00078 TT 18 51 A
B A7 355 (E PR o

REEER B/

()

@ii)

RIEFERERAE - MWRBEBEEHED
S E B AARIEHENBEER
@iz BB ER - B EE R A
DIKTARBRER -

A & B

RRBH A BBRIERNEFREDN —H
ME QRN AFEE  BHAER
B FETHAR R RN EENERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #H ZE2022%12A31HLLFE

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Equity component of convertible bonds

The value of unexercised equity component of convertible
bonds issued by the Company recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for convertible
bonds.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related
options expire or be forfeited.

Capital reduction reserve

Capital reduction reserve is the credit arising from the
capital reduction.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of the overseas subsidiaries.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve

FVOCI reserve represents gain/losses arising on
recognising financial assets classified as financial assets at
FVOCI.

Other reserve
Other reserve arose from the acquisition of additional

equity interest in a subsidiary from non-controlling
interest.

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

A2 IR (& % 1 25 A8 5
RRABMBITABBRES 2 RTEER
My BEDREARIBBRZESS
TR T IARER -

BREMRE
BRERBRESREMERITRZE
Ptz NFEE - ZBEENE @BER
RETERERERMEER  HRXE
R AR Em s R S S E R
FHEIE -

AR A B 6l 1 1

P 7S B R e A B A IR EE AR B HEBR o

ELZKE#E
IR B B R IERREGINHE R R
MBHRRELZMEELER -

URFPEETARMEERAFE

ARFEER AR A 2 H WA R R e
BEBERARFEEFARBEEEA
ZEMEENSRMEEMEEN RS
18 o

Hftt# e

it G A AL B IR bl e s W B P
NRIFEIMER °

F 3 o« 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE KA SRR IRE
COMPANY
2022 2021
202245 20214
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5 FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKREE — 3
Right-of-use assets HRAEEE 5,106 7,892
Rental deposits HEES 862 864
Financial asset at fair value through EAFEEFTAEMEZE
other comprehensive income WA 1,265 —
Interests in subsidiaries LI ENGIPA 47,575 50,876
Total non-current assets IERBEERTE 54,808 59,635
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - Re kA EW
receivables FRIA 323 255
Financial asset at fair value through EAFEE ABZHZ @
profit or loss & 312 298
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRIRE — —RERFP
— general accounts 10,825 10,667
Total current assets MENEELE 11,460 11,220
Current liabilities REBEE
Convertible bonds AR (& 5 32 12,935 —
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,980 2,578
Other payables and accruals Hh &5 FRIB & B AT RUIR 1,716 1,513
Amounts due to subsidiaries JFEAHBT B A &) R 3R 8,402 6,838
Total current liabilities mEEEARH 26,033 10,929
Net current (liabilities)/assets wE(BE) BETFE (14,573) 291
Total assets less current liabilities & ERRB A B 40,235 59,926
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Convertible bonds A RRR (& 32 72,175 85,557
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,330 5,310
Total non-current liabilities SEMEAERRE 74,505 90,867
Net liabilities EEFE (34,270) (30,941)
EQUITY R
Share capital [N 33 56,673 48,506
Reserves G (90,943) (79,447)
Total equity RS R (34,270) (30,941)

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on
22 March 2023.

Wong Hin Shek
-

Director

EZ
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BT
Director
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36. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

36. Mol

Fair value
Equity through
component of Capital other
Contributed convertible Share option reduction  comprehensive Accumulated
Share premium surplus bonds reserve reserve  income reserve losses Total
TRRES Bx  RAFEEHA
R EE HARR ZREHS BRERE HRfG HEb2EUARE 5] @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TEx TEx TAT TE TEx TAT TEx
As at 1 January 2021 R20215 118 1,096,884 18,203 51,928 25,004 163,191 = (1,432,881) (77,671)
Changes in equity for 2021 2021 FRERE :
Loss and total comprehensive income for FREE L2 ARABE
the year = = = = = = (19,634) (19,634)
Issuance of shares RIRG 17,316 — — — — — — 17316
Transaction cost for right issue RRZRFRA (772) - - - - - - (172)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based FERUATR1A AERE R &
payment expense BRRX - - - 997 — — — 997
Proceeds from exercise of share options  17{EEERR#EFTE5UE 317 = — — _ _ _ 317
Exercise of share options fiid i 483 - - (483) - - - -
As at 31 December 2021 R2021% 128318 1,114,228 18,203 51,928 25,518 163,191 = (1,452,515) (79,447)
Changes in equity for 2022: W2FRELS
Comprehensive income 2EHA
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (30,106) (30,106)
Other comprehensive income HE2ERA
Changes in fair value of financial WATEE AL
assets at FVOC| AN ERER
ATEELY - - - - - (1,465) - (1,465)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZAAKA - - - - - (1,465) (30,106) (31,571)
Issuance of consideration shares BIRERD 8,466 - - - - - - 8,466
Issuance of shares Bk 1,650 - - - - - - 1,650
Lapsed of share options BARELN - - - (25,057) - - 25,057 -
Redemption of convertible bonds BETRRES = - (1,532) - - - 1,219 (313)
Modification of the terms of convertible {& 3T #8440 (53
bonds - 50,670 (40,398) - - - - 10,272
At 31 December 2022 #2022 128318 1,124,344 68,873 9,998 461 163,191 (1,465) (1,456,345) (90,943)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

37. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 37. NINBLIER
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: ERAEZMBERARIZFHBOT ¢
Place of
establishment/
incorporation Issued and fully paid/ Percentage of equity interest
Name and operations  registered share capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
A/ EREIR
B gk BRTRAR/ERRE ARAEERAEEADL IREH
2022 2021
202% 2015
% % % %

Directly Indirectly  Directly  Indirectly
B 5F3 B itk

Merdeka Professional Services Limited Hong Kong HK$1,500,000 - 100 — 100  Corporate consulting business
FREXBHARLA B 1,500,00077C TS
Merdeka Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1,500,001 - 100 = 100 Advising on corporate finance
BECERERRAA Bk 1,500,001 7T PRREER
Merdeka Corporate Advisory Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 a 100 Accounting and financial
reporting services

BELEFABRAA Bt 18T et REBRERE
NOIZChain Limited Hong Kong HK$3,910,005 - 100 = —  Digital platform business

& 3,910,005 7T YBIa%H
Merdeka Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$25,770,000 - 100 — 100  Dealing in securities
BEEFERAA &k 25,770,000/ AR
Merdeka Investment Management Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 - 100 = 100 Advising on securities and asset

management

RERAEHERAA B 5,000,000/ 70 REFRHEAREEER
Merdeka Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 — 100 Money lending business
BEEEARAR Bt BT REXRB
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in EEZRE LRSI ZARAMBARE
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for EEERFEXEIEXNAEREEFED
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the BEAHD  c EEFRE - REHMHMBAR ZFF
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the BEREBERNERBNITER
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the RER - BEMEB AR EITENESES

end of the year.
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38.

Bt ¥5 ¥ %% Bt 5E

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 4 July 2022, The Group completed the acquisition of the
entire issued share capital in NOIZ at a consideration of
approximately of HK$15,133,000. The consideration was
satisfied by the Company by the allotment and issue of an
aggregate of 66,666,663 consideration shares to the vendors at
the issue price of approximately HK$0.227 per consideration
share. NOIZ is principally engaged in digital platform business.
The Group has diversified its business into digital platform
including Blockchain-as-a-Services that tailor made services and
advice to businesses allowing them to use cloud-based solutions
to manage and develop their applications and smart contracts
without needing to develop and maintain their own blockchain
environments.

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities arising from
the acquisition of NOIZ as at the date of acquisition were as
follows:

38.

U 88 — b E 2 5

1K2022F7 548 « REE T BENOCIZE 2
FEEBEITIRA - RE4ZAE15,133,00087T ° &K
NERBMAE B RETTA ££66,666,663 %
REBRDREZSZAE  BITEHATRR
BRH0.22787L - NOZEBER FEIGEF A %
% AEEDHEKBEREHSG TS - 2R
BERTS - ZRBACEES EHRB R
B BERSUFAERBATRUERK
AEEEARAREESY MEBARER
HEEAFMEBEIRE -

Rk RS B 9 e I BENOIZ AT 2 A W MBI A B
BENATEENT

Fair value
AFEE
HK$'000
FHEIT
Property, plant and equipment M BE REE 3
Intangible assets mEE 14,040
Interest in an associate A E AN = 146
Inventories eSS 418
Trade receivables B 5 IR 360
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERRIE - EZe Rk
E fth fE U 518 1
Bank balances and cash RITAERRIRS 92
Deferred tax assets RIETRIHE B 90
Trade payables B 5 eI IR (109)
Other payables and accruals H At fE A FRIE K
&M 91)
Fair value of net assets acquired PR H & Ew
NFEE 14,950
Net cash inflow from acquisition of a subsidiary: W E — IR B A Al R 3R
SRMAFE
Cash consideration paid BEfEeRE =
Cash and cash equivalents in a subsidiary acquired s BB BT /88 2 B Y
IRITAREBREIRE 92
Net cash inflow REMAFRE 92
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38. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 38. UGBS — BB a8l (4

HK$'000
FHEIT

Total consideration satisfied by consideration shares issued BBEAFEEET

at fair value RAEB R R ZATHY
REBEHAE 15,133

Less: Fair value of put option arising in the acquisition B B FTE AR

THEARER A TEE (53)
Fair value of net assets acquired Frifig s EEN A FEE (14,950)
Goodwill kS 130

Pursuant to the terms of the sale and purchase agreement
dated 13 June 2022 entered into between Benefit Palace
Limited (the “Purchaser”) and the six vendors (the “Vendors"),
each of the Vendors hereby irrevocably and unconditionally
grants the Purchaser (or its nominee(s) or its successor(s)) the
put option (the “Put Option”), pursuant to which the Purchaser
(or its nominee(s) or its successor(s)) shall be entitled to require
the Vendors to buy back all the entire issued share capital in
NOIZ held by the Purchaser (or its nominee(s) or its successor(s))
(the “Repurchase”). The consideration for the Repurchase will
be the same as the Consideration.

The Purchaser (or its nominee(s) or its successor(s)) shall not
exercise the Put Option unless NOIZ recorded audited
consolidated negative cash flows from operating activities as
calculated in accordance with HKFRSs for the year ending 31
December 2023 as shown in the audited consolidated financial
statement of NOIZ for the year ending 31 December 2023.

At the completion date, the put option amount is determined
by the Directors with reference to a valuation report issued by
an independent qualified valuer. The put option is stated at fair
value and presented as financial assets at FVPL in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The goodwill of HK$130,000, which is not deductible for tax
purposes, comprises the acquired workforce and the expected
future growth of digital platform business to diversify the
revenue stream of the existing business of the Group.

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT

R %% Benefit Palace Limited (B |) /N2 &
A(T&EFFEIZ A #R202246 A138 &Y
BB EERRZMART @ SBEHZ
AR & B3R T E 5 (S H R A AR
HERN) Rb e ([RRHEED - Bt B
7 (HHEBERARELEAAN) GREEREFE
BEH (RERAAREERAN)FEHNOIZ
2EEBITRA((BE]) -

BRIERIBE BB RS 2ERGTE - NOIZRA &
F2023F 12 A3 B L FEHEKEREEEA
LR B IR = (WINOIZE, =2023F 12 A
BNBEFENKERGEVE|RENR) &
BB (SR EIRBAREEFRAAN) REITER
vhERRE o

R A RERESRRES2EEHY
RERMGEMBANGERSEERE - R4H
BEQAFEEFE  YEKEFHRRAKRT
2R/ ATEEFABENEREE -

2 130,000 TN 17 - BREEWESD)
NEBFFAEERNBERKIEE  AFER
SEREEFHNRARIREZ T °
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38.

39.

December

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 38. UWEE—REIM B a (@)
Post-acquisition contribution to revenue and net loss of NOIZ as HZE2022F12A31BIEFE @ st AREEELR
included in the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss & B R HE M 2 E M R FINOIZE U HE 18 UL
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 ARFEBEAER 2 5 41,566,000% 7T &
2022 is HK$1,566,000 and HK$2,516,000 2,516,000 7T ° sz ¥ BRN2022F1 A1 B %
respectively. Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January K ANREEEE2022F12A31 B IEFE K
2022, the revenue and net loss of the Group for the year ARFEREB A A1,937,000% T &
ended 31 December 2022 would have been HK$1,937,000 and 3,252,000/ 7T - BEEREHRFA A - K
HK$3,252,000 respectively. The pro-forma information is for WRIAE202FE1 A1 AR KB RAEEEE
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily and indication of BRAlER WA RREES M BRIERKR
revenue and results of the operations of the Group that REEEMTER -
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition of the
Group been completed on 1 January 2022 nor are they
intended to be a projection of future results.
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEREGISTRATION OF 39. WHEMEARS MBSt EC, b
SUBSIDIARIES/DECONSOLIDATION OF BraBUEGRS AR
SUBSIDIARIES
(a) Disposal of End User Investments Limited (@) HEEnd User Investments Limited
On 23 September 2022, the Company as the vendor M20224F9H238 ' ARQE (EREH)
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with an BB UE=FIVEBRE L&
independent third party, to dispose the entire issued =& W B A FEnd User Investments
share capital of the End User Investments Limited, a Limited ¥ 2 E B B 1TRA - RER1E
wholly-owned subsidiary, at a consideration of HK$1. TC o B M B A Al &y 22,796,000
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries amounted to LM :
HK$2,796,000 was analysed as follows:
HK$’000
FH&TT
Net liabilities deregistered of: BUHEMFEEE :
Bank balances and cash RITHER LIRS 27
Trade payables 2 5 N RIB (933)
Other payables and accruals H M fE < RIB K FE 5T B A (1,889)
(2,795)
Less: Proceeds from disposal B S AT S R (1)
Gain on disposal &z s (2,796)
Cash consideration received BEYREHE 1
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of B ERERTESRNRE (27)
Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRBEeEEWMZRER
HFgE (26)
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEREGISTRATION OF

SUBSIDIARIES/DECONSOLIDATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

39. HEMBLSE MEBLSEHEE B
BLOEBEHES AlR®@

(b) Deregistration of Merry Fortune Holdings Limited (b) EUE& M Merry Fortune Holdings
Limited
On 1 May 2022, the Group deregistered Merry Fortune 20225418 - AN & B EUH A
Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of NAEEEEEE N B A Merry Fortune
the Company. Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary Holdings Limited ° BUHEMFTE A FZ
amounted to HK$21,000 was analysed as follows: W 21,0008 THHTAAT ¢
HK$’000
FHIT
Net liabilities deregistered of: BCHEMFEEE :
Other payables and accruals HtENHRIERESER (21)
Gain on deregistration BUA M 2 W e (21)
(c) Deregistration of BEER(LR)EHZAERAGE () THBTLEBER (AR)EFHEZHAEGER
NG|
On 25 February 2021, the Group deregistered %8 182% R202152 A250 ' AEEFHELA
AtR)EBABBRAE, an indirect wholly-owned AREEEEWBAREEESR (LR)
subsidiary of the Company. Loss on deregistration of a RS RAERAT o FEHEL —FMNE
subsidiary amounted to HK$16,000 was analysed as A AR E1816,0008 T AT T
follows:
HK$'000
FHET
Net assets deregistered of: ERHBELEERE:
Other receivables E th B YT kI8 17
Other payables and accruals HihpEAFRIBE R ESE R (1)
Loss on deregistration B ZEE 16
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEREGISTRATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES/DECONSOLIDATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(d)

Deregistration of Ever Hero Group Limited (“Ever
Hero”) and End User Technology Limited (“End User
Technology”)

On 1 November 2021, the Group deregistered Ever Hero
and End User Technology, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. Gain on deregistration of
subsidiaries in aggregate amounted to HK$42,000 was
analysed as follows:

39.

B

(d)

&
(=]
2

al, /B S HEE Rk

/A
HERB AR @)

B /28
S)EY

=X 88 & 2 Ever Hero Group Limited
([Ever Hero]) ®REnd User
Technology Limited ([End User
Technology |)

M2021F 1M A1H - AEEFHEERA
AR 2 &K B A FlEver Hero X End
User Technology ° Mt /&2 AlFEHE A
Wzt & 42,0008 TTHMAT -

HK’000
FET
(i) Net liabilities of Ever Hero deregistered (i) = &E#i% iCEver HeroW & &FF 5 :
of:
Other payables and accruals E fth fE AT FRIB K FEEH B A (24)
Gain on deregistration FEEE B R U E (24)
(ii) Net liabilities of End User Technology  (ii) 2 8% fEnd User Technology#y
deregistered of: BEFHE:
Other payables and accruals E fth fE AT FRIB R BT B B (18)
Gain on deregistration FEEH B R M a (18)
Total gain on deregistration T E R AR (42)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEREGISTRATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES/DECONSOLIDATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(e)

HERBAS) B
BRI EOARE

SlatsHE B

Disposal of Galaxy PAM Asset Management (Cayman (e) HEGalaxy PAM Asset Management
Islands) Limited (Cayman Islands) Limited
On 26 March 2021, the Company as a vendor entered R2021F3H268 ' A 5 (ERER)
into an instrument of transfer with an independent third H—PRYE=FFINEEXE UK
party, to dispose of its entire equity interest of Galaxy 890,000 THEER—HEZEWBE A
PAM Asset Management (Cayman Islands) Limited, a A]Galaxy PAM Asset Management
wholly-owned subsidiary, at a consideration of (Cayman Islands) Limited #) 2 &6 A% 4 ©
HK$90,000. The gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — A T8 A B A Uz 1,000 7T 75
amounted to HK$1,000 was analysed as follows: AT :
HK$’000
FHEIT
Net assets disposed of: EHEEEFE:
Other receivables H fth & Y 5018 37
Bank balances HRITHE R 52
89
Less: Proceeds from disposal Ve AEEEE =Pz 1) H (90)
Gain on disposal HEz W (1)
Cash consideration received BEUWE e RE 90
Less: Bank balances disposed of B ERBRITER (52)
Net cash inflows arising on disposal HEMELERSRAFE 38
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEREGISTRATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES/DECONSOLIDATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

()

Deconsolidation of Blossom Height Ventures Limited

On 10 September 2021, End User Investments Limited
(being a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), in its
capacity as the sole shareholder of Blossom Height
Ventures Limited (“Blossom Height"”) resolved to wind up
Blossom Height by way of member’s voluntary winding-
up. Mr. Osman Mohammed Arab and Mr. Lai Wing Lun
of RSM Corporate Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited, and Mr.
Nathan Mills of R&H Restructuring (BVI) Limited were
appointed as the joint voluntary liquidators of Blossom
Height on 29 September 2021.

Following the commencement of the voluntary winding-
up under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the
Group lost control over Blossom Height because the joint
voluntary liquidators have taken over control of the
operations of Blossom Height under the statutory power.
Blossom Height was then ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Company with effect from 29 September 2021.

Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries amounted to
HK$4,052,000 was analysed as follows:

0

HEHBLS)ME ST HEL B

BRSEEES ARG

()

Blossom Height Ventures LimitedHEY
HEE AR

M20216F9R 108  ARFEZEMBEA
AlEnd User Investments Limited A
Blossom Height Ventures Limited
([Blossom Height|) Mt — X R 1 &
M BREBRRBBEERNT R
Blossom Height)/&# < 74202149 29
H ZREXCEBEHARAANEER
EERBBEBEE A KRR&H
Restructuring (BVI) Limited#Nathan
Mills %t 4 & & T ABlossom Height 89 £
FERFE & A ©

BECEBRBVEHD REF B RE8E
7N £ B 5k 2= ¥ Blossom  Height Y #2 il
# - BAAAREGRSEADBEETE
J1# EBlossom Height B ¥ 75 o At -
B20214F9H29H R ' Blossom Height
THARRBINHEB AR -

B AR BRBEHGEAEARNEISB
4,052,000 T 2 HTaA T ¢

HK$'000
FET

Net liabilities deconsolidated of: UTFEBEEREGAEAREEEE
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERS 5
Other payables and accruals H Ath fE A FRIB K EAHE B (1,449)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R = (8,508)
(9,952)

Add: Release of exchange reserve to profit or loss fl @ HIERREE N FHEEER

upon disposal 14,004
Loss on deconsolidation BUB#R & ABRZ EE 4,052
Net cash outflow arising on deconsolidation BUOHGR A ARFTEAR SR FEHE (5)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

40.

Bt ¥ ¥ %% Bt 5E

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants for
their contribution to the Group. The share option scheme of
the Company was approved and adopted by the Shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
30 December 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date of its
adoption. The Board may, at their discretion, offer options to
any Directors of the Group, full time or part time employees of
the Group ; and any business or joint venture partners,
contractors, agents or representatives, consultants, advisers,
suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees (including
any sub-licensees) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including
any sub-tenants) of the Group (the “Eligible Participants”) to
subscribe for shares of the Company (the “Shares”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under all share option scheme must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of Shares available for issue under share
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue. The
maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options granted and to be granted to
each Participant (including both exercised and outstanding share
options) in any 12-month period up to the date of grant must
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at the date of grant. Any
further grant of share options in excess of the above limit must
be subject to shareholders’ approval with such Participant and
his associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) abstaining
from voting.

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT

40.

B3 AR & 51 31
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BIRBES  RAKEENEMERERAE
B ABR KEHRE - BE - FHA
HER LZEBHFAA TP HAFAA
(BRAEMAEEFTA) KD HE  EEK
HE(BEEFMIAGERP)([EEKSEE])
REBRE  ARBARRRD (TRE])

RETBEBREAEETHRAEERHERR
TR R BITRER TEIT 2RO
B&Z N EHEBNY 2B HTRMN30% °

RIZEEE SR BN A T &7
M BE - X M SFBBEHITRGN10% °
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

If share options are granted to a substantial Shareholder (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or an independent
non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all share options already granted and to be granted
(including share options exercised, cancelled and outstanding)
to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1 per
cent. of the Shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the Shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of Options
must be approved by the Shareholders at a general meeting of
the Company, with voting to be taken by way of a poll. The
Company must send a circular to the Shareholders. The
grantee, his associates and all core connected persons of the
Company must abstain from voting in favour of the proposed
grant at such general meeting. Any vote taken at the meeting
to approve the grant of such share options must be taken on a
poll and comply with the requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules.

Upon acceptance of the share option offers, the grantee shall
pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for each offer. The
share option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21
days (or such shorter period as the Board may from time to
time determine) from the date on which the share option is
granted. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the Directors and commences after a certain
vesting period, if any, as determined by the Directors and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the
offer of the share options.

The subscription price of the share in respect of any particular
share option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be
such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall
determine, save that such price shall be not less than the
highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange as shown in the daily quotation sheet on the
date of the grant of the share option, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the Shares
as shown in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant
of the share option; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share on
the date of grant.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

40.

6% AR & 51 &1 (2

HEEBRE(EERGEM EMARA) BT
FERITEFARESEZEMBBARLIE
B HERZATREZRE B (8%
H)Z12M@ A8 - BiTEERERETFED
2R (BREEITHE  EHER M ARTE
2 BBRRAE) MBIT R FEIT 2D () A A
BEITRG0.1%MEETRG + Rb)IZFIA
BRHBHOBROKKRTENE  LEEBB
5,000,000 7T - BIAEEE < # — S H B R
WBBERERANAGRERE L - WA
BEHRETRR - NRRERBETE—
I - EEA - HBBARARFfEZD
BEALTHNERZBRERE EMEREER
ERELNBRE RAS EHIERTZ
EEBREMETZEMEEZSBAREZT RN
BT WAFAGEMEMMREIZBE -

RERBRER - ARABARARRBN1E
TEREHMAE - BRESNE LB SR
A2V BHIRE (REEE TRRENREHRHE)
AHER REZBREZITEHRESR
E-UYRETHEZREE<FBHHAE)
‘G ERETFHBEEREERERME
AT FEHBRETEERZ A (ARFEERE)
ARk o

AR5 B8 B AT 819X H 145 E B IR P Y
EENHRBEREFTSE2RRE  HEET
AIERTRAMER TIERZ&RSE  ()KH
BhEsR (WEAREER) MR MEHRE
FETGIRAD B T ME ¢ (D RF R LB 2
B Al R (E & 2 B BT E B RIS R
IR A B E)FH U T E A R (it 2 @
=0

B M S A 9 75 AR A SR AR B K
BREMEF -
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40.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 40. HERRIESHEl (@)
Number of share options and weighted average exercise price ANATEFR201285 A3 BEEMILH 2020612 A
under the old share option scheme (the “Old Share Option S0BMBRREEFRAE EAEBRZRKLLED
Scheme”), which adopted by the Company on 3 May 2012 ERKRETS ((EBRESE]) B T BikE
and terminated by an ordinary resolution in an extraordinary B RMETITEERT
general meeting on 30 December 2020, were as follows:
2022 2021
2022 202146
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options exercise price options
mEF MEFH
TEE BREHE 1R B EREHA
HKS$ per share ‘000  HKS$ per share '000
BRER T BRET Tk
Outstanding at 1 January R1A1BRARTE 0.29 7,759 33 36
Granted during the year FREN — — 0.015 132,320
Exercised during the year FERTE — - 0.015 (62,227)
Lapsed during the year FREH 1.63 (798) — —
Adjusted upon effective of share BROEFERERAR
consolidation — — N/A TiEH (63,320)
Adjusted upon effective of Rights Issue AR A R AR - — N/A i F 950
Outstanding at 31 December K12 A31B B ARITE 0.13 6,961 0.29 7,759

No share options were granted during the year ended 31
December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, a total of 798,663 share options of
the Company were lapsed. Save and except for the aforesaid,
no Share Option was granted, exercised, cancelled, expired or
lapsed during the year.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had 6,960,644
accumulated total outstanding Share Options, which entitled
holders thereof to subscribe for 6,960,644 Share Options under
the Share Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.132 per
Share. Save for the aforementioned Share Options, the
Company does not have any other outstanding Share Options.
The total number of shares available for issue by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme was 48,506,228 shares, which
represents approximately 8.56% of the Company’s issued
shares as at 31 December 2022.

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT

HZE2022F12831B IEFE > HER L ERK
7 o

R2022F 1231 H » KA TS $£798,66317 B
REHE LR R o B EaltE AN - AN [E I BE AR
JERR 1T - wESH - BIEABRARRK o

M2022F 1296318 » RITEZ AR RERES
$£6,960,64417 + EFFE ABREZITEESRR
120.1327% 70 RS BB AR #E 51 8118 T 896,960,644
DREARAE o B LI BERRAESN - AR D RN & A A
At 8 ARITE VBB AR o A AR IR B AR T
£ 7] T 31T KRR 1D 48 81 5 48,506,228% (57X
NER2022F12A31HEBTRHG L
8.56% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 40. ﬁ%ﬁ%!‘ﬂé%%ﬂ
During the year ended 31 December 2021, 132,320,000 share HE2021F12 A31BIEFE - RIBEREE
options have been granted and 62,227,027 share options have %1 132,320,00017 B iR 1 2 62,227,027 10 BE AR
been exercised during the year under the Share Option Scheme BRI BYETRSHENLEK - ZF
resulted in an equal number of ordinary shares issued. The RRADFAT T B BREY htE I AR (B /5 0.1328 7T ©
weighted average share price of these shares at the date of
exercise was HK$0.132.
The exercise price for the options granted and number of BB RENTTEE RATIREREM R 2
shares in respect of options granted were adjusted to reflect BE/EL AR - URBEZE2021F12A83181E
the impact of the 2021 Rights Issue during the year ended 31 FEAM2021 FHRNZE -
December 2021.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, share-based HZE2021F12A31BLLFE - ERIBRF KR
payment expenses of HK$997,000 have been charged to profit VAR 7 73 EL 6 89 1< 3R F 2.997,000% T ©
or loss.
The following table summarised movements of the Company’s BIRE S R EBRER S TR A ERE
share options under the Share Option Scheme and the Old REANEHH2 M T
Share Option Scheme during the year:
For the year ended 31 December 2022: B £2022F12A31HLEFE :
Number of Share Options
BREHA
Outstanding Outstanding Price of the
as at Cancelled/ as at Shares before
1 January Granted during Exercised during  Lapsed during 31 December Date of Exercise  the date of Exercise
Grantees/Capacity ABA/ B 2022 the period the period the period 2022 grant period grant %<2 price (e
20225 #2022 Rt B MA
1818 RER 12A318 ZROER 1@
R RERRE RERTE BT VeS| HATE  REAH A L i
Per Share  Per Share
ik Bk
Independent non-executive Directors B HTES
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina REERL 113,513 = = = 113,513 20/1/2021 201172021~ 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Mr. Wong Wing Kit B 113513 - - - 13513 2012021 2012021~ 0014 0.132
19/1/2026
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BRERt 113513 - - - 13513 2012021 2012021- 0014 0.132
19/1/2026
Employees and other eligible EERHBAER
participants 28%
Employees of the Group AL£EES 3,405,403 - - (794,594) 2610809 20112021 201172021~ 0014 0132
19/1/2026
Other eligible participants %o # Hit & ERBEEN 4,069 fhere 9 . — (4,069) — 3052012 30/52012- 0017 293.647
(#it3) 29/5/2022
4,009,296 - - - 4009206 2012021  2012021- 0014 0132
19/1/2024
7,759,307 - - (798,663) 6,960,644
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

The exercise price of the Share Options is subject to adjustment
in the case of capitalisation issue, rights issue, subdivision or
consolidation of the Shares, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

The price of the Shares before the date of the grant of the Share
Options is the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the trading day immediately before the date on
which the Share Options were granted.

Share Options under the Old Share Option Scheme.

Included in the class of other eligible participants, 4,069 Share
Options were granted to 4 former Directors and lapsed on 29
May 2022 and 4,009,296 Share Options were granted to 9
consultants.

The Share Options granted to former Directors were reallocated
from the categories of “Executive Directors” and “Independent
non-executive Directors” after their cessation to be Directors of
the Group. Pursuant to the Old Share Option Scheme, their Share
Options are valid till the expiry date of the exercise period, 29
May 2022. 4,069 Share Options were subsequently lapsed on 29
May 2022.

The consultants possess extensive experience in, including but not
limited to, private and public equity investments, crypto and
blockchain technology development and accounting and financial
management respectively. The grant of Share Options to the
consultants is to provide them an incentive to (i) optimize their
performance for the benefit of the Group; (ii) share of their
respective relevant experience, knowledge and network to
improve of the business operating system of the Group; and (iii)
introduce or refer viable business opportunities to the Group, in
order to achieve a long term growth for the Group.
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40.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 40. BERRMESHE (4

For the year ended 31 December 2021: B ZE2021F12A31HLEE :

Number of Share Options

BREYE
Adjusted Adjusted
during the during the Price of
Outstanding Cancelled/  period upon period upon  Outstanding the Shares
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed effective of  effective of as at before the  Exercise
1January  during the during the  during the the Share the Rights 31 December  Date of Exercise date of price
Grantees/Capacity BN/ & 2021 period "7 period "¢ ¥ period  Consolidation Issue 2021 grant period grant "¢ iz28)
#2021% K& #0215 Rt A EA
1818 RERERE RERTE RER ¥k BRERR 12A318 ZROER  TEE
HRITE o’ e FE/RW REAEE REAEER HRTE REAH i & e Lo
Per Share  Per Share
(=33 ik
Executive Director HirEs
Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping (i3 en — 9,000,000  (9,000,000) - — — — 20012021 2012021~ 0014 0132
19/1/2026
Independent non- BUFHTES
executive Directors
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina REENTL - 1,000,000 — — (900,000) 13,513 113,513 20172021 20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Mr. Wong Wing Kit Bk EE - 1,000,000 i — (900,000) 13,513 113,513 20/1/2021  20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann 5L+ — 1,000,000 = = (900,000) 13,513 113,513 20/12021  20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Employees and other EERAMBAER
eligible participants 28%
Employees of the Group AREES — 33,000,000 (1,227,027) —  (28,800,000) 432,430 3,405,403 20/1/2021  20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2026
Other eligible participants Hit G ER2EE 35,854 hote 3) i - — (32,268) 483 4,069 30/52012  30/5/2012- 0.017  293.647
(Hz5) 29/5/2022
— 87,320,000 (52,000,000) — (31,788,000 477,296 4,009,296 20/1/2021  20/1/2021- 0.014 0.132
19/1/2024
35,854 132,320,000  (62,227,027) — (63,320,268 950,748 7,759,307
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE2022F12A318IEFE

40.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

The fair value of share options granted to Directors, employees
and other eligible participants providing similar services of
employees during the year, determined at the date of grant of
the share options, is expensed over the vesting period. The fair
value was calculated using the Binominal model. The inputs into
the model were as follow:

Grant date 20 January 2021
Share price on date of grant (HK$) 0.015
Exercise price (HK$) 0.015
Expected volatility 87.2% to 104.71%
Expected life 3 to 5 years

Risk-free interest rate 0.15% to 0.31%
Expected dividend yield Nil

The exercise price of the Share Options is subject to adjustment
in the case of capitalisation issue, rights issue, subdivision or
consolidation of the Shares, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

The price of the Shares before the date of the grant of the Share
Options is the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on the trading day immediately before the date on
which the Share Options were granted.

The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the dates on which the Share Options were exercised was

approximately HK$0.0231 per Share.

Share Options under the Old Share Option Scheme.

MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED « EE S MERBER AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z£2022412A31HIEFE

41.

NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

41. &

IR & i 8 R EE

MERPMEEREHRK

Bank Lease Convertible
borrowings liabilities bonds Total
BITHER HESE ARRES w@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T FET T
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1A1A 851 3,354 73,872 78,077
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERESLE:
Interest paid BRFE (103) — — (103)
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities BEREREREHS — (3,953) = (3,953)
Repayment of interest portion of lease liabilities BEHEAENEHS - (134) - (134)
Repayments of bank borrowings BRETER (851) = = (851)
Total changes from financing cash flows MERSRERHAE (954) (4,087) = (5,041)
Other changes Hitt 2
Interest expenses FERX 103 134 11,685 11,922
Lease modification HEET = 10,738 = 10,738
Total other changes Hit#mam 103 10,872 11,685 22,660
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R2021512A8318 K
H202251H1H — 10,139 85,557 95,696
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSRESE:
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities EBRHEEREARSHD - (3,314) - (3,314)
Repayment of interest portion of lease liabilities EEMEAENEHS - (405) — (405)
Payment for redemption of convertible bonds BETBRRER TR - — (3,807) (3,807)
Total changes from financing cash flows MERERERDAH - (3,719) (3,807) (7,526)
Other changes Hit 28
Interest expenses FERX — 405 13,319 13,724
Issuance of convertible bonds BBRRES - - 72,118 72,118
Modification of the terms of convertible bonds CHEELEEE 3 — — (82,390) (82,390)
Redemption of convertible bonds R Rk ES - - 313 313
Total other changes Hitt2gam - 405 3,360 3,765
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A31H - 6,825 85,110 91,935
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42.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 42. RAEEAIRE

Save as disclosed in elsewhere to the consolidated financial

statements, the Group have the following material related party SEEUNTERNEB LIRS -

transactions.

BREGAVBRREMEGMRESESIN K

2022 2021
2022F 20214F
Name of related party Relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
BE S A8 B & XHMHE FHET FHET
Mr. Wong Director Commission income
from dealing in
securities 103 68
FhE B= BEEEFNADRA
Related Companies Common director Corporate consulting
B2k NG| HRAESE service income 518 921
A AR U A
Commission income
from dealing in
securities — 9
EEEFNATRA
518 930
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group FEETEEERBAS ZFHM
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Short term employee benefits EHESRT 3,315 3,377
Post-employment benefits &A1= 4 42
Total compensation paid to key XNTEEBTEAB ZHMAERE
management personnel 3,356 3,419
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43.

44,

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL 43. BEREISHNEMNSEN SR EEINE

LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and REENR2022F K 2021F12 A31 BERN &
financial liabilities as recognised as at 31 December 2022 and MEERCREBEREENHANT :

2021 may be categorised as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEHEK AT ECEMEE 42,577 62,729
Financial assets at FVOCI AAFEEFAEMEZEKAZ
CREE 3,053 2,185
Financial assets at FVPL NATFEEFABZZ S
BE 684 688
46,314 65,602
Financial liabilities SHREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEK AT EZEREE 100,688 105,592
100,688 105,592
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44. BIBHRETZHME
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue WM REHEETEN2023F3 422 AfER
by the Board on 22 March 2023. BT -
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Summary of Financial Information

B 155 & i ik 2

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- MNUTAAEEBEREAMBREENELEULEE
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as BENMIFEBRERZME - HFEGEEAD TIENEEZ
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out  BAFS¥REK :

below:
RESULTS ey
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HE20185F HE2019F HE2020F HE20215F HZE20225
12A31BIEE 12ANBILEE 12B3181EEE 12A318IEEE 12A831HBLEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FBT FHT FHL FHx
Revenue WA 559,785 482,705 39,861 24,539 18,151
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX PBRFTEBiAIE 18 (119,704) (113,892) (97,311) (30,814) (30,175)
Income tax (expense)/credit FrigR (B, % — 471 (471) 26 75
Loss for the year from REFELEEBMN
continuing operations FRER = = = = (30,100)
Profit for the year from REBRILEEEBH
discontinued operation F Mg 7l = = = = 2,280
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FAEE (119,704) (113,421) (97,782) (30,788) (27,820)
Attributable to: B :
Owners of the Company RARIRIEEA A (92,051) (84,110) 71,711) (31,123) (27,820)
Non-controlling interests R = (27,653) (29,311) (26,071) 335 —
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FAEE (119,704) (113,421) (97,782) (30,788) (27,820)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING S BENRIFIERIER
INTERESTS
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HE20185F HZE2019%F HZE2020F HZE20215F HZ2022F
12A31BEE 12A31BILFEE 12B318IEEE 12A31HBIEEE 12A31HALEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FHBT FBT FBT FEx
TOTAL ASSETS HEE 697,548 197,087 108,198 88,890 79,097
TOTAL LIABILITIES NN (686,789) (306,451) (162,899) (116,385) (108,032)
10,759 (109,364) (54,701) (27,495) (28,935)
EQUITY attributable to: e
Owners of the Company RARIREEA A (58,311) (144,103) (62,783) (27,495) (28,935)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R 69,070 34,739 8,082 — —
10,759 (109,364) (54,701) (27,495) (28,935)
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